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- .+ FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFHBEHBE

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for ANEBPBENEAMRFENEEREERE
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated B E& 70T ik B KL EZE A PR
financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below. KEEBRER-

RESULTS ¥E

Year ended 31 December
BEZ+-A=1t—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

—EC-= —ET--fF ZT=—4F ZT=ZF —E-NF

(RMB'000)  (RMB'000)  (RMB'000)  (RMB'000)  (RMB'000)
(AR®TR) (ARETT) (ARETT) (ARBTL) (ARBTT)

Revenue W25 107,988 222,801 257,043 205,392 133,664
Gross profit EF 59,634 144,015 166,614 123,894 82,185
Profit before income tax R P15 H A1 g A 21,146 103,763 117,144 96,489 63,413
Profit and total NATHEE AT

comprehensive income for PRI & 2 U

the year, attributable to Fk]

owners of the Company 17,573 81,565 85,613 72,865 48,477

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE

As at 31 December
Rt+t=HA=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

—EC-= T ZT=-— —ECEF —E-NF
(RMB’'000) (RMB’000)  (RMB’000)  (RMB’000)  (RMB’000)
(AEB%Tr) (AREBTI) (AEETT) (AREFIT) (AREFT)

Total assets BERE 796,655 757,787 622,664 434,506 481,715
Total liabilities BEGE 325,465 304,170 234,480 328,382 415,345
Total equity RS 4EEE 471,190 453,617 388,184 106,124 66,370

2023 3R @ BABENEERAT 5



CHAIRMAN'S &

ST

LIU ZEMING 252 8%
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE

DIRECTOR
ERRITES

Dear Shareholders: B IR

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the HKRAZEARREESEMARE2HE_T_-_=F
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. TZA=T—HBLEFEZFERE-
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

REVIEW

In 2023, the economy gradually returned to a normal growth,
demonstrating a critical period for development recovery and
industrial upgrading. Despite a complex and volatile international
environment, and amidst a continuous slowdown in the global
economy, the Group has consistently pursued robust operations while
seeking progress in stable conditions. Confronted with numerous
challenges and intensifying competition within the industry, the Group
closely aligned with the 14th Five-Year Plan, surmounting obstacles
and achieving significant progress. Our focus has been on deeply
advancing the development of a green economy and actively pursuing
diverse opportunities to adapt to the evolving development landscape.
We strive to contribute to the advancement of a high-quality and
sustainable circular economy. Revenue and net profit for the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately RMB108.0
million and RMB17.5 million, respectively, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 51.5% and 78.2%, respectively.

EMBRACING THE FUTURE WITH COURAGE

In 2023, the Group invested in the future by steadily promoting major
strategies based on the circular economy. To deepen the development
of the green economy further and adhere to sustainable practices, the
Group grasped the opportunities for growth, promoted the extension
of the industrial chain and optimised the industrial penetration.
During the Reporting Period, the sulfuric acid production line was put
into operation. Building upon its inherent strengths, the Group’s
profitability and stability were further enhanced with a diversified
product portfolio. Preparing for the new development stage, the
Group actively promoted the upgrading of the industrial chain of gold
solid waste recycling, contributing to its diversified prosperity revolved
within the circular economy framework.

STRIVING FOR SUCCESS WITH PRACTICAL ACTIONS

In 2023, the Group actively empowered its business growth by
focusing on the commissioning of new production projects. To
enhance competitiveness in the industry and optimise its business
presence, as well as to enhance the ability of comprehensive utilisation
of solid waste resources, the Group enabled the green economy
through scientific research and established a circular economy. With
the completion of a new research and development experiment line,
the Group has increased its investment in research and development.
Our focus was to vigorously enhance the innovative research and
development to promote business development, providing momentum
for growth and sustaining our competitive edge. We improved the
efficient utilisation and recycling of resources through enhancement
of circular economy practices.

E)]

TEC=F BELBETBRSATEMLMER
BEDR BRI EERNREERMEZFRD
R HEEEEZENRBRIERE 2K
ERERBEMNENAEST AEBRKERS
B BPRE MBRESHRERITER
FAZEAN AEEBER[TWOR]HE
THAE RAHMEZELCEER BEERER
BB BEER BAFERER BOMNU
EREARETEBREDNBREERRE -HE
TR CHFF AT -HALFEERRUS
MAF DR ABHAREI080BE TLMARE
175887 R B TF#E51.5% f78.2% °

BRAT FERREK

—ECZF AKRERERREE RAHEE
BEREE REMBAK - RE—FTRLELEE
BREZR BOAKEZER ~AEEEHE
RER - EEEXRIEM BCEXEMD TR
THAMKEERCRIARE ERDEES
FEZNER L UETEMEE E—F
RAAEERMNBEE BERES T BEERE
RMBEXENL LEHERER UER
KRERERBEZTUEEDER -

EERIT BEBARE

—ECCHFAREEBEERHER BM
MEERABNRE - RE—THETERSS
RAREREL RITBEEERCEASTAE
N REBEUMARERELE BERERE
R BEENNEERRNZER KNEEM
RIFBERIRA - R IRTHT 2RI 3T HE B 375 3%
BIREER N ITERPARF N RMEBER
REER RABRSEABAERNA -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2024, in close alignment with the 14th Five-Year
Plan for the development of circular economy, the Group will grasp
the opportunities of the era, actively contribute to the grand blueprint
of China’s development, and advance the construction of “Circular
Economy”. As we cultivate and consolidate our competitive
advantage, the Group will actively plan business extension based on
enhanced strategic guidance. To this end, we will increase our
investment in, and accelerate the transformation of results of,
scientific research, contributing to our high-quality development. With
adherence to a down-to-earth attitude, the Group will pursue stable
progress amidst difficulties.

The year 2024 is a critical year of the 14th Five-Year Plan connecting
the past and the future. In 2024, the Group will remain firmly
confident that it will advance forward with determination despite
challenges. Our efforts will be focused on the following: Firstly, we
will expand the industrial chain, optimise the product structure and
enhance resource utilisation efficiency; secondly, we will strengthen
scientific research through technological innovation and technical
reform, facilitating continuous breakthroughs in the emerging sector
of comprehensive high value-added utilization of solid waste, which
will serve as a new momentum and impetus for the enterprise
growth; thirdly, we will strictly implement and strengthen safety
management practices, steadily enhancing the foundation for high-
quality development; fourthly, we will contribute to the rapid
expansion of our business by upgrading our management standards
and culture. The Group will insist on the in-depth development of the
circular economy, seek the efficient use and recycling of resources,
strengthen and expand the circular economy-related industries, aiming
to become a leader with market competitiveness in the field of circular
economy.

APPRECIATION

The Group's continued success depends on all its employees’
commitment, dedication and professionalism. The Board would like to
thank every employee for their diligence and dedication and to
express its sincere appreciation to the Group's shareholders, clients
and suppliers for their continuous and valuable support.

HONGCHENG ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY
LIMITED

Liu Zeming

Chairman and Executive Director

28 March 2024

O .

R

RE-ZF_N& AKEZEN[TOL]BRE
HERRAE BNMEAKE BERRFBERE
ENERER #HBHBZRREHE] HRX
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WD T

BUSINESS REVIEW

Consolidate the Leading Position in the Industry Based
on Our Own Strengths

The Group, based in Shandong province, the PRC, has been focusing
on gold mine hazardous waste treatment and resource recovery, and
comprehensive utilisation of gold mine hazardous wastes. We collect
cyanide tailings, which is a kind of gold mine hazardous waste
resulting from smelting of gold, from the Group's upstream customers,
mainly comprised of gold smelting companies under gold mining
companies with mine operations in Shandong province and in
particular, in Yantai city, which we, leveraging on our experience and
expertise, detoxify the cyanide tailings and recover therefrom
resources with economic value such as pyrite concentrate. With the
commencement of production operation of the Group’s production
line for sulphuric acid production (the “New Production Line”) in
2023, the Group has been able to ultilise the pyrite concentrate and
add other raw materials to reprocess them to produce sulphuric acid,
iron powder and electricity for sale to downstream customers, mainly
comprised of chemical manufacturing companies and trading
companies of chemicals in the PRC, in order to attain comprehensive
utilisation of gold mine hazardous wastes. The Group is the only
company in Laizhou city, Shandong province that has obtained the
Hazardous Waste Business Licence issued by Yantai Municipal Ecology
and Environment Bureau.

Currently, the Group has production facilities strategically located in
Laizhou city, Shandong province, where the quantity of gold reserves
is ranked first among the county-level cities in the PRC.

In 2023, economic activities have been gradually recovered from the
shadow of the COVID-19 Pandemic and returned to normal. However,
the international macroeconomic and political situation was
profoundly complicated, geopolitics was becoming increasingly
volatile, the domestic and international economies were facing
challenges, and the fluctuation of commodity prices intensified.
Coupled with increasingly fierce competition in the hazardous waste
industry and structural imbalance between supply and demand, and
the hazardous waste market is sluggish in general. The hazardous
waste industry has been undergoing more severe competition and
challenges. The global recovery was still slow, facing a contraction in
demand and supply shock, and the upstream and downstream players
along the value chain where the Company is engaged were affected
to varying degrees. During the Reporting Period, the Company’s
principal activities were also somewhat impacted by such industry and
market competition.

KO
VEBSED BETEERBL

AEEERRPBELURE EINEBEAEE
VBRI M SRR EEYHERLEK ARG R
B LREFPREELEE ERERESA
RBRTEEAN - RBLBEZTEY LHEFP
TERRAELRE(LEREEM)KERE
EBNREARETHNERIARAA RFIF
RESNEBRNEZNR REILEESHE
= YRPEEREESAEEEEENER
BEEAKENMBREENEER ((HERR])
ER_F_=—FRRLEEESE ~NEERTE
B AS T D0 A B4 R A KL 0 T2 AR B - Bk 4D
MEBHAEBETTHES BERSBHEERE
PREENA THEEPEIEZREFTEMNILT
HERBARMCTIBEHRA AEERIURER
N ——FEEEMAERRRERE L ERE

LTI B A F

B B AN SR B A0 A B AR SR AR I AR L R A 2R
M BN ESREREBEUEEEZRRAHZE -

—EROCH RERPEREELHERERSE
B LR AMN BERZBEENBOATEE
MEEM WEBERBEE BRINEER
REVE  ARBEmERRENE & MBRETT
EBRFARMNLRAFTEBUERE BETS
BERARFEY BERETEERELER
RERIR BB G RMBKE - 2IREERIKALRE
EERH RS AR HATE RAMRITENL
THEXBRITREERZE - WS HH-
NRAEAE BRI BNZITERTGHFE KD
HE-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS . -

BB WD AT

O .

Revenue and net profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately RMB108.0 million and RMB17.5
million, respectively, representing a decrease of 51.5% and 78.2% as
compared to the same during the year ended 31 December 2022,
respectively.

Meanwhile, the Group’s gross profit decreased from approximately
RMB144.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB59.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the decrease in
revenue and gross profit margin. The Group'’s gross profit margin for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was 55.2%, representing a
decrease of 9.4% as compared to that of 64.6% for the year ended
31 December 2022.

Be Future-oriented, Build Up a Resource-cycling Industry
System and Steadily Promote Product Extension and
Expansion

The Group has continued to open up new areas and shape new
dynamics by planning and constructing waste recycling projects,
expanding hazardous waste recycling, promoting the extension of the
value chain, enriching the waste types available for hazardous waste
recycling and guiding the development of solid waste recycling
projects. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s New Production
Line has commenced its production operations, which can produce
sulfuric acid, iron powder and electricity through an integrated
recycling process. This further expanded the Group’s product portfolio
to enable the Group to achieve stable profitability as well as ecological
and economic benefits. The Group believes that, by capitalising on its
strengths in the production of recycled products, the Group will be
able to extend the value chain for its business, improve the core
competitiveness and continue to increase its revenue, so that can
focus on a long-term and more sustainable business development.

AEBEE-_ZT-_-F+-A=-+—HIFE
WARMAFID B AL AREE108.05 & T A
RE17SsEE T BRBEE_ZT-__F+_HA
=+ —BIEFED R TES1.5% F78.2% °

HBYFEE AEBEMNEFNHRBEE_S-_2F
+TZ A=+ —HIEFEMNHARBKI44088
TR ERE T _=F+-_A=1+—BI%F
EHHOARE9AEE T EFNTREER
HRWAFMENEN TR - BE_T=-=F
TZA=FT—HLEFE FNEBEFEFHE52%:
BRHEE_T-_—_F+-_A=T—HLFEN
64.6% T[%9.4%

HERRR BEERAREXER B
HEERLEMRAR

7R 55 18 B B R R <R ZBERTBIAE - R
REWMERICANAEE AREEBRMNA
HEEXBIEH SERERRIARE 3
BEEREMNABREBER ERSHR K&
BeHEMMRCRIGEEES - ZMEMKRA
BB EREWSEANAN TR ELRE.
HMNEN - BE-—TERALEENERES
NERASERNRBEE BERERBRAEME
B ANEERE BRREASEELE
RLEMBBAREENESES RATEE
EBMEFRRIEMH BARLBFE N HEH
BEW KmERZRREME AT HELN
EIBE-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERE WA

Be Empowered by Scientific Research, Promote the
Transformation of Scientific and Technological
Achievements, and Strengthen the Leadership of
Innovation in the Circular Economy

The Group vigorously promotes innovation-driven development and
builds competitive advantages for differentiated development.
Following the core principle of “resources recycling”, and with
industry upgrade empowered by technology innovation, the Group
actively promotes the comprehensive utilisation of recovered solid
waste resources towards high-value and in-depth development.
Through exploring new technologies, focusing on the big picture of
development, reinforcing patents, and fostering technological
innovation, the Group aims to build its long-term competitiveness.
During the Reporting Period, the Group successfully obtained three
patents for its new technologies, serving to enhance the protection of
its R&D achievements. Further, the Group was widely and consistently
recognised for its solid business performance and efficient
management ability. In December 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group was awarded as “Model Intelligent Businesses in Yantai
City (Third Batch)” (=t EZ M E (L "B E B E) by the
Bureau of Industry and Information Technology of Yantai City,
Shandong Province (LU & E = T % {5 B 1L /3). During the
Reporting Period, one of the projects of the Group's research and
development pilot line were supported by business R&D funding
granted by the Yantai Science and Technology Bureau (/B = &I
it ). Always driven by technology and innovation, the Group
vigorously promotes the research of core technologies, explores the
development of high value-added products, excites new dynamics and
vitality, and strengthens its core competitiveness to enhance its
development effectiveness.

Meanwhile, in respect of the research and development of gold
tailings disposal and resource recycling, the Group has cooperated
with various institutions and colleges in recent years, including the All
China Environment Federation (1 ZE IR R B & € ), Shandong Solid
Waste Industry Association (LU & EEEE %% €) and Yantai
University (& Z X £), to provide strong technical research and
development support for the sustainable and high-quality
development of the Group.

RG-SR EEN SR RE L Bk
R RREBRNSIE

AEBANEDE TR RR BEERLH
ERNHFEDZ -BGIERBERAB R A
Bl R 5| BEFTT A A B B 1R HE By B BE
BEReEAaNBRSERERER KRR
il BEZERRAD EENMR XA ER £
NEIE - TERBF ) -AREHMA - AL
%] X T B 5 = TR ¥ BB M B A DA Do A7 3 AR Y
RE TAHENREXENS RN EIERE
BERHERZNR —J E-T-_=%+=A-
AEENEETRRKRERALREEEN TR
e 1E%WL\TE’JF%*%@;% SRElb R &
TERE| - RHERFE ARENHRERR
MEP—EREESHEETMERMBE T
R ELE D) - REBE B R ERF AR
BIFT Al ANHEEZORMOHE KR
MEHMEER BERBIHEN FE
RARDGHEF N R ERBAWIET

HIL R AEEEREEE & EIRE U R
BT M AR BT FREE E#E- 26

EREME ATERTPERRBEE WR
CEREXHGENEEREERMEE RE
RAKENARFE SnEBREHREMAE SN
B BT 3 S 4%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS . -

BB WD AT

Outline the Blueprint for Sustainable Development

The Group fully integrates the ESG factors into its corporate strategy
and daily operations, and promotes the full integration of the ESG
governance into its corporate governance system in order to achieve
high-quality sustainable development. During the Reporting Period, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group was awarded as 2023
Shandong Socially Responsible Business (202311 Bt & & F > %)
jointly by Shandong Federation of Industry and Commerce (LR & T
¥R A &), State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Shandong Provincial People’s Government (1L E & A
RBFEAEELEEEEE®EZL B %), Shandong Market Supervision
and Administration Bureau (LI & WHEBEEIEE) and Shandong
Local Financial Supervision and Administration Bureau (LU 3 & i1 5 &
FHEEEE IR D). In addition, the New Production Line project was
included in the list of the projects to be supported by the Carbon
Peaking and Carbon Neutrality Fund in 2023 (20234 #ii 32 1§ fix & 1
HIH & %), which was reviewed by the Development and Reform
Commission of Yantai Municipality (EEmZEEMNKLEZEE) and
the Finance Bureau of Yantai Municipality(EE MK B).
Meanwhile, the Group puts safety production first, consolidates the
foundation of production safety, enhances safety management efforts
and abilities, and ensures the safety of project production and
construction. By deepening the sound development of the circular
economy, so as to strengthen the resource security capabilities of
economic and social development, the Group earnestly fulfils social
responsibilities, demonstrates a sense of responsibility, and creates
shared value for shareholders, customers, employees, and society.

OUTLOOK

In 2024, with the further implementation of the Fourteenth Five-Year
Plan and Vision 2035 Outline ( <&+ PIERF R EIF 2035 FiE 5
IZHE) ) and the continued efforts of the green development policy,
the Group will uphold the spirit of pragmatism and seize the
opportunities of the times to join the grand blueprint of the country’s
development and contribute to the green development. In 2024, the
Group will focus on the following:

Continuously Advance the Integrated Utilisation of Solid
Waste Resources and Further Toward the High-value
Development

Under the guidance of national policies and based on its resources,
the Group will fully increase substantial requirements for resource
utilisation efficiency, vigorously promote the overall shift from the
“low efficiency and low value” model to the “high efficiency and high
value” model in hazardous waste disposal and recycling, improve
product values through sophisticated resource utilisation, and realise
the green and high-quality development of hazardous waste disposal

AHURBABRREE

REBBESCGHRIMACESBEERARTE
EoHBESGREXESMARRAEER B h
RERSMEAFERE -EREHR A&
ER—RE2ETFTARIAEHILEE THEBS
g LURAEARBAEEEAELEBEREZE S
IWHRATMSEEEERMURE S S REE
EERHMABEEN 2023 LEHEEENE] -
B HERGBREAERTHEZEMERIN
EREE E=MHEBTEMN2023FKREE
RPFMEEESH Y FEE RE - BRI
AEBULZ2HEEREERE FELELEE
Ef RALE2EBNER BREREE
BRLE FMEREEEREE Ul
BHEERNERRELEN - NERITLEE
T ¥BEAEE ARE - FFP BITM4E
BliEHEAEE.

RE

—T - BEE (B AR AR 8712035
FERARAE) WE—TET KEBRR
ROARRE AREBRBEBBE B
KRB RHERERNEEEE P O&ES
BER - —Z_NF AEESEHHITIATE
B

SHEEDEEERCAENAEESEL
RERR

AREBEABERBEREAMNAEEERER
2HRESERNARENAEZR  HEGHED
EERRERRMNAHMER KEIA &R
SE|BEEE REESRLEAEREE B
HeBERERRNAEXRSCSRERR U
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WD T

and recycling industry, and carry out global planning based on the
current development stage so as to lead the industry to solid
development.

Strengthen R&D, Expand Product Diversity, and Build a
Synergistic Value Chain Through Coverage with Projects

The Group will intensify its efforts in research and development and
increase its support for technological innovation. The Group will
actively promote the research and development of integrated
utilisation of solid waste resources recovered, speed up the
transformation of R&D achievements, optimise existing products,
diversify product offerings, and expand the reach of the industry. The
Group will achieve the horizontal and vertical coverage with in-depth
resource utilisation across domains and categories, and effectively
provide integrated service capacity along the whole value chain of
solid waste and hazardous waste resource utilisation. At the same
time, we will cooperate and exchange with relevant institutions and
businesses among others. With a focus on reuse and resource
recovery, we will continue to push forward product optimisation,
upgrade product quality comprehensively, increase resource recycling
level, vigorously enhance resource utilisation efficiency, and further
the development of circular economy by adhering to scientific
research and innovation in order to actively empower business
development and escort high-quality development.

Advance the Circular Development of the Industrial Park
and Promote the Integrated Utilisation of Solid Waste
Resources

In accordance with the principle of “Horizontal Coupling, Vertical
Extension and Circular Connection”, the Group will advance its
development of the economic system with small cycle within the
business, medium cycle within the industrial park and large cycle
within the industry at a faster pace. When strengthening the industrial
connections in the industrial park, the Group will encourage the
formation of industrial chain clusters where businesses mutually
supply raw materials and exchange products. It is committed to
promoting synergistic utilisation of various solid wastes, fostering
integration and concerted growth of the industries within the
industrial park, and facilitating synergistic regional development. The
Group will tackle prominent environmental problems at source based
on sustainable utilisation of resources so as to enhance resource
utilisation efficiency and propel new development of the resource
integrated utilisation industry.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

5t % [0 B
Iz 3%

For the year ended 31 December
BEZ+—-A=1+—HLFE
2023 2022

—g—= — = — —

RMB’000

= =

RMB'000

AR¥ T
Gold mine hazardous waste STEBEEYEIE

ARETT

treatment services AR 7% 49,373 45.7 76,439 343
Sales of pyrite concentrate HEMEE 34,775 32.2 131,855 59.2
Hazardous waste storage rental BEZEYEREE

services AR 75 13,519 12.5 14,507 6.5
Sales of products from the HE M‘*ﬁ%ﬁbﬂlg

reprocessing of pyrite m (B &N

concentrate (including ﬁﬁ%ﬂ?éjj)

sulphuric acid, iron powder

and electricity) 10,321 9.6 - -

107,988 100.0 222,801 100.0

The Group principally collects cyanide tailings, which is a kind of gold
mine hazardous waste, from the Group's upstream customers and
applied our technical know-how to (i) detoxify those wastes to meet
the required safety standards; and (ii) recover and recycle therefrom
resources with economic value for sale and recycling, such as pyrite
concentrate; and (i) reuse the pyrite concentrate produced by the
Group through addition of other raw materials to produce products
(including sulphuric acid, iron powder and electricity) for sale.
Therefore, revenue of the Group is mainly derived from (i) gold mine
hazardous waste treatment services; and (ii) sale of pyrite concentrate;
and (iii) sale of products derived from the reprocessing of pyrite
concentrate.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenues from gold mine
hazardous waste treatment services, sales of pyrite concentrate and
sales of products from the reprocessing of pyrite concentrate
accounted for approximately 87.5% of our total revenue (31
December 2022: 93.5%). The Group also derived revenue from the
hazardous waste storage rental services, which accounted for
approximately 12.5% (31 December 2022: 6.5%) of our total
revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total revenue was
approximately RMB108.0 million, representing a decrease by
approximately 51.5% as compared to that of approximately
RMB222.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
decrease was mainly due to approximately 73.6% and approximately
35.4% down in revenue from sales of pyrite concentrate and gold
mine hazardous waste treatment services, respectively, compared to
the previous year.

The significant decrease in revenue was primarily attributable to: (i)
the decrease in both sales volume and unit price of pyrite concentrate,
due to the downturn in industries that require pyrite concentrate as a
key raw material for their production processes. For example, the
market price of products in sulphuric acid related market dropped
significantly compared to the previous year; (i) a significant decrease
in the amount of cyanide tailings provided by the upstream customers,
resulting in a decrease in revenue from gold mine hazardous waste
treatment services as compared to the previous year; and (iii) the
commencement of the production of the New Production Line by the
Group in the fourth quarter of 2023 to diversify the product portfolio
and expand the Group’s existing business. As pyrite concentrate is the
main raw material for the production of the New Production Line, the
Group had sufficient pyrite concentrate reserved for the
commencement of the production line of sulphuric acid, and therefore
reduced the quantity of pyrite concentrate sold. As the sales of the
products produced by the New Production line, including sulphuric
acid, iron powder and electricity (the “New Income Stream”) only
commenced in the fourth quarter of 2023, and the market price of
sulphuric acid was at a low level, therefore, the New Income Stream
was not sufficient to compensate for the decline in pyrite concentrate
sales.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's gross profit was
approximately RMB59.6 million, representing a decline of
approximately 58.6% as compared to gross profit of approximately
RMB144.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. This decline
was more significant than the decline in total revenues, which was
attributable to the decrease in gross profit margin for the year.
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The overall gross profit margin decreased from approximately 64.6%
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 55.2% for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Such fluctuation was due to (i)
the decrease in gross profit margin of sales of pyrite concentrate from
approximately 61.3% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately 45.1% for the year ended 31 December 2023; (ii) the
decrease of gross profit margin for gold mine hazardous waste
treatment services of approximately 69.3% for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately 65.8% for the year ended 31
December 2023; and (iii) the gross profit margin on the sales of
products including sulphuric acid, iron powder and electricity derived
from the reprocessing of pyrite concentrate was 22.3%, which pulled
down the overall gross profit margin of the Group. The low gross
profit margin on sales of products derived from the reprocessing of
pyrite concentrate was due to the fact that the production line
commenced its production activities in the fourth quarter of 2023, the
production capacity of the production line was not yet fully released
during the initial period of production activities, more upfront costs
were incurred during the start-up of the production line, and the unit
price of sulphuric acid was in the midst of a downturn.

Other income

Other income increased significantly from approximately RMB1.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB5.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase
was mainly attributable to the increase in income from the agency
sales of magnesite by approximately RMB4.4 million as compared to
the previous year. Revenue from agency services was a one-off
transaction and the Group has not actively pursued business
opportunities in relation to the agency business.

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses mainly consist of (i) entertainment expense; and
(i) employee salary and benefit expenses for our sales team. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's selling expenses was
approximately RMB1.5 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 48.3% as compared to that of selling expenses of
approximately RMB2.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of approximately
RMB1.3 million in entertainment expenses as compared to the
previous year.
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Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group mainly represent (i)
employee benefit expenses, including salaries and wages and staff
welfare for administrative and management staff; (ii) taxes and levies
which primarily represented various kinds of government levies or
taxes such as real estate tax, urban construction tax, tenure tax and
stamp duty; (iii) depreciation and amortisation of right-of-use assets,
administrative facilities and technology research and development
related facilities; (iv) office expenses and utilities; (v) entertainment
expense; (vi) professional and consultation fee; (vii) transportation and
related expenses, including those incurred in business travels of
administrative and management staff and business use of vehicles
expenses; (viii) research and development costs; and (ix) other
expenses of similar nature.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s administrative
expenses was approximately RMB36.7 million, representing an
increase of approximately 12.6% as compared to administrative
expenses of approximately RMB32.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The increase was due to the increase in salaries and wages and staff
welfare of approximately RMB3.9 million, which was mainly due to
the salaries and staff welfare expenses incurred for the preparation for
the commissioning of the New Production Line and the projects of
research and development pilot line.

Net finance costs

Our net finance costs reflected interest expenses on bank borrowings,
borrowings under finance lease arrangement, lease liabilities,
exchange gain or loss and other liabilities after offsetting interest
income we received from bank balances. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group's net finance costs was approximately
RMB7.6 million, representing an increase of 52.0% as compared to
the net finance costs of approximately RMB5.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The increase in net finance costs was
mainly due to (i) interest expenses on borrowings under finance lease
arrangement of approximately RMB0.9 million for the year, while
there were no such interest expenses in the previous year; and (i) the
net foreign exchange gain of approximately RMB35,000 recognised
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was a
significant decrease from the net foreign exchange gain of
approximately RMB1.2 million recognised for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Income tax expense

Our Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act
and accordingly is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. Our
Company’s direct wholly owned subsidiary was incorporated in the
BVI as a business company with limited liability under the BVI
Companies Act 2004 and accordingly is exempted from BVI income
tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not
generate any assessable profit in Hong Kong for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

The tax rate of our subsidiaries established in the PRC is 25%. HC
Environmental and HC Mining, engaging in comprehensive utilisation
of resources are also entitled to 10% reduction on their CIT tax based
on taxable income derived from the sales of pyrite concentrate.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s income tax
expense was approximately RMB3.7 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 84.3% as compared to income tax expenses of
approximately RMB23.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, reflecting effective tax rate (equivalent to income tax expense
divided by profit before income tax) of approximately 17.3% and
22.7% for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31
December 2022, respectively.

The decrease in the effective tax rate from approximately 22.7% for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 17.3% for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was mainly due to (i) the increase in
the amounts of deferred income tax assets recognised in relation to
the tax loss of a subsidiary which is probable to generate taxable
income in the foreseeable future; and (ii) the increase in research and
development expenses, which were entitled to be additional
deductible in the calculation of corporate income tax.

PRC withholding income tax

According to the CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax on dividends
received/receivable will be levied on the PRC companies’ immediate
holding companies established out of the PRC. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement between
the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign immediate holding
companies and simultaneously certain conditions are satisfied.
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Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditure mainly consisted of the acquisition of items of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, we incurred capital expenditure of
approximately RMB78.2 million (31 December 2022: RMB252.3
million).

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments of
RMB17.5 million (31 December 2022: RMB9.3 million).

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the total net book value of assets pledged
to secure the Group’s bank borrowings and finance lease borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB29.1 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB21.9 million) for land use rights, approximately
RMB52.3 million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB54.4 million)
for buildings, approximately RMB57.1 million (31 December 2022: nil)
for machinery and approximately RMB120.1 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB124.7 million) for investment properties.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s land use rights with an
aggregate net book value of approximately RMB15.6 million and
buildings with an aggregate net book value of approximately
RMB40.8 million were pledged to secure short-term bank borrowings
granted to two third parties totalling RMB16.0 million. As of 31
December 2023, the pledges were fully discharged.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities. We are not currently involved in any material legal
proceedings, nor are we aware of any pending or potential material
legal proceedings, to the knowledge of the Board, threatened against
the Group and could have a material adverse effect on our business or
operations.

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a prudent approach towards its treasury policies. To
manage the liquidity risk, the Group closely monitors its liquidity
position to ensure the liquidity structure of the Group's assets,
liabilities and commitments and to ensure the fulfilment of its funding
requirements for business development.
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Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Group carries out its business operations in the PRC with most of
the transactions denominated and settled in RMB save for certain fees
payable to professional parties and miscellaneous administrative
expenses that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Hence the
Group does not currently have a hedging policy on foreign exchange
risk as the Board does not consider the Group's exposure to foreign
exchange fluctuations (primarily in the HKD) to be significant, and
that any fluctuation thereof will not have any material impact on the
Group's business operations or its financial results. The management
will, however, closely monitor its foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Liquidity, Finance Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB25.9 million (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB7.9 million). As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio was
approximately 46.6% (31 December 2022: approximately 30.0%).
The gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total debt by total equity at
the end of the relevant year and multiplying by 100%. Debt is defined
as amounts payable that are not incurred in the ordinary course of
business and includes bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities and
other liabilities relating to warehouse lease arrangements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group maintained a strong financial
position with cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB76.1
million (31 December 2022: RMB59.2 million). The Group met and
expects to continue meeting its operating capital, capital expenditure
and other capital needs with cash generated from operations and
proceeds from the Listing.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no material change in
its capital structure. The capital of the Company comprised only
ordinary shares.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Zeming (2|’£ %) (formerly known as Liu Zeming
(%/529)), aged 48

Mr. Liu is an executive Director and chairman of the Board who is
responsible for the overall management of the business operations
and strategic and corporate development of the Group. He is also a
member of the Remuneration Committee and chairman of the
Nomination Committee. He was appointed as Director on 12 January
2021 and re-designated as executive Director on 8 April 2021. Mr. Liu
is a founder of the Group and our Controlling Shareholder. Mr. Liu has
over 10 years of experience in operation and management business of
metal ore waste processing. Mr. Liu has been an executive director
and general manager of HC Mining since April 2011. He has obtained
the qualification of PRC Intermediate Assistant Economist ( F 4% B 3%
4 RN ) from Yantai Engineering & Technical Position Intermediate
Evaluation Committee (BZ M TR HMBEFRTEZEF) in
February 2003. He was appointed as a member of the standing
committee of Shandong People’s Political Consultative Conference (4
BEARBAWEEZHILEEAZE D) in January 2013 and January
2018, respectively.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu worked for Laizhou Jinshan Stone
Raw Materials Trading Co., Ltd. (MM ILAMEEBR A 7)),
which principally engaged in the trading of stone raw materials, from
September 2003 to April 2011 holding his last position as sales
manager. He worked as a manager at Laizhou Property Development
Company Limited (Z&1 B Z= FH BB 2 &) from July 1997 to
August 2003. He also worked at the former People’s Government of
Xiyou Town, Laizhou City (&M ™ /8 B #E A RBAT), and was
primarily responsible for clerical works from September 1995 to July
1997.

Mr. Liu has received various awards with social impact throughout the
years. He was awarded a certificate of honour for his personal
contribution in fighting the COVID-19 in Shandong Province [(1LE
ENBHERSEMAERBREMBMAIRERZE) issued by the
Shandong Provincial Committee of the China Peasants’ and Workers’
Democratic Party (FEIRE TR F #EILEEZ 8 ) in December
2020; the title of “Model Worker of Yantai” (" [EEH 4 EhiE & ")
jointed issued by the Yantai Municipal Committee of the Communist
Party of China and the Yantai Municipal People’s Government ( # #&
BEEmMZMEZEMARKA) in April 2019; the “Economic
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Development Progress Award” for the year 2018 (20184 & [ 4575 3%
[R# 12| ) jointly issued by the Laizhou Municipal Committee of the
Communist Party of China and the Laizhou Municipal People’s
Government (FF N E B & RN ARBAT) in February
2019; the 13th “Ten Outstanding Youth Nomination Award of Yantai
City ("EZ+KEEFF")" jointly issued by the Yantai Municipal
Committee of the Communist Youth League and the Yantai Youth
Federation (X FBEEMZEREZET S FEHE F) in October 2015;
and the honorary title of “Model Youth of Laizhou” (" &M TR & &
") jointly issued by the Organisation Department of the Laizhou
Municipal Committee of the Communist Party of China (7 %1
Z 4 4558) and other four departments in December 2012.

Mr. Liu completed the tertiary education program in business
administration from Shandong Agricultural Management College ( L1
HEBLESBHINELRT) (currently known as |15 2 ¥ TIREER) in
July 1999. He further completed a post-graduate education program
in modern Chinese history from Shandong Normal University (1L B £l
& K EZ) in July 2000. Mr. Liu obtained a doctorate’s degree in
Business Administration at North Borneo University College in
Malaysia by way of distance learning in February 2022.

Mr. Zhan Yirong (& Z %) (formerly known as Zhan Dongtang
(BX %)) (“Mr. Zhan"), aged 34

Mr. Zhan is an executive Director and the chief executive officer of our
Company who is responsible for the overall administrative and
operational management of our Group. He was appointed as an
executive Director on 8 April 2021. Mr. Zhan has more than ten years
of experience in corporate management in the gold mine hazardous
waste treatment industry. He joined the Group in March 2012. During
the years, he worked as deputy manager and manager of business
administration department, general manager assistant and deputy
general manager of HC Mining and acquired experiences in sales and
business administration. Mr. Zhan served as the general manager of
HC Environmental from January 2017 to August 2023. He has been
the general manager of HC Mining since January 2017. He was
appointed as a representative of the 18th People’s Congress of Yantai
City in February 2022.

Mr. Zhan obtained a bachelor’s degree in mechanical design,
manufacturing and automation from Qingdao Binhai University (5 &
YE/FET) in July 2012. He obtained the PRC Cartographer at Senior
Skill Level qualification from Shandong Vocational Skills Identification
and Guidance Center (1L R BB ¥ a2 ZE T+ ) in February 2011.
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Mr. Sheng Haiyan (5%/8%E) (“Mr. Sheng”), aged 57

Mr. Sheng is an executive Director and chief technical officer of our
Company who is responsible for the overall research and development
and technical management of the Group. He was appointed as an
executive Director on 8 April 2021. He has more than 30 years of
experience in chemical related industry. He joined the Group in
December 2012 and was mainly engaged in research and
development related work of the Group’s subsidiaries. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Sheng worked at Laizhou Jinxing Chemicals Co., Ltd.
(3N & E{ THBR F L2 F)), which principally engaged in, among
other things chemicals manufacturing and processing from August
1991 to November 2012 holding his last position as chief engineer.

Mr. Sheng obtained a bachelor’s degree in organic chemistry from
Jiangxi University (T 7K 22) (currently known as Nanchang University
(P& KE)) in July 1991. He obtained the qualification of
intermediate engineer from Yantai Chemical Engineering and
Technical Evaluation Committee (=Tt T TI2 MRS AT R
Z 89) in October 1998,

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Shijun (& E) (“Mr. Zhang"), aged 58

Mr. Zhang is an independent non-executive Director who is
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to
the Board. He is also a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee. He was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 23 October 2021. Mr. Zhang has over 36 years
of experience in education and environmental management. He has
been teaching at Shandong University (LI B X £) since July 2005
and has been working as a professor of law since October 2020. Mr.
Zhang served at Qingdao Municipal Bureau of Ecology and
Environment (B & M A REIRIEF), a government bureau located in
Qingdao, Shandong province, which principally engaged in the
environmental management and supervision of Qingdao city from July
1996 to August 2002, holding his last position as engineer of
environmental management. Mr. Zhang served as a lecturer at Normal
College of Qingdao University (5 & A ZANE 263 ) from April 1996
to June 1996. He also worked as a teacher at No. 3 Middle School of
Laoshan Qingdao (F &M & L [@ 5 = £) from July 1984 to
August 1993. Mr. Zhang served as an independent non-executive
director in Shandong Sunway Chemical Group CO., Ltd. (1L =41t
BEERMAR A A), a company listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002469), from April 2017 to December 2023.
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Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in geography from Shandong
Normal University (LI ZREM &I E2) in June 1990. He then obtained a
master's degree in environmental chemistry from Zhejiang University
(T KE) in March 1996. Mr. Zhang further obtained a doctorate’s
degree in science of environment and natural resources protection law
from Wuhan University (% X £) in June 2005.

Ms. Liu Ye (2I##) (“"Ms. Liu"), aged 49

Ms. Liu is an independent non-executive Director who is responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board.
She is also the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.
She was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of our
Group on 23 October 2021. Ms. Liu has approximately 26 years of
teaching experience and approximately 10 years of part-time working
experience in the legal industry. She has worked as a part-time lawyer
at Shandong Zhongcheng Renhe Law Firm (L1 B8 52 B A= A 722 B 5 765
Ffr) from March 2012 to May 2015 and Grandall Law Firm (Ji Nan
Office) (Bl &8N (BER ) EHFT) from May 2015 to June 2016
respectively. She has been working as a senior partner at Shandong
Ray & Young Law Firm (LU R FHEEMETSAT) since June 2016. Ms.
Liu taught at Shandong Police Officer Training Institute (ILER & ZE
1= 3I122P5%) as a teacher from December 1997 to December 2013. She
has been teaching at Shandong University of Political Science and Law
(B BEEZPBT) since May 2014 and has been working as an
associate professor since November 2017.

Ms. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Yantai
University (&= KX £) in July 1997. She further obtained a master’s
degree in economics from Shandong University (LB KX £) in
December 2003. Ms. Liu obtained the qualification of PRC Legal
Professional Qualification Certificate in February 2009. She also
obtained the qualification of PRC Securities Practice Certificate in April
2017.
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Mr. Lau Chung Wai ( 2l {#4&), aged 41

Mr. Lau is an independent non-executive Director who is responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board.
He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee. He was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 23 October 2021. He is the independent non-
executive Director who has the qualifications and experience to meet
the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Lau has over 19 years of experience in accounting and finance
and is currently the sole practitioner of Yanten (Hong Kong) CPA &
Co.. He has been serving as company secretary of Kwung's Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 1925), since
March 2019. Mr. Lau has also been working as an independent non-
executive director of Fufeng Group Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board (stock code: 546), and Metropolis Capital Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8621), since June 2019 and November 2018, respectively. He
has been working as a company secretary of Omnibridge Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8462), Hygieia Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board (stock code: 1650) and IAG Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8513), since April
2022, December 2019 and August 2017, respectively. He worked as
chief financial officer of Kwung’s Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board (stock code: 1925), from March 2019 to April
2022. Mr. Lau worked as company secretary and chief financial officer
of Da Sen Holdings Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board (stock code: 1580), from August 2015 to March 2019. He
worked as group financial controller of Passion Art International
Holdings Limited, a company primarily engaged in manufacture and
sale of furniture and home decoration products, from May 2013 to
July 2015. Mr. Lau worked as financial manager of Starcom
Worldwide, a media agency company which is a subsidiary of Publicis
Groupe SA, a company listed on the Euronext Paris (stock code: PUB),
from September 2011 to April 2013. He worked at the Hong Kong
office of Ernst & Young from September 2004 to September 2011,
holding his last position as manager in the assurance department.

Mr. Lau graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a degree of bachelor of business administration in
accounting in November 2004. He was admitted as a certified public
accountant of HKICPA in January 2008 and a fellow member of
HKICPA in May 2015.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Weiping (3R & ) (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 54

Mr. Zhang is the deputy general manager of HC Mining who is
responsible for the overall production safety. Mr. Zhang has over 30
years of experience in production safety and operation. He joined our
Group in May 2017 working as the supervisor of production safety
and environmental protection at HC Environmental from May 2017 to
September 2018. He then worked at HC Mining as deputy general
manager for production safety and operation from September 2018
to February 2020. Mr. Zhang has been serving as the deputy general
manager of HC Environmental from February 2020 to August 2023.
He has been serving as the deputy general manager of HC Mining
since August 2023. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang worked at
Shandong Tiancheng Biological Golden Industry Co., Ltd. ( 1L 5 X
£ Y& % HFBR2AF]) (“Shandong Tiancheng”) which principally
engages in metal processing from February 1990 to May 2017
holding his last position as supervisor of environmental protection
safety.

Mr. Zhang obtained a diploma in mechatronics engineering from
Qingdao University of Technology (& & ¥ T A £) in July 2018 by
way of distance learning. He obtained the certificate of PRC senior
environmental protection safety engineer from AXKG Appraisal
Organisation (AXKG 2 BB 2 6 £ 52 E D) in October 2020.

Mr. Zhu Guangping (& &) (“Mr. Zhu"), aged 52

Mr. Zhu is the deputy general manager of HC Mining who is
responsible for the overall daily operation of HC Mining and overall
environmental and safety operation of HC Mining. Mr. Zhu has over
34 years of experience in production and manufacturing industry. He
joined our Group in November 2017 working as the deputy general
manager for production safety and environmental protection of HC
Environmental from November 2017 to March 2020. He has been
serving as the deputy general manager of HC Mining since March
2020. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhu worked at Shandong
Tiancheng from December 1987 to July 2017 holding his last position
as workshop supervisor.

Mr. Zhu obtained a diploma in metallurgical technology from
Northeastern University ( B 4t K 22) in July 2015 by way of distance
learning. He obtained the certificate of PRC senior solid waste
processing engineer from China Association of Machinery Equipment
Maintenance and Renovation (7 B & # & 4 S B UCE R )
in September 2020.
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Mr. Wong Yun Fai ( £ #&) (“Mr. Wong"), aged 36

Mr. Wong is the company secretary and chief financial officer of the
Group who is responsible for the overall financial management of the
Group. He joined the Group on 21 December 2020 and was
subsequently appointed as the chief financial officer of our Group on
23 April 2021. Mr. Wong has over 10 years of experience in audit and
accounting. He has been serving as company secretary of Artini
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board (stock code:
789), since December 2023. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wong
worked at certain PRC subsidiaries of Shenzhen Huaruixin Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (RIITESEEEETE AR A F]) ("HRX"),
a company which principally engaged in asset management from
January 2018 to December 2020, holding his last position as chief
financial officer of both HRX and EMP Capital Limited, a Hong Kong
subsidiary of HRX. He worked at the Xiamen office of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu and the Hong Kong office of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
from January 2016 to December 2017 and from February 2015 to
January 2016, respectively, holding his last position as a manager of
the audit and assurance department. Mr. Wong worked as senior
operations planning executive at Neo Derm (HK) Limited, a company
which principally engaged in providing medical aesthetics services,
from April 2014 to January 2015. He worked at Moore Stephens
Associates Limited (currently know as Moore Stephens CPA Limited)
from October 2010 to April 2014, holding his last position as audit
senior.

Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2010. He was
admitted as a certified public accountant of HKICPA in July 2014. Mr.
Wong was further admitted as a certified public accountant by the
Washington State Board of Accountancy in January 2020.

FEELEE (TEL4%]) 365
TERERBTEBNRARNERMERE A
AEENBEYBEER - BN _ZE_2F+=
AZ+—HmMAXREER HER-_T=-_—FN0
AZ+-HEZAAASENYBEE - TX
EEERFMET T EEABRBIOFESR -HE
TR+ AEREAERETATERE
EEBERAA (BRHARF:789) MR AIME-
EMAREBZR TRER_ZT—N\F—A
E_E_TF+_ARFINESEEETE
ERAF([EEE]) (—HXIEREEES
BHARMETHRREWBARIIE ATEL
BB AEEENERENEEMNBEARA
BIERABERAANTBRE-BRR_T—F
—RAE_ZE—+HF+-_ARZE—RHF_-_AZE
CTE-RF-ADRIREYEKRS AN B
BT EE) « BER S AT HEBME
BRATH FTIE ISR AET REZPPIL
BT HAER-_ZE—NFNAZE_ZT—HF—
A £ Neo Derm (HK) Limited (—RI X E#t =18
HESXRAREMHAB)EASRELRE =
E- R _E—EF+AE_ZT—NFNAMFT
BRESHEHEERAG (RBAESHES
A EBATERAR)  FTEERKBUAS
WA

FEERZZT—ZTF+—AESEEEIRE
I EBELEMN - FR_FE—NFLAERESE
B ATHNRESFTMER ThERZ
ToTF-RE—PESERENSTESS
(Washington State Board of Accountancy) HJ¥i %
BETENE K -

2023 3R @ BABENEERAT 27



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

O .

The Company recognises the importance of incorporating elements of
good corporate governance in the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective
accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with the
applicable code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2023. The Group is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The management is delegated with authorities and
responsibilities by the Board for the Company’s daily operations and
businesses management according to the Board’s instructions. The
Board has established various Board committees and has delegated
various duties to the Board committees, including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination
Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”). All the Board
Committees perform their distinct duties in accordance with their
respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect
of legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated, and should not be
performed by the same individual.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Liu, an executive Director,
was the chairman of the Board while Mr. Zhan, an executive Director,
was the chief executive officer of the Company.
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The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer remains
separated with a clear division of responsibilities performed by
different individuals to maintain their independence, accountability,
well-balanced power and authority.

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2023, the Board consists of six Directors,
comprising three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors.

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Zeming (Chairman)
Mr. Zhan Yirong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sheng Haiyan (Chief Technical Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Shijun
Ms. Liu Ye
Mr. Lau Chung Wai

The Company has entered into service agreement with each of the
executive Directors, and letter of appointment with each of the
independent non-executive Directors. Further details of the term of
appointment of the Directors are set out in the section headed
"Directors” Service Contracts” in Report of the Directors on pages 54
to 55 of this annual report.

The Directors’ respective biographical information is set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 21 to
27 of this annual report.

There is no personal relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material relationship) between members of the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all times met the
requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive director
representing at least one-third of the Board. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has confirmed his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of
them has satisfied his independence to the Group.
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ANALYSIS OF THE DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company's
performance.

We have adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of our Board that are
relevant to our Company’s development. Our Board and senior
management team, have a balanced mix of experiences and
background, including but not limited to, experiences in metal ore
waste processing, business administration, corporate management,
manufacturing and processing, environmental management, legal,
education, and audit and accounting industries. Our Board and senior
management team obtained degrees in various majors including
business administration, mechanical design, manufacturing and
automation, chemistry, geography, environmental chemistry,
international trading, political economy, accounting, metallurgical
technology, and mechatronics. We have three independent non-
executive Directors with different industry backgrounds and of both
genders. Moreover, our Board members has a wide range of age,
ranging from 34 years old to 58 years old.

The Company will take into account factors relating to the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has been delegated with the overall
responsibility for implementation, monitoring and periodic review of
our Board Diversity Policy. Any revisions to the policy as recommended
by the Nomination Committee will be submitted to the Board for
consideration and approval.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding transactions
of securities of the Company by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry with each of the Directors, they have all
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards as set
out in the Model Code and the Company code of conduct for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of
the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements upon commencement of their directorship in
the Company.

To ensure that each Director’s better understanding in respect of the
Company’s conduct and business activities to perform their
responsibilities as a Director, the Company will arrange appropriate
training, including arranging and funding suitable training and
professional development programme for the Directors.

According to the records kept by the Company, all the Directors (a)
attended seminars and/or trainings that are relevant to the Directors’
professional knowledge and skills and in performing their duties and
responsibilities as Directors; and (b) read materials that are relevant to
the Directors’ professional knowledge and skills and in performing
their duties and responsibilities as Directors.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated
and provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions
and duties of a director.

The training received by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2023 is summarised below:
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Mr. Zhan Yirong B kA
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Mr. Zhang Shijun RAERAE
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Mr. Lau Chung Wai B S A
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company pursuant to which they agreed to act as executive
Directors for an initial term of three years with effect from the Listing
Date which may be terminated by either party by giving not less than
three months’ written notice. The term of service contract shall be
renewed and extended automatically for successive terms of one year
upon expiry of the then current term until terminated by either party
by giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed
for an initial term of three years commencing from 23 October 2021
which may be terminated by either party by giving not less than three
months’ written notice. The term of appointment shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of two years upon
expiry of the then current term until terminated by either party giving
not less than three months’ written notice to the other.

All the Directors are appointed for a specific term and subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
election of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

In accordance with article 83(2) of the Articles of Association, subject
to the articles and the legal requirements, the Company may by
ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.
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In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, the
Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of members after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 83(7) of the Articles of Association, the
Company may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary
resolution increase or reduce the number of Directors but so that the
number of Directors shall never be less than two.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular
Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend
and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
will generally be given. The agenda and accompanying Board papers
are dispatched to the Directors or committee members seven days
(and in any event not less than three days) before the meetings to
ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and be
adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors or committee
members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised on the
matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views
known to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings will be
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and
committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The attendance of each Director for the Board meetings, board
committee meetings and general meetings held during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the following table:
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Meeting attended/meetings eligible to attend
HESBRY, AERLENESR

Directors

Audit Remuneration
committee

ERZES

General
Meeting
BRRA®

Nomination
committee

REZEE

committee

¥MzES

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Liu Zeming 22kt 55  N/ATEM 1n 1 n
Mr. Zhan Yirong BREE 55 NATER  NATEAR  NATER 171
Mr. Sheng Haiyan BRI 55  NATEA  NATER NATEAR 7
Independent Non- BYFHTES

executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shijun RAELE 5/5 22 NATER 11 1/1
Ms. Liu Ye 2 Eit 5/5 2/2 171 11 171
Mr. Lau Chung Wai gL E 5/5 212 71 NATEA 11
DELEGATION BY THE BOARD EEENRE

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. Directors could
have resource to seek independent professional advice in performing
their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to consult
with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management of the Group. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the senior management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee and delegated various
responsibilities to these committees, which assist the Board in
overseeing particular aspects of the Group's activities. Each of the
Board Committees has specific written terms of reference which
clearly specify their authority and duties.
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Audit Committee

We established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 3.21 and the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules on 23 October 2021. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee include ensuring that an
effective financial reporting, internal control and risk management
systems are in place and compliance of the Listing Rules, controlling
the completeness of our Company’s financial statements, selecting
external auditors and assessing their independence and qualifications,
and ensuring the effective communication between our internal and
external auditors.

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Lau
Chung Wai, Mr. Zhang Shijun and Ms. Liu Ye, all of them are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lau Chung Wai is the
chairman of the Audit Committee who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held
two meetings to (i) review the annual consolidated financial
statements and annual results announcement of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as well as the audit report prepared by
the Company’s auditor relating to accounting issues and major
findings in course of audit; (i) review the Company’s relationship with
the external auditor, discussed with the Company’s external auditor
on the tasks performed by them including the nature and scope of
their audit and reporting obligations, and reviewed the terms of
engagement and their remuneration; (iii) review the appropriateness
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and make relevant recommendations to the Board; (iv)
review the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Group; (v)
review the adoption of the relevant accounting principles generally
accepted and made recommendations to the Board on the adoption
of accounting policies; and (vi) discuss the re-appointment
arrangement of the Company’s auditor; the Board had not deviated
from any recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Company’s
auditor.
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Remuneration Committee

We established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 and the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules on
23 October 2021. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
include assisting our Board in determining the remuneration policy for
and structure of our Directors and senior management of our Group,
reviewing incentive schemes and service contracts of our Directors, to
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, and ensuring the execution of the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management of our Group.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including
two independent non-executive directors, namely Ms. Liu Ye, Mr. Lau
Chung Wai and one executive Director, namely Mr. Liu Zeming. Ms.
Liu Ye is the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting to (i) discuss and make recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management’s remuneration; (ii) review the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management of the
Company; and (iii) assess the performance of Directors and review the
terms of service agreements for the Directors and senior
management.

Nomination Committee

We established a Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules on 23 October 2021. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include assisting our Board in
identifying suitable candidates for our Directors and making
recommendations to our Board, assessing the structure and
composition of our Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy, preparing, making
recommendations to and supervising the execution of the nomination
policy of the Company, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors.
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The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including one
executive Director, namely Mr. Liu Zeming, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Ye and Mr. Zhang Shijun. Mr. Liu
Zeming is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to (i) review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives) of the Board; (ii) assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; (iii) review the policy on Board
diversity and measurable objectives for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy; (iv) review the Nomination Policy; and (v) review the
re-appointment of Directors who are subject to retire by rotation at
the forthcoming AGM.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedures to
nominate Board candidates. When making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, the Nomination Committee would
consider a number of factors in assessing the suitability of the
proposed candidate, including but not limited to:

(i)  reputation for integrity;

(i) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the recycling,
environmental and other related industries;

(i) commitment in respect of sufficient time and attention to the
Group's business;

(iv) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills and knowledge;

(v)  the qualification and ability to assist and support management
and make significant contributions to the Group;

(vi) the number of existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;
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(vii)  compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment or re-
appointment of an independent non-executive Directors; and

(viii) any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

Appointment of any proposed candidates to the Board or re-
appointment of any existing members of the Board shall be made in
accordance with the Articles of Association and other applicable rules
and regulations and taking into account the Board Diversity Policy. The
Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of our Board that are relevant to our Company's
development. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of our
Board candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to our Board.

Based on the Nomination Committee’s review for the year ended 31
December 2023, the Nomination Committee considered that these
measurable objectives have been satisfactorily implemented and that
there was sufficient diversity in the Board for the Company’s corporate
governance and business development needs. The Nomination
Committee will review the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of
the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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The biographies of the senior management are disclosed in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report. Remuneration paid to the top five senior management
(excluding the Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2023 fell
within the following bands are as follows:

HeEE

Emolument bands

BREEENEENATR EZERaRERE
Bl —fHEE- RBEE2-_ZT_=F+_A4
—t+—BLFE BENANGSAEREE (T
BREES)NMEN TATEE:

No. of employees

BEEAR

Nil to HKD 1,000,000

Z % 1,000,000 7T 2

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 which give a true and fair view of operating results
and cash flow for the year. The Directors consider that the financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statements of the auditor of the Group about its reporting
responsibility on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” on
pages 65 to 72 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code. The Board has reviewed and monitored: (i) the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, (ii) training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, (iii) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, (iv) the Company’s code of
conduct manual applicable to employee and Directors and (v) the
Company's compliance with the Code disclosures requirements. The
Company's corporate governance practices have complied with the
Corporate Governance Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee,
the Board Diversity Policy, the dividend policy, the Nomination Policy
and the shareholders communication policy of the Company.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The details and compliance of the are set out in the section headed
“Compliance With Non-competition Undertakings By Controlling
Shareholders” in Report of the Directors on page 62 of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, as the main body responsible for risk management and
internal control of the Company, have adopted a series of internal
control policies, procedures and programmes designed to provide
reasonable assurance for achieving objectives including effective and
efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an on-going basis and reports to the Board on, at least, an
annual basis.

Our code of conduct explicitly communicates to each employee our
values, acceptable criteria for decision-making and our ground rules
for behaviour. Our anti-corruption and anti-bribery policies provide
the tools and resources necessary to enable, monitor and enforce full
compliance with the anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws of the PRC
and other countries where we conduct our business operations. In
order to comply with the applicable laws and regulations in relation to
anti-corruption and anti-bribery, we have established and
implemented anti-corruption and anti-bribery policies and measures
to prohibit all forms of bribery and corruption acts or intention of
such acts. The policy also sets out the requirements of a company-
wide anti-bribery and corruption training and disciplinary actions to
be taken in situation of violation of the policy and/or relevant laws
and regulations, including termination of employment and bringing
forward to legal proceedings. We have also put in place a whistle-
blowing system which is overseen by the Audit Committee.

The Group regularly provides training to our Directors, senior
management and employees with respect to our internal control
policies and the duties and responsibilities of directors and
management of listed companies under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations.
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The Group established the internal audit team which regularly
monitors key controls and procedures in order to assure our
management that the internal control system is functioning as
intended. The Audit Committee is responsible for supervising our
internal audit function.

The Board confirms that it has conducted a review of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The Board concludes, based on the result
of the review, that the risk management and internal control systems
currently in place are adequate and effective, in particular, for financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance as well as for resolving internal
control defects (if any). In particular, the Board considered the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. The review was conducted through
discussions with the management of the Group, its external and
internal auditors and the assessment performed by the Audit
Committee. The Board expects that a review of the risk management
and internal control systems will be performed annually.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC") as its
external auditor for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remunerations paid or
payable to PwC in respect of its statutory audit services and non-audit
services are RMB1,670,000 and RMB30,000, respectively.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted an inside information policy in accordance
with the SFO and the Listing Rules, and made corresponding
information disclosures in a timely manner. Before the information is
fully disclosed to the public, any persons who possess the knowledge
of such information must ensure strict confidentiality, so as to ensure
effective protection of the rights and interests of investors and
stakeholders. Unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited. Any potential inside information identified by senior
management will be assessed, and where appropriate, will be
escalated for the attention of the Board to resolve on further actions.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing
Rules and other applicable laws, and publishes periodic reports and
announcements to the public in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations. The primary focus is to ensure that information disclosure
is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling
Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make informed
decisions.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, the Board and the
Board committees by ensuring good information flow and the Board
policies and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
responsible for ensuring the proper convening and conducting of the
Board and Board Committees meetings, with the relevant notices,
agenda, and the Board’s and the Board Committees papers being
provided to the Directors and the relevant Board Committees
members respectively in a time manner before the meetings. The
company secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all the Board
and the Board Committees meetings. The Board and the Board
Committees minutes are available for inspection by the Directors and
the relevant Board Committees members.

Mr. WONG Yun Fai (“Mr. Wong") has been appointed as the
company secretary of the Company since 8 March 2021. Mr. Wong,
who possesses the requisite qualification and experience of a company
secretary as required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, has assisted
on the company secretarial matters of the Company since the Listing,
and has duly complied with relevant training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules for 2023.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on
31 March 2022. Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the dividend payout
ratio shall be determined by the Board from time to time. The
remaining net profit will be used for the Group’s operations and
development. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the following factors:

1. Financial results of the Company;

2. Shareholders’ interests;
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3. General business conditions, strategies and future expansion
needs of the Company;

4. The Company's capital requirements;

5. Possible effects on liquidity and financial position of the
Company; and

6.  The amount of profit that can be distributed under applicable
accounting standards and other factors that the Board may
deem relevant and appropriate.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general meeting
and must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The
Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders such interim
and/or special dividends as it considers to be justified by the profits of
the Group.

Any dividend shall be declared by the Company in accordance with
the Companies Act, the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association of the Company and other applicable laws and
regulations, and shall not affect the normal operation of the Company
and its subsidiaries. The Board will review the Dividend Policy, as
appropriate, which will include an assessment of the effectiveness of
the Dividend Policy and approve any amendments thereto if necessary.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of transparent and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which enables the Shareholders
and investors to make the best investment decision. The Company
believes the effective communication with the Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies.

The Company maintains a website at www.sdhcgroup.cn as a
communication platform with Shareholders and investors, where
information on the Company’s announcements, financial information
and other up-to-date information are available for public access.
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Besides, shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders, Board
members, in particular, either the chairmen of Board Committees or
their delegates, appropriate management executives will be available
at the meeting to answer any questions raised by the Shareholders.
The Company’s auditor will also attend the AGM to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The Company has also established a shareholders communication
policy to ensure the shareholders are provided with timely information
about the Company. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Procedures for the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting by shareholders and putting forward proposals

Under the Articles of Association, an extraordinary general meeting
("EGM") may be convened by the Board upon requisition of one or
more shareholders as at the date of deposit of the requisition holding
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The
shareholder(s) shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder(s), his/her/their contact details and the proposal regarding
any specifying transaction/business and its supporting documents, to
require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.
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If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to HEZSSARERIBEFRE2IBNBHEBBERK

convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Making enquiries to the Board

Shareholders can at any time raise enquiries about the Company to
the Board. The enquiries must be in writing with contact information
of the Shareholder(s) and deposited at the principal place of business
of Company in Hong Kong at Rooms 1806, 18/F, Office Tower,
Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for the
attention of the company secretary of the Company or at
admin@sdhcgroup.cn.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there has been no change
in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND LISTING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 12 January
2021 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act.

The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 12 November 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of gold mine hazardous waste
treatment services and sales of pyritic concentrate in the PRC. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group commenced the
production and sales of products from the reprocessing of pyritic
concentrate (including sulphuric acid, iron powder and electricity).
Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set
out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group, the outlook of future
development of the business of the Group as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31
December 2023 and the material factors underlying its financial
performance and financial position as required by section 388(2) and
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) can be found in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 9 to 20 of this annual
report. The financial risk management of the Group are set out in
Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Annual General Meeting

The AGM for the Reporting Period is scheduled to be held on 28 June
2024. A notice convening the AGM will be issued and dispatched to
the Shareholders in due course according to the applicable laws, the
Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

RESULTS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the Group's
audited financial statements on pages 73 to 75 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
recommended by the Board.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM is expected to be held on Friday, 28 June 2024. For
determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 25
June 2024 to Friday, 28 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, on 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 24 June 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of gold mine
hazardous waste treatment services and recycling and extracting
therefrom resources with economic value for sale. The Group is
committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. The Group complies with applicable
environmental protection laws and regulations for its business
operations, and has implemented relevant environmental protection
measures in compliance with applicable laws and regulations of PRC.
The Company’s 2023 environmental, social and governance report will
be available on our website on the same date as the publication date
of this annual report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” in the Prospectus, “Management Discussion and Analysis”
section of this annual report and the Transaction disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 6 January 2022, the Group
does not have any other plans for material investments or capital
assets.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on the Listing Date by way of global offering,
250,000,000 shares were issued, raising the total net proceeds (after
deducting underwriting commissions and other related listing
expenses) of approximately RMB177.3 million (equivalent to
approximately HKD217.3 million).
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Expected

Net proceeds  Net proceeds timeline for

utilised during unutilised  full utilisation

the year ended as at of the

Percentage to Planned use of Planned use of 31 December 31 December unutilised

total amount  net proceeds  net proceeds 2023 2023 proceeds
BE-E—-=
TZRA=t-H RZBZ=
L&E tZA=t-B RHEZHHA
RSBy FERERE FMENEFR EBAZ ABAz KBAZHE
ol it IR ZitEIRE  BREEE  ABRERE NEZRBER

Establish the New Production Facility, 86.7% 188.4 153.7 1236 30.1 Will be fully
comprising two production utilised by 2024
compartments, with a permitted
annual treatment capacity of
600,000 tonnes, and diversification
of our product offerings

RUFMEER - DREREFIFR BR-E-mE
¥24¢ 11 600,000 MR £ B R AR B
EmER

Strengthen our research and 3.9% 85 6.9 6.9 - N/A

development capabilities to enhance
existing products and diversify our

product offering
e N AR REERRAE NEA
EmER
General working capital purpose 9.4% 204 16.7 16.7 - N/A
—REEELRE TEm

100% 2173 1773 147.2 30.1
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As at 31 December 2023, the unutilised net proceeds of
approximately RMB30.1 million have been deposited as short-term
deposits in the bank account maintained by the Group. It is currently
expected that the unutilised net proceeds will continue to be used
according to the purpose and allocations as set out in the Prospectus.

Further details of the breakdown and description of the proceeds are
set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus. As at the date of this annual report, the Directors
were not aware of any material change to the planned use of
proceeds.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not hold any significant
investments, nor did it have any material acquisitions or disposals of
any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Board and management are
aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2023, there was no material breach of, or non- compliance
with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's primary stakeholder groups include its customers,
suppliers, and employees.

Customers

The Group maintains active relationship with its customers to explore
new business opportunities and is highly committed to delivering
superior quality of services and products to its customers on time.

Suppliers

The Group maintains a list of approved and qualified suppliers (based
on their prices, quality, past performance and capacity) and strives to
establish long term business relationship with them.
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Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The objective
of the Group’s human resource management is to reward and
recognise well-performed staff by providing a competitive
remuneration package and implementing a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives. In particular, the Group
promotes career development and advancement by providing
appropriate training and opportunities in order to enhance the
employees’ work performance.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2023, our five largest customers
accounted for approximately 76.3% of our total revenue and our
largest customer accounted for approximately 37.8% of our total
revenue.

For the years ended 31 December 2023, our five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 70.1% of our total cost of sales and our
largest supplier accounted for approximately 30.1% of our total cost
of sales.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(whom, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company'’s total issued share capital), had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

CHARITABLE DONATION

Charitable donation made by the Group during the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately RMB110,000 (2022: approximately
RMB52,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DEBENTURE

The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting Period
(2022: Nil).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

There are no equity-linked agreements which were entered into or
remained subsisting during the Reporting Period or as of the end of
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Act which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES

Movements during the year in the reserves of the Group and the
Company are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, Notes 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution as dividends, calculated in accordance with the relevant
rules and regulations, amounted to approximately RMB172.1 million.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five years is set out on page 5 of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

BORROWINGS

The Group had interest-bearing borrowings of approximately
RMB117.2 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB55.7 million).
Borrowings were denominated in RMB and interests on borrowings
were mainly charged at fixed rate.

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are
set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

M. Liu Zeming (Z1528%) (Chairman)
Mr. Zhan Yirong (8} Z.48) (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sheng Haiyan ( &% /& #%) (Chief Technical Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Shijun (3R =X )
Ms. Liu Ye (2]  B)
Mr. Lau Chung Wai (2 42)
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In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include any Director who wishes to
retire and not offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to
retire shall be those who have been longest in office since their last
re-election or appointment but as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire will
(unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by
lot.

In accordance with articles 84.(1) and 84.(2) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Zhang Shijun and Ms. Liu Ye will retire by rotation
and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular to the Shareholders.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive Directors regarding each of the
factors referred to in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of
this report, the Company still considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company pursuant to which they agreed to act as executive
Directors for an initial term of three years with effect from the Listing
Date which may be terminated by either party by giving not less than
three months’ written notice. The term of service contract shall be
renewed and extended automatically for successive terms of one year
upon expiry of the then current term until terminated by either party
by giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed
for an initial term of three years commencing from 23 October 2021
which may be terminated by either party by giving not less than three
months’ written notice. The term of appointment shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of two years upon
expiry of the then current term until terminated by either party giving
not less than three months’ written notice to the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors has or is proposed to
have a service contract with our Company or any of our subsidiaries
other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within
one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries entered into any contracts of significance with the
Controlling Shareholder(s) or any of its subsidiaries, nor was there any
contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
in relation to provision of services for the Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in Notes
38 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 213 employees. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the staff cost of the Group was
approximately RMB21.8 million.

The remuneration packages for our employees include salary, bonuses
and allowances. The Group participate in social insurance schemes
operated by the relevant local government authorities and maintain
mandatory pension contribution plans, medical insurance, work-
related injury insurance, unemployment insurance, housing
accumulation funds and maternity insurance for some of our
employees. The Group has also participated in the mandatory
provident fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong.

The Group's employee remuneration policy is determined by reference
to factors such as remuneration standard of the local market, the
overall remuneration standard in the industry, market condition,
operating efficiency and employee performance. The Group provides
sufficient training to our employees depending on their roles.

The emoluments of the Directors are first reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee and then approved by the Board, with
regard to the Directors’ skill, knowledge, involvement in the Group'’s
affairs and the performance of each Director, together with reference
to the profitability of the Group, remuneration benchmarks in the
industry, and prevailing market conditions.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) as an incentive to the Directors and eligible
employees, details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption and up to
the date of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not experienced any
significant problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor has
it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

Details of retirement benefits plan of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in Note 39.20 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain by or by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in
force for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group and it remains in
force at the date of this annual report.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There was no change in the Directors’ information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules for the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 21 to 27 of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally adopted by the Company
on 23 October 2021 and shall be valid until 23 October 2031. On and
subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the
requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board shall be entitled to, at its
absolute discretion and on such terms as it deems fit, grant any
employee (full-time or part-time), director, supplier, customer,
consultant, adviser, shareholder, service provider of the Group or other
group or classes of participants who have contributed or may
contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement to the development and growth of us, options to
subscribe for such number of Shares as the Board may determine in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to enable us to grant options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
us. Our Directors consider the Share Option Scheme, with its
broadened basis of participation, will enable us to reward the
employees, our Directors and other selected participants for their
contributions to us. A Summary of principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme is set out in the paragraph headed “14. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in compliance
with the provisions in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the total
number of the Shares which may be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of us) to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of us must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
date of this annual report, being 100,000,000 Shares. As at 1 January
and 31 December 2023, there are 100,000,000 options available for
grant under the Share Option Scheme. The total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 100,000,000
which represents 10% of the total issue Shares of the Company as at
the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
adopted by us must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital
of our Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of us (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue for the
time being (“Individual Limit"). Any further grant of options in
excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant must be separately approved
by our Shareholders in general meeting of our Company with such
grantee and his close associates (or his associates if the grantee is a
connected person) abstaining from voting.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by our Directors to each grantee, which period may
commence from the date of the offer for the grant of options is
made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date
of grant of the option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by our Directors and stated in
the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.
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Any grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of our Company or any of
their respective associates must be approved by independent non-
executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive Director
who or whose associates is the proposed grantee of the options).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director or any of their respective
associates would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant: (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and; (ii)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of each offer for the grant, in excess of HK$5 million; such
further grant of options must be approved by Shareholders in general
meeting. Our Company must send a circular to our Shareholders,
within such time as may be specified in the Listing Rules.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by our Directors, but shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots
of the Shares on the date of the offer for the grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been
granted. Therefore, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed since
its adoption and up to the date of this annual report and there was
no option outstanding as at 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO") which were
required to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, are set out below:

RIZBERREFERNARRES TETHAE
o ERCRFEMFEE R BNBEARLEM
BRE LAKEBIFRTES (TEESH
SEBMEARZZRBREARANIB L IFNTT
BE A

HAEZRRABLIFNTEFHLERAFREFS
BHNBEARLTMERE TEERNAH
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BRETE BEEREARITEANBRE) M T
NETRBTETHARARD  )E&HRHED
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(i) Interest in the Company (i) RAEQXTHESR
Number of Shares held
BRERGHEE
Interest of Approximate
Beneficial a controlled Interest of shareholding
Name of Director owner corporation @ spouse @ Total percentage (%)
B R
E=E8E BEsBEA SEAEER? BEERe #st B2 (%)
Mr. Liu 6,000,000 589,500,000 - 595,500,000 59.55
&l pite
Ms. Li Liyan - - 595,500,000 595,500,000 59.55
FRELLT
Mr. Zhan Yirong 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 0.1
By LB
Mr. Sheng Haiyan 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 0.1

1. Allinterests stated are long position. 1. PP BERRARIITE-

2. 589,500,000 Shares are registered in the name of Zeming 2. 589,500,000% /%5 LAZeming International
International Investment Co., Ltd., the entire issued capital of Investment Co., Ltd BJ & & B &2 52 A A
which is legally and beneficially owned by Mr. Liu. By virtue of the HEEEBITRABIEES ZEn
SFO, Mr. Liu is taken to be interested in the Shares held by BoRBEJBHFRBAEKRD BEERKER
Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd. 7 Zeming International Investment Co.,

Ltd. 5 A KO B0 o A A o

3. Ms. Li Liyan is the spouse of Mr. Liu. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Liyan 3. ZFEBALALTARBLEENREB-REES
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which REEGRD FEBLTHERANEE
Mr. Liu is interested. S BEREREREE RO HEE R -
(i) Interest in associated corporation (i) REBEZENER

Approximate
shareholding

Name of Director Name of associated corporation Capacity/Nature percentage (%)

BARFIR
E=EE TR A B =B 55 HE B2 (%)
Mr. Liu Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd Beneficial owner 100%
2554 Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd EmEAA
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of SFO and so far as was known to the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the Shares or the underlying
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of interest

EERBEROJEEZTNER

BEXHBEBEN R-T-=F+=4
S+ BEAAREFRESTRABR
ARTREAREEE (ER REER MRS
EXV ) HR 15 AR D B R R E B
RAKD AR BB SR 0S E0 B350 77 B
1% R R BT BB A AL A R R
PR ERE A A -

FERRAROREBERONVERR
KB

RZZZ=F+=ZA=+—8 BREAQFZK
BRI EGRIIEI6GREFNELMRES
ERARAEBITBRAERMA U TAL K
RABFHERHITEABRIN EAR D
SAERDPEBRERE S LS GO EXV
2R3N B IR XA TR RV s SO R A0
T

Approximate
shareholding

Number of Shares percentage (%)

AR
BRER BB B EmitEg idvip gE| B2 (%)
Zeming International Investment Beneficial owner® 589,500,000 58.95
Co., Ltd EnlEA®
Ms. Li Liyan Interest of spouse® 595,500,000 59.55
TRELT Br (B
1. Allinterests stated are long position. 1. FrilFiBR=HE AR -

2. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu is taken to be interested in the Shares held
by Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd.

3. Mes. Li Liyan is the spouse of Mr. Liu. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Liyan is taken
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Liu is
interested.

2. RIEFE S M ERE GG - 2% £ R B Zeming
International Investment Co., Ltd. ¥ # A& 17
AR

3. FREZIRIEENEB-BREESLHAE

fEP FBB LR AN R EEEA
HREE RO ES -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, according to the
register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so
far as were known to the Directors or the chief executives of the
Company, there was no other person (other than the Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, none of the Directors is considered to have interests in
businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS BY CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 23 October 2021, Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd and
Mr. Liu, each being a controlling shareholder of the Company, entered
into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”)
in favour of the Company, details of which are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders — Deed of
Non-Competition” in the Prospectus.

Each of Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd and Mr. Liu has
confirmed to the Company that it/he has complied with the Deed of
Non- competition as disclosed in the Prospectus for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance with the Deed of Non-competition by each of Zeming
International Investment Co., Ltd and Mr. Liu, and confirmed that
Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd and Mr. Liu have complied
with and implemented the Deed of Non-competition.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has not conducted any non-exempt continuing connected
transaction for the year ended 31 December 2023. There were no
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction that is
subject to, among other things, the reporting, announcement or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BREXHBEEN RZE_=F+=A
=+ —B REAQRRELFLBEEENE
B MEEFNECMEBEERTRARA R
STTHBABFA: Y ETMREMA L (KRQF]
EZNHEETEABRIN EARR ARG AT
B HPEAERIEESFREE GG EXVIE2
N3P EMIEN BT IHBENESTAR -

MBER
BE—_Z-_=F+-A=+—HBIEEREZE
ANERAH RELTHA HESSHRA
1 B 7 £ B 2 5 B 9 i T R R K B BT BE B AR R
FNEMESTRHEEER -

ERBRREFTIHRFEABNER

—Z = —%+ A=+ =H " Zeming International
Investment Co., Ltd B2 2 5E & (& BA A AlE K
PRER) FTSLAR R B R m AN THRFRIE ([F
BRERE|) FRBRANBREREIZERER
BER — TBRERE] —&e

Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd }& 25t
EXBEMARARR RERBE_T =
FTA=1T—HLFE BETHRERRM
WEN TR R -

¥ FEH T E F 2 W AR Zeming International
Investment Co., Ltd R 2| £ & B H T B FRIE
B8 s E R I #E R Zeming International
Investment Co., Ltd & 2 5o 4 B 38 57 1T N3t
B
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Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal
course of business are set out in Note 35 to the financial statements
of this annual report. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as defined under the Listing Rules, and the Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no management or
administration contract concerning the management of the whole or
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into, or
subsisted at the end of the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, there was at least 25% of the Company’s total issued shares,
being a minimum percentage of sufficient prescribed public float of
the issued shares of the Company under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 28 to 45 of this annual
report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Except for the matters disclosed under the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section of this annual report, the Board is not aware of
any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
the auditor of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditor will be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

HONGCHENG ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY
LIMITED

LIU Zeming

Chairman and Executive Director

Shandong, PRC, 28 March 2024
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To the Shareholders of HONGCHENG ENVIRONMENTAL
TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of HONGCHENG
ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 73 to 176, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the [ESBA
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue from
provision of gold mine hazardous waste treatment services.
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Key Audit Matter
HEEREE

Revenue from provision of gold mine hazardous
waste treatment services

RHRETIRE £ B ER R W2

Refer to note 5” Revenue and segment information” to
the consolidated financial statements.

AL E M BEBREM TSRz R B EH ] -

The Group recognised revenue from provision of gold
mine hazardous waste treatment services amounting to
RMB49.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Group’s gold mine hazardous waste treatment
services are conducted in various detoxing processes and
integrated with the production processes of pyritic
concentrate which can be sold for revenue. The Group
recognises revenue of treatment services on over time
basis based on the completion percentage of the
treatment services performance obligation which is in
turn determined with reference to the percentage of cost
incurred up to date to the total estimated cost of
completion that are attributable to the treatment services.
ERERBE_T_=F T _A=T—HILFE®RR
HEBAEEMRIEREHWR  E/ARK49478
Bre BESEENEBRAEERVRERKREZESE
DERBIZRETT - WA HERRK SR EE
BIZNEES - BEEERBEERBENEEHNTKE
D REE R iR IR RIS I - e B D LRI
2REIERBIESEENRDMETRBEEFREINE D
LLEE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
TENERNTEEBRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to this key audit matter
included the following:

EEZARETFRANBAREFEEN TSR

e Understood, evaluated and tested the Group's key
controls over revenue recognition of the provision of
gold mine hazardous waste treatment services and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the level of complexity and other inherent
risk factors;

o TH FHMERAS BEEEURHSBEREEEMERE
ARAG B U 25 T SR MO R B4R o SR IR E BAR AR M B
fib R B B = AT ik B K SR ¥R e N FE LB

e Checked, on a sample basis, the contracts signed with
customers for provision of gold mine hazardous waste
treatment services, inter alia, unit price of treatment
fee and performance obligations of the Group. In
addition, discussed with management and with
reference to market available information, assessed the
reasonableness of management’s judgement on the
processes of fulfilling the performance obligations
related to treatment services;

s MEHEFRINRHSBEEREYMEERBHA
Rl RHEEEENEE  ESENEOERS It
O BEREN WAL EMSRAELS - FHEERRE
HETHEEERBEBNBEANRBBIEN BN SR
HE
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Key Audit Matter

RREEREE

Revenue from provision of gold mine hazardous
waste treatment services

RHRTIRE & EYEZE RS K

We focused on this area due to the significant
management judgements and estimation involved in
determination of performance obligations, the
determination of costs attributable to different processes,
the allocation of common costs and also determination
of the completion percentage of performance obligation
attributable to treatment services.

EEFINMARE  RAEEERAOEME  BEETRIR
TR BIBAR ~ 5 BE R BN DA K 76 T8 R IR AR TS R A Y
BAEBHTK B DL A EY RERNEIR A R4 o

68

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNTEERARERSE

e Assessed management’s determination of costs
attributable to the processes for treatment services and
the processes for production of pyritic concentrate, and
also assessed the reasonableness of the basis for the
allocation of common costs by considering the nature
of cost incurred, and tested, on a sample basis, (i) the
cost incurred during the year to supporting documents,
such as invoices, payment slip, etc; and (ii) the cost
allocation between the treatment services and the
production of pyritic concentrate by tracing to the
supporting documents of costs incurred and checking
the accuracy of calculation of allocations;

o AMEEIREHRIERBIMIEREERBRRIZRIGK
RHETE - INRAEEMEEKANMEETE DRt
BRAEENESEN - (VHEFAEENE R HEZH
X BER - NREE R()BBEHRMEEER
MRBRAX M R RE S It E AR - B RE RS
REEMBE HENERSL

e Arranged stock take of the hazardous waste under
treatment processes at the end of the year;

s EFRTHHRIZERETNESEETRE

e Performed recalculation of the percentage of cost for
treatment services incurred up to date to the total
estimated cost of waste treatment, and then the
recalculation of the revenue amount; and

s ENFEHZERRNEANEERBERGEYEER
M BEANBA L REBHFEWRARE : &

e Arranged, on a sample basis, confirmations to
customers to confirm the quantity of the gold mine
hazardous waste collected from customers, the unit
price of treatment fees and treatment service fees
during the year.

o AMMBEMTEHEPETRGE  AERFAREF K
ENEBESTEVNHEE  REENEEREERS
o

Based on the procedures performed, we found the

significant management judgement and estimation

involved in the determination of the Group’s revenue
from provision of gold mine hazardous waste treatment
services was supported by available evidences.

BEBEFBITHET  ESRRERE E5EHREHEE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the Company’s 2023 annual report (the “annual report”)
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. We have obtained some of the other information
including the management discussion and analysis prior to the date of
this auditor’s report. The remaining other information, including
corporate profile, chairman’s statement, environmental, social and
governance report, director’s report, profiles of directors and senior
management and the other sections to be included in the annual
report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights
and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.
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o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Dou Wang, Angel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=1T—HLEE

2023 2022
—s—=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARBTIT
Revenue &5 5 107,988 222,801
Cost of sales SHE RN 8 (48,354) (78,786)
Gross profit EF 59,634 144,015
Other income PN 6 5,358 1,759
Other (losses)/gains — net Hith (F518),Wes F 58 7 (454) 37
Reversal of provision/(provision for CRMEERERR
impairment) on financial assets ORERE) 2,439 (1,522)
Selling expenses HERX 8 (1,496) (2,880)
Administrative expenses TR X 8 (36,712) (32,609)
Operating profit ReEHRR 28,769 108,800
Finance income A WA 10 128 400
Finance costs & AN 10 (7,751) (5,437)
Finance costs — net BE A FEEE 10 (7,623) (5,037)
Profit before income tax BRETBH AR 21,146 103,763
Income tax expense FiiSfim X 11 (3,653) (23,547)

Profit for the year, all attributable to 72 T #HE A EGFEREFR

owners of the Company 17,493 80,216
Other comprehensive income: Hib 2 E U :
ltem that may be reclassified to AEH D EEERNIAR

profit or loss
Currency translation differences GNEE R T 5 80 1,349

Total comprehensive income for the AATEEABGEEAZE
year, all attributable to owners of et

the Company 17,573 81,565
Earnings per share for the year AAREEAELEFRER

attributable to owners of R

the Company
Basic and diluted BEARREE

(expressed in RMB per share) (AEFBRARBITYIR) 12 0.017 0.080

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should %474 & [H U 25 2% FE B2 B8 B B 55 — GF R AE o
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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As at 31 December 2023 R—ZE - =F+—-HA=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—8H
2023 2022
—g== —F-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 14 77,406 79,942
Property, plant and equipment W B &% 15 384,860 321,755
Investment properties B 16 120,819 125,205
Intangible assets B EE 17 30 7
Prepayment for non-current assets JEmENE ETR N FRIE 18 5,779 6,401
Deferred income tax assets FEMSHREE 30 4,207 1,733
593,101 535,043
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 19 34,348 18,482
Trade receivables B 5 IR 21 40,642 71,473
Other receivables and prepayments H Ath pE WA R TR IR 22 49,103 71,279
Financial assets at fair value through RN ER AR EE RS
other comprehensive income RTREE 23 3,342 2,350
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 24 76,119 59,160
203,554 222,744
Total assets EEHAE 796,655 757,787
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of RAEHER A
the Company
Share capital (%N 25 8,208 8,208
Share premium {5 = (B 25 517,965 517,965
Other reserves H 26 (299,119) (299,203)
Retained earnings (R &7 244,136 226,647
Total equity RSB 471,190 453,617
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As at 31 December 2023 R—ZT - =F+—-H=+—H

As at 31 December

R+t=H=+—H
2023 2022
—=E2_-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings Bk 29 49,827 =
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSTEE 30 5,039 3,913
Other liabilities HEiaE 31 92,902 85,453
147,768 89,366
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables 2 S FIE 27 3,882 9,088
Other payables and accruals E fth BN RIE R ST B 28 76,845 77,858
Borrowings &k 29 67,352 55,740
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFS B E 13,197 35,076
Contract liabilities AHBaE 5 6,863 2,577
Lease liabilities HEBRE 14 - 608
Other liabilities HEEfE 31 9,558 33,857
177,697 214,804
Total liabilities B85 325,465 304,170
Total equity and liabilities EERkAEAE 796,655 757,787

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 176 were
approved by the board of directors of the Company on 28 March
2024 and were signed on its behalf.

Mr. Liu Zeming

BES L

Chairman
ES

bt AR A B TS IR U5 2% B S S B o — G BRE -

FREVTCANGAVBRERER T _NOF
AT N\BBRARRE=TSIE YHER
RBE

Mr. Zhan Yirong
BoRiE

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 4 ,,‘\ N

mERERBER ¥

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

AAEHEEAEGER
Share Share Other  Retained
capital  premium reserves  earnings Total
BE  ROEE HtFEE KREEA st
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR®TR ARET:T
Balance at 1 January 2022 R-B=-—%
—R—-BWER 8208 534,097  (300552) 146431 383,184
Comprehensive income 2EkE
Profit for the year EREA - - - 80,216 80,216
Other comprehensive income Hip2Eike
— Currency translation differences ~ — MEHRE =% - - 1,349 = 1,349
Total comprehensive income 2ENERZ - = 1,349 80,216 81,565
Transactions with owners BREBEANRS
Dividend distribution 1 E DIk = (16,132) = = (16,132)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-ZB=Z§
TZA=t—-HW&ER 8208 517,965  (299,203) 226,647 453,617
Balance at 1 January 2023 R=ZB=-=%
—RA—-AWNER 8208 517,965  (299,203) 226,647 453,617
Comprehensive income ZHERE
Profit for the year FRRA - - - 17,493 17,493
Other comprehensive income Hin 2 Elkz
— Currency translation differences ~ — SM&#HE =% - - 80 - 80
Total comprehensive income 2EMREE - - 80 17,493 17,573
Transactions with owners BREEANRS
Profit appropriation to statutory RNER AT HRE
reserves - - 4 @) _
Balance at 31 December 2023 R=ZB=Z=%
+TZHA=t—HMEsH 8,208 517,965 (299,119) 244,136 471,190

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=1+—HILEE
2023 2022
—m——

—

RMB’000
AR®T R

RMB’000
ARETIT

Cash flows from operating activities K& FHHRESHRE
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 32(a) 67,848 56,023
Interest received BEYFIE 128 400
Interest paid B FE (3,590) (2,123)
Income tax paid ERFREH (26,880) (11,246)
Net cash generated from operating KRB TSI S 558

activities 37,506 43,054
Cash flows from investing activities ®REFHHRSHRE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  BEMEE

equipment (75,433) (166,831)
Purchase of land use rights BE T A - (56,750)
Purchase of intangible assets BEERLAE (36) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - WERZER

plant and equipment and other assets ~ Efth & EFT15 KA 32(b) 420 2,113
Loan to the Controlling Shareholder =& Gt d e 35(b) - (2,891)
Repayments from the Controlling ERRAR R B K

Shareholder - 2,891
Net cash used in investing activities REEBFTARE 5 (75,049) (221,468)

20233 @ BABENEERAT 77



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

—Eg=-=

RMB’000
AR®T

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=1t—HILLEE
2023

2022

—=— —

=

RMB'000

ARETTT

Cash flows from financing activities RETEHRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEFKPTIS HIE 32(0) 84,644 27,900
Repayment of bank borrowings BBIRTTIER 32(0) (78,684) (12,060)
Proceeds from borrowings under BERE LY T ERAE

finance lease arrangement A 32(c) 58,790 =
Repayment of borrowings under BERERELRHEREBR

finance lease arrangement 32(c) (8,021) -
Deposits paid of borrowings under BMEMELH MERE R

finance lease arrangement Be (3,500) =
Increase in amounts due to the JE {-F 22 B B 3R SR IE 0

Controlling Shareholder 35(b) 19,357 -
Repayments of amounts due to BEE TR R KIE

the Controlling Shareholder (17,478) -
Principal and interest elements of HENFHAE KA EE 5D

lease payments (620) (331)
Dividends paid B S - (16,132)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BMEFDE (A RE

financing activities FEE 54,488 (623)
Net increase/(decrease) in cashand BRERBEESZEEYE N,

cash equivalents (RA) 358 16,945 (179,037)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  FHIHIR & K& EEY

of year 59,160 235,593
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash R& NIREEEYEREEH)

and cash equivalents EjZ 14 2,604
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRNBEERREEEY

of year 24 76,119 59,160

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 12
January 2021 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands (the
“Companies Act”). The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company’s subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are engaged in
the provision of gold mine hazardous waste treatment services
and recycling and extracting therefrom resources with economic
value for sale, such as pyritic concentrate in Shandong province
of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group commenced the
production and sales of products from the reprocessing of pyritic
concentrate (including sulphuric acid, iron powder and
electricity). The Group'’s headquarter is in Laizhou city, Shandong
province of the PRC.

The ultimate controlling party of the Company is Mr. Liu Zeming
(the "Controlling Shareholder” or “Mr. Liu").

The shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 12 November 2021 by
way of initial public offering.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“"RMB"”) and rounded to the nearest thousand RMB
(“RMB'000"), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied during the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, unless otherwise stated.

— &R
ARARZE=Z—F— AT ZHRERA
SEREFUERERTE(—NAN—FF
3MERE  KEEE RIERT) ([RRDED &
MEHSHMNLAERRER AR - H
it #% = & 4k A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, Po Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

RRRR/REER DT - ARBIZMBA
A(FBIAKEDRPEARLNE
(FEDUREARERESEESTEY
B IR AR5 At o @ U R R ER AL R (B
BEHNER(PINTHERE AREE-BE
—T_=FTZA=T—HILFE K&
EHREEREEMEESNTIER (B
EME - #HDREN) ANEEMAE
R B REHRM T

AR T MBI B BB 858 2 (42
BRI S [ D) -

ARARAWKROHER-_TE-_—F+—A
TZHRERAFABRENAERTBHSE
RHMABERAR LM

BRRINMERIN SREMBERERUARRE
(TARBDEIN YEHNEZEENT
T (TAR®TT]) -
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RAESAMBBRRARANTIEGFTR
REIAT - BRRBHAI ZFEERERN
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=+ RHLEFEERER-

20233 @ BABENEERAT 79



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS a, s N

e P BHmRME

N

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

or> -

2 MmUEEREHABRREH (8)

2.1 REEE

2.1.1 Compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards

and HKCO (as defined below)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards and requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap.
622.

2.1.2 Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost convention, except
for Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI), which are carried
out at fair value.

2.1.3 New and amended standards adopted by the

Group

The following new and amended accounting
standards and interpretations become applicable for
annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1
January 2023, and have been adopted by the Group

2.1.1 BFERY B HEER &5t
HARBEELAMNKG (EER
Fx)

AEBENRAMBHERERTIR
BERY B REENGTE
Al R F6228FE R A E A
(IEARAMED) B AR E R
o

2.1.2 BEL KK 1EH

RAMBHRERNELKAE
FImE MR AP EFT AR
2EWE (RAFEAHM
FHESE)NEREERRT
B -

2.1.3 KX EBERHHIH 5T RAZET
EAR

AT 3 E] R A& 5] & 51 £ A
FBER T ==F—H—
Bz & MHANEERSH
F#EA - W E B AR E R4 H

in current period:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Accounting

Standards Practice Statement 2

RERTERIE 155k R BIFR B 5 RS A

iﬁ%%&%’?ﬁzfﬂ HEN)
Amendments to IAS 8
BIFR & 522 R 2 8 5% (185 A)
Amendments to IAS 12

et AR 12 5% (BT AN)
Amendments to IAS 12

RE T AR 125 (18R] A)
IFRS Accounting Standards 17

BURR B s dR S R R S RS 17 5%

FRERAA -
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
SRR E

Definition of Accounting Estimates

SRHEF O ESR

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

—RHGEENEBERAGERBNRIENRE

P|I|ar Two Model Rules

T RE A

Insurance Contracts

{% A|:|V/j
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 mEEEREHBERSE (B
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)
2.1.4 New standards and amendments of IFRS 214 R=—F-MEFE—F—HARZ
Accounting Standards issued effective for the 7 B 15 1Y B1 BB R [ 78 i 4 3%
financial periods beginning on and after 1 B & B 52BN

January 2024 and have not been early adopted

by the Group

Amendments to IAS 1

B & 5T AE RIS 1 5% (IBRTAR)

Amendments to IAS 1

BURR = 5 2RISR 1 5% (18RI AN)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards 16

BB B 15 R 45 AR Bl & 5t 22 A
1658 (BFTR)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS
Accounting Standards 7

B & St RS 7 5% N BIRR BT 7%

ERAGFTERNE 758
(BFTA)

Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
(Int 5 (2020))

BRAHBSRERERIERN
EHERNS B (REESR
(Z2=ZH))

Amendments to IAS 21

Re AR 21 5% (18R] A0)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards 10 and IAS 28

BIRR B 75 HR S AE R & FT2E R
105 MBERE R
55 28 5% (BRI )

AT 2E R R BB B 7% 3R & 2E R

B ERIMEET A

Classification of Liabilities as current or
non-current

BESBRARBIIERD

Non-current liabilities with covenants

MR ERISERB B E

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERMELNEERE
Supplier finance arrangements

HEERE LB

Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements

REESH (ZE_TF) MBHRERN

E2 ]l

Lack of Exchangeability

= A At

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

WEAREBENRREGERE LR
ZEEHESFE

Effective for
financial periods
beginning

on or after
RELT BB
N ZEBRN
o B HA 8 A 3%

1 January 2024

—ETmHFE—H—H
1 January 2024
—ZE-pmFE—HA—H

1 January 2024

—ET-_mF—H—H

1 January 2024

—ZE-pmFE—HA—H

1 January 2024

—EHFE—H—H

1 January 2025
—E_hHF—A—H
To be determined

e
T AE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

k) -

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 mUBEREABERESH (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)

2.1.4 New standards and amendments of IFRS 214 R=-E-_NF—FA—HRZ
Accounting Standards issued effective for the 7 B 14 1Y 51 B0 R [ 78 i 4 3K
financial periods beginning on and after 1 B2 & B 5712 B IRA R FT
January 2024 and have not been early adopted AT 2E R R [0 R B 7 3R 25 ZE Al
by the Group (Continued) ETEREET A (&)

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact NEEEETEFETLER %
of the new standards, amendments to standards AERT A R S E R B H &
and conceptual framework on its results of EXRERMBARAZE K
operations and financial position. The Group expects SETEHS R BT 2R
to adopt the relevant new standards, amendments ERMEFT A RS ELR £
to standards and conceptual framework when they FRr R4 o

become effective.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HEEKER
3.1 Financial risk factors 3.1 BKEERE
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial N 65 [ B B TE AR B S L B
risks: market risk (including fair value interest rate risk and miZRE (2 FEAFEN X R &
cash flow interest rate risk, and foreign exchange risk), RenmefEERkRINERR) -
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk ERBRETBE SRR NEEK
management programme focuses on the unpredictability BEREAREEASSEPIREMT S
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential B9 -1 AT TE ORI - I SR B E AR
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. AEENBRERNEENFZE -
(a) Market risk (a) THEE
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk () BEzrnsERATFEFER

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
deposits and borrowings. Borrowings obtained
at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk which is partially offset
by cash at bank with variable interest rates.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. During
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group’s borrowings bore interest both at
variable rates and fixed rates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &}

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

Bank deposits carried at prevailing market
interest rate expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. The Group closely monitors
trend of interest rate and its impact on the
Group's interest rate risk exposure to ensure it
is within an acceptable level. The Group
currently has not used any interest rate swap
arrangements but will consider hedging
interest rate risk should the need arise.

During the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, if interest rate on borrowings had
been higher/lower by 50 basis points of
current interest rate, with other variables held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit would
have been approximately RMB265,000 lower/
higher and RMB202,000 lower/higher,
respectively.

E-B-=FT-ASt-BLAEE

3 HXERER @)
3.1 BEREBEE (&)
(a) THEEE (&)

(i

HERERNFEFE
g (&)

BBATHIHH R ER
RITFERSANEE AR
MERENKEAR A
SETUERMNRES
K HH RS B R R
VR 8 RERERE
AEXKF -NEEE
Al I 48 5 A {E fR] ) R 4=
Bz EREFER
SEEE BN XRER -

BE-_T-_=FK=-F
——#+-A=+—H
IEFZ - e 5 & R F =R
BREBHEEF T K
SOMEER MEMES
HRETE AARERD
B ERFE ST
B/ EFHABHARE
265,0007T & T & EFt
AR #202,0007T °
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions and recognised assets
and liabilities denominated in a currency that
is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The Group operates mainly in
the PRC so it is not exposed to significant
foreign exchange risk arising from foreign
currency transactions.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, as
well as trade receivables and other receivables. The
carrying amount of each class of the above financial
assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to the corresponding class of
financial assets.

Risk management

To manage this risk, cash and cash equivalents are
mainly placed with state-owned or reputable
financial institutions in Mainland China and
reputable financial institutions outside of Mainland
China.

To manage risk arising from trade receivables, the
Group has policies in place to ensure that credit
terms are made to counterparties with an
appropriate credit history and management
performs ongoing credit evaluations of the
counterparties. Trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and aging
to measure the expected credit losses. Trade
receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Impairment
losses on trade receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item.

3

BHREBRERE (8)

3.1
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H#E=—Z=-=F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MEERKRER(#
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HEREBEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) =EREE (&)

Risk management (Continued)

For other financial assets carried at amortised cost
(excluding input Value Added Tax (“VAT") to be
deducted and prepayments), management makes
periodic collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records and past
experiences.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model:

. cash and cash equivalents;
. trade receivables;
° other receivables.

() Cash and cash equivalents

To manage risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, the Group only transacts with
state-owned or reputable financial institutions
in Mainland China and reputable international
financial institutions outside of Mainland
China. There has been no recent history of
default in relation to these financial
institutions. These instruments are considered
to have low credit risk because they have a
low risk of default and the counterparty has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term. Cash and
cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9, while the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

ERERE (&)

SLIR R AT BR A E
BEE (T REKTHERMNE
BN (HEER]) RBENKIE)
mE EEEREBEEER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and aging.

The expected loss rates are based on the credit
rating of counter parties and the payment
profiles of sales over a period of each
reporting period and probability of default of
counter parties on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the Gross Domestic
Product (“GDP") in Mainland China to be the
most relevant factor, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.

Individually impaired trade receivable is related
to customers who are experiencing
unexpected economic difficulties. As at 31
December 2022, trade receivable of
approximately RMB2,184,000 was provided
for loss allowance for the individually assessed
receivable. In 2023, the Group received such
trade receivable from the customer and the
related individual impairment losses for the
trade receivable was reversed. As at 31
December 2023, no loss allowance was
provided for individually assessed receivables.

3

BHREBRERE (8)
MEEREE (&)
(b) EEERE (&)

3.1

(ii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table shows the loss allowance
provision for the Group’s trade receivables as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

BRERERE (5)
3.1 BMEREBEE (&)
(b) EREE (&)
(i) BIREKFE (&

TRETTAEER =
Eo=FR-FT

+_A=+—BnES
JRE U 2R TR SR ) S 48 B

1% o
1-90 91-180 181-270 271-360
days days days days Total
1£90H 91Z£180H 1812270H 271£360H Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR AR%®TR ARETT ARETR
Asat31December2023 R=ZE=-=%
+=A=1+-H
Related to provision of gold ~ EIZHEEAZEY
mine hazardous waste R R0
treatment services
Gross carrying amount RRAE 9,263 7,612 16,149 7210 40,234
Expected loss rate HEHEEE 0.6% 0.8% 1.1% 1.6%
Loss allowance BERE 55 58 181 119 413
Related to sales of sulfuric ~ EHERHBRE N
acid and electricity EH
Gross carrying amount FRLE 825 - - - 825
Expected loss rate EHERX 0.5% - - -
Loss allowance BiEkEE 4 - - - 4
Total loss allowance BEAEEE 59 58 181 119 417
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MEBEEBRERE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HBEBEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) =EREE (&)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) EZEWFIE(E)

1-90 91-180  181-270  271-360  361-450  451-540
days days days days days days Total

T£90H 91E180H 18122708 271E£360H 361E£450H 451E£540H @zt
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTL ARBTLT ARETT ARETT ARETT

As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZF
TER=T=E

Related to provision of gold mine BRHSBAEREY
hazardous waste treatment services BRI AR5 1A

Gross carrying amount FEEE 13,925 21,124 14127 807 4,946 2,579 57,508
Expected loss rate EHERX 03% 0.5% 0.8% 1.4% 3.1% 6.3%

Loss allowance BERE Y] 106 113 11 153 162 587
Related to sales of pyritic BHERERER

concentrate

Gross carrying amount FEAR 8,151 2,527 - - - - 10,678
Expected loss rate BHEEX 0.7% 1.1% - - - -

Loss allowance BERE 57 28 - - - - 85

Individually impaired receivables: (BRI EEYFE :
Related to sales of pyritic concentrate 2§ EHHREBEAR

Gross carrying amount REEE - - - - 6,143 - 6,143
Loss allowance EiEkE - - - - 2,184 - 2,184
Total loss allowance ERAEEE 99 134 113 11 2,337 162 2,856
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(0)

(i) Other receivables

Other receivables mainly include amounts due
from related parties, refundable deposits and
others. All of the Group's financial assets at
amortised cost are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Trade receivables and other receivables are
written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and
other receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating loss.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line
item.

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The Group expects to
fund its future cash flow needs through internally
generated cash flows from operations and
borrowings from financial institutions. Management
believes that there is no significant liquidity risk in
view of the expected cash flow from operations and
continuous support from banks in the coming
twelve months.

The tables below analyse the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the end of each
reporting period to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the tables are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

3 BEEAKRER(®)
3.1 BIBEBEE (&)
(b) =EEE (&)

(9]

(i) BN I

Hit B HRBEETERRE
FE U5 B B 77 SRR AR
BReREM AEH
FrE R B SH AT ER
TREE2EANR
HEEBERR2HAY
EEBRFE BURR
BYIRERARNEER
[E\be = 2 RREIE 0 -

B 7 MW E R E A
WOk IR R I & & 32 T8 1
QEEESS €

B 5 MR IE & A e
Ui ok I8 B R (B RS B R AR
EEEAZIRRERS
BF R R W@ ST Al
EMEZEE AlFTA
F—IHA -

B E L

REERDESAR NEE
ERRSRRSFEYKE
THEGFREEBRAR
WEVKF - MRREE TAE
BrEERRERSRER
B E- AKBEHEELE
FERHELNESRER
FEBEBERSRRRE
MEFLRUEZ -BEEER
SBEBEEARDESRR
FEAEART-_BEANE
ERHRERE MRITHR
BxiEo

TERBRESHREHAREGH
BB THESASEDN
FOESRABRARIY
ARELR DM TRIEEN
BERAOARUBRRLRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEREBRERE(#)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥REBEZE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () #"EBELEE (&)

90

Between  Between
Less than 1and 2and Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
PME 1228 2E5F  SENE #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETR
As at 31 December 2023 R=B=z%
t=A=t-8
Trade payables 2 oRNR 3,882 - - - 3,882
Other payables (excluding HER TR (PR
non-financial liabilities) FERER) 58,298 - - - 58,298
Borrowings, including interest fER (REENFIE)
payables 11,417 24,860 27,009 - 123,286
Other liabilities — payable to Hi g fE — EAFMN
7 Assets BE - - 14,400 57,600 72,000
133,597 24,860 41,409 57,600 257,466
As at 31 December 2022 i S
+=A=t-8
Trade payables B oRNFIA 9,088 = = = 9,088
Other payables (excluding Hi R IR (P afE
non-financial liabilities) FERAR) 56,971 - - - 56,971
Borrowings, including interest fER (REEAFE)
payables 57,235 - - - 57,235
Financial guarantee contracts () BIFEIERA () 16,000 = = = 16,000
Lease liabilities MEBE 616 = - = 616
Other liabilities — retention HtBE — ENRES
payable - 5,639 - = 5,639
Other liabilities — payable to HiafE — FEAFMN
LZ Assets BE 22,400 33,600 56,000 - 112,000
162,310 39239 56,000 - 257549
(i) The balance presents guarantee given to the banks (i) ERABABETE=ZTTHR

in connection with banking facilities granted to third

parties (Note 14 and 15).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H#E=—Z=-=F+=-A=+—HILtFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern, so
that the Group can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio, being total net debt divided by total capital. Total
capital is the total of net debts and total equity as shown
on the consolidated statements of financial position.

The gearing ratios during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 were as follow:

BREBRERE (%)
3.2 BEAXAERE

$‘$’”§i¥7§$ﬁ’] BIR R RIERR

BIRERE N NEASE R ABE
Eﬁﬁiﬁtﬂiﬁliﬁ&%ﬁ@?ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
KA &R R M R B B AN SRR AR
EEARRA

RERSABRERNGER AEEA
REERHBEXNTRENRS SR
ABRFEEES HBEITHRIA
EEENRMDER -

AEBEERERBRALL X (BFEE
BRBERABER)ERER-BE
ARFEHREESNBN (R
B BIRRRAAR) °

RBEE_ZE_=ZFRKR_F -
+—A=+t—HALFENELRERE
LT E T

As at 31 December

W+=HA=+—H
2023 2022
—EB—= —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREFIT
Borrowings (Note 29) &8 (fisE29) 117,179 55,740
Lease liabilities (Note 14) HEaEPE14) - 608
Amount due to the Controlling JE A< 122 B B 3R SR IR
Shareholder (Note 35(c)) (P& 35(c)) 1,879 =
Other liabilities — payable to HivBfE — BRHEMNEE
LZ Assets (Note 31) (FFE31) 55,762 101,292
Total debt BIETS 174,820 157,640
Less: Cash and bank balances (Note 24) & : I & MIRIT4ER
(Hf7%24) (76,119) (59,160)
Net debt(a) B 5% () 98,701 98,480
Total equity MR 471,190 453,617
Total capital (b) A (b) 569,891 552,097
Gearing ratio (a/b) B &&= (a/b) 17% 18%
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Capital management (Continued)

The gearing ratio remained stable during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying values less impairment provision of trade
receivables, deposits, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and other receivables and
payables are a reasonable approximation of their fair
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate
that is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to
exercise judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are addressed below.

(@) Revenue recognition of treatment services
based on percentage of completion

The Group’s gold mine hazardous waste treatment
services are conducted in various detoxing processes and
integrated with the production process of pyritic
concentrate which can be sold for sales revenue. The
Group recognises revenue based on the completion
percentage of the treatment services performance
obligation which is in turn determined with reference to
the percentage of cost incurred up to date to the total
cost. The determination of performance obligation and
the completion percentage of performance obligation
involves judgement, and the total cost of services involves
estimation.

BEERERE (&)
3.2 EXRERE(£)

HE_Z_=FR-_ZT-__"F+=
A=+T—BUHFE - EEABLR
RISBE -

3.3 DAFEME

BHRWHE  BE HAFERFA
HiembaEmemEEARE M
& Wk IR e AN SRR O BR (B =
HMERER AEAFENSEL
UE-REEMS EREENQT
BIERBBRKRANASRERAN
SERLUESRTARF/NRAEMS
MR BRI T -

B g 2 ot (5t K A i

R A BB AE AR 2T RIS
RE - HERHETE S GRERERA
% o BB IVER AR E G R
fE B

B R E AAT R A - A ET R A B SRR
BELBRIEBEE BREAEHERE
EUBEEIRNUEFBERTHRASAE
ZARREM 2  BEHRRGRFE
MEENMABNREEEKRERNFAEN
EPNEN G ERPN EE

(a) RETKBE D LEIEERK
Wy =

AEENERER EEYEIERSZ
EZESEIMBETET L E
A E BRER B S W O AR ASR 0 A
EREEES AEBREEER
BEHOBEENTTEE RS
MEBEENZ2ZLEZSEEEMA
ERABENBENLEE-BER
HMEEMRBEHEENTRER S R
HE - B ARFS AR AP R Al 5t
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Cost allocation of reprocessing of pyritic
concentrate

The reprocessing of pyritic concentrate produces sulphuric
acid, iron powder and electricity in a integrated process.
The allocation of cost to sulphuric acid, iron powder and
electricity involves management’s judgement and
estimation.

Estimated lease term of warehouses

The Group leased two warehouses to LZ Assets (as defined
in Note 31) in October and December 2018, for a period
of 20 years , out of which the first 5 years (to end of year
2023) are committed and non-cancellable . These lease
contracts were modified in November 2023 to extend the
committed and non-cancellable lease period for another 5
years. The Group accounted for the leases as a five year
lease contract at inception of the lease in 2018, and
extended it to another five years based on the modified
contract terms. The estimation of the lease periods
involves interpretation of facts and judgement.

Estimated useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values and consequently the related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment, and reviews the useful lives and residual
values periodically to ensure that the method and rates of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of
realization of economic benefits from property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. If there are
significant changes from previously estimated useful lives
and residual values, the amount of depreciation expenses
may change.

BA SR AT AT K H B (50)

(b)

(c)

(d)

MREEB IR S B

MEEANTIAESEKTEREER
B -EHOREN -G -BHRED
B AN 5 Be 35 I B 1R JE |9 ) BT K A
I
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ErREMEE (X RAWEF3EE
MEAE A A20F HhEaF
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B - ZEHEAHNER =T ==
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The carrying amounts of items of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable in accordance with the accounting
policy as disclosed in note 15(b) to the consolidated
financial statements. The recoverable amount is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, and
calculations of which involve the use of estimates. In
estimating the recoverable amounts of assets, various
assumptions, including future cash flows and discount
rates, are made. If future events do not correspond to
such assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need to
be revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s
results of operations or financial position. The carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment in the
consolidated statements of financial positions are set out
in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the note 3.1(b).

4
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(e)

(f)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a few jurisdictions.
Judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the periods in
which such determinations are made.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities relating to certain
temporary differences are recognised as management
considers that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred income tax assets and liabilities
and taxation in the periods in which such estimate is
changed.

Other income on a gross or net basis

The Group is involved in the trading of magnesite
between a third party State-owned enterprise supplier of
the magnesite and the customers that purchase the
magnesite. The Group bought the magnesite from the
supplier and sold to the customers. The Group does not
assume the inventory risk and also had no right to decide
the selling price therefore the Group recognised income
related to the agency business on a net basis.

BA SR AT AT K H B (50)

(9)

(h)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Description of segments and principal activities

The executive directors of the Board and the chief financial
controller have been identified as the Group’s chief
operating decision-maker (the “CODM").

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of gold
mine hazardous waste treatment services and sales of
pyritic concentrate in the PRC. The process of the
treatment services and production of pyritic concentrate
are in one integral process, and the CODM assesses the
performance of treatment services and sales of pyritic
concentrate as a whole. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group commenced the production
and sales of products from the reprocessing of pyritic
concentrate (including sulphuric acid, iron powder and
electricity). The CODM assesses the performance of the
Group now from two segments: hazardous waste
treatment and recycling and reprocessing of pyritic
concentrate and others. Unallocated cost mainly includes
administrative expenses incurred by the Company and
inter-mediate holding companies of the Group.
Management of the Group assesses the performance of
operating segments based on segment profit or loss and
assets.

Assets grouped under unallocated category comprise cash
and bank balances and other receivables held by the
Company and intermediate holding companies of the
Group.

Liabilities grouped under unallocated category comprise
other payables and accruals of the Company and
intermediate holding companies of the Group.

Additions to non-current assets comprise additions to
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets.

The Group's principal market, where majority of revenue
and operating profit and all operations and non-current
assets, are in Laizhou city of Shandong province of the
PRC. Accordingly, no geographical segment information is
presented.

(a)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WERkIFER (@)

(Continued)

(a) Description of segments and principal activities (a) PEHARETEES (&)
(Continued)
The segment information for the year ended 31 December BE_T_=FR-_F-__F+=
2023 and 2022 is as follows: A=+T—HILFENHEERAT :

Reprocessing

Hazardous waste of pyritic

treatment and concentrate
recycling and others Unallocated Total

RERYEE  WEEBNI
EEk R AAE szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AR®T T AR®BT T AR®T T

For the year ended 31 December HZ-Z-=%

2023 TZAZ+-HLEE

Segment revenue 7 il 97,667 10,321 - 107,988
Segment profit/{loss) AR/ (EB) 39,505 (7,999) (2,737) 28,769
Finance costs — net RAKAFE (6,743) (873) Y (7.,623)
Profit before income tax BRATE R ATE A 21,146
Income tax expense FEHAS (3,653)
Profit for the year ERREA 17,493
Other information EhER

Depreciation and amortisation FEREH 15,658 3,958 323 19,939
Additions to non-current assets REFRYEE 3,645 74,561 - 78,206
As at 31 December 2023 WZBZ=#+ZA=t-H

Segment assets NHEE 398,732 395,738 2,185 796,655
Segment liabilities HHEE 191,299 104,624 29,542 325,465
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WakoEER (E)
(Continued)
(a) Description of segments and principal activities () PHBHPARETETE (&)

(Continued)

Reprocessing

Hazardous waste of pyritic

treatment and concentrate
recycling and others Unallocated Total

FERVEE  RRERENI
RE REf AR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTL

For the year ended 31 December BZ-Z-—%

2022 TZA=t-BLEE

Segment revenue Pl 222,801 - - 222,801
Segment profit/(loss) AR/ (E8) 115,619 (3,756) (3,063) 108,800
Finance costs — net BAKARE (6,234) 1,221 (24) (5,037)
Profit before income tax BATEH AR 103,763
Income tax expense RS (23,547)
Profit for the year FRREF 80,216
Other information A5

Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 15,138 1,269 351 16,758
Additions to non-current assets NEFTHEE 5,964 246,313 = 252,277
As at 31 December 2022 R=Z-Zf+-A=+-H

Segment assets PHEE 488,239 269,016 532 757,787
Segment liabilities PHaR 266,415 35,178 2,577 304,170
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WRE7HER (&)
(Continued)
(b) Revenue during the years (b) ZEFEWR

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=1t—BLEE
2023 2022

—g-=

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT

Revenue from contract with customers Bl B1 75 3R 45 % BI 55 15 9%

within the scope of IFRS 15 HEANEFSHWE
Revenue from provision of gold mine R SEE EREYIEIERE

hazardous waste treatment services Eopgny 49,373 76,439
Revenue from sales of pyritic concentrate 5 FRfEHE A UL 28 34,775 131,855

Revenue from sales of products from HEMSERINLER
the reprocessing of pyritic concentrate ~ (B3EFEE - EHKLRE D)
(including sulphuric acid, iron powder oGy

and electricity) 10,321 -
94,469 208,294
Other revenue Hth ik ==
Rental income (Note 31) AeW A (HEE31) 13,519 14,507
107,988 222,801
The analysis of revenue from contract with customers AR 15 B R B 75 i 5 22 R S5 1555 4R 7 - B IR
within the scope of IFRS15 recognised over time and at a B 75 3R 45 2E B 551557 &6 B A BE A R
point in time as required by IFRS15 is set out below: ERERBERANZTLPEORESTHRN
TX:

Year ended 31 December
BEt=A=t+-ALEE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Recognised over time BERF R SR
Revenue from provision of gold mine RHES EREYRIZR
hazardous waste treatment services Eopga 49,373 76,439
Recognised at a point in time REREHER
Revenue from sales of pyritic concentrate & B U 25 34,775 131,855
Revenue from sales of products from HEMBERINIER

the reprocessing of pyritic concentrate (B #E#E - EHREN)
(including sulphuric acid, iron powder Eppire
and electricity) 10,321 -

94,469 208,294
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WaEkIEER (#)
(Continued)
(c) Contract liabilities (9= Sh-Ki
The Group recognised the following contract liabilities: REBBRAATEHNAEE:

As at 31 December
Rt+t=BA=+—8H
2023 2022

—®== —=——

—_ =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T

Contract liabilities related to provision of IRt & IEA ZEYERIE
gold mine hazardous waste treatment  RISBRIMA KN AEE

services - 740
Contract liabilities related to sales of HHEMBREEENE L
pyritic concentrate =L 558 1,837
Contract liabilities related to sales of S E AR TE A I LE m
products from the reprocessing of (BIEmEE - &1) B REH
pyritic concentrate (including sulphuric ~ A& & &
acid, iron powder) 6,305 -
6,863 2,577
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRINTHRBEZZE_=FR=F
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2023 ZZFFTZA=T—HLEFE®RER
and 2022 relates to carried-forward contract liabilities: WEHABS OB EEENKaSRE:

Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t+—-HLEE
2023 2022

—_E_= —FE-—

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT

Revenue recognised that was included in 5 AF & LB EEKRR
the balance of contract liabilities at the — E#ERULE
beginning of the year

Provision of gold mine hazardous waste {2t &8 A EEE VB I RIS

treatment services 740 3,370
Sales of pyritic concentrate SHEMSE - 3,173
740 6,543
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WERIFBER ()

(Continued)

(d) Unsatisfied contracts (d) KETEXN
The following table shows unsatisfied performance TRINTEREFPEI L WEHNEE
obligations resulting from contracts with customers: BARBITRAOEE:

As at 31 December

R+=HA=+—8H
2023 2022
—E-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETT
Expected to be recognised within B — F TR
one year

Provision of gold mine hazardous waste 124t &7 H EREYRIZ AR

treatment services - 740
Sales of pyritic concentrate HEIEE 558 1,837
Sales of products from the reprocessing  $&& W &1 B 11 T & @

of pyritic concentrate (including (B - =)

sulphuric acid, iron powder) 6,305 -

6,863 2,577
(e) Information about major customers (e) EEEETEEFHER
Revenue from individual customers which individually REREEFEBLAEBREE
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue TE_=FR-_TE-_—_F+_-H8
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is =T —BIEFRERKE10% KA £
set out below: B R E T AT

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2023 2022

—E_=F —=F-
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREET T
Customer A EFEA 40,867 51,368
Customer B ZFEB 15,210 N/A & *
Customer C ®FC 13,519 N/A TN iE R
Customer D EFED N/ATER* 23,186

* Contributed less than 10% of the Group’s total revenue ) RIARF R AR E A =R

PIA10% o
for the relevant year. L 10%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(f)

102

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

(i) Revenue from provision of gold mine hazardous
waste treatment services

Revenue from the provision of gold mine hazardous
waste treatment services is recognised over the
relevant period in which the services are rendered
based on the completion percentage of the
treatment services performance obligation which is
in turn determined with reference to the percentage
of cost incurred up to date to the total cost. Further
analysis of the estimates and judgements applied in
the recognition of revenue from provision of gold
mine hazardous waste treatment services is set out
in Note 4(a).

The portion of service revenue received from
customers but not earned is recorded as contract
liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial
position as at the date of the statement of financial
position. Amounts which will be earned within one
year is reflected as a current liability, and which will
be earned beyond one year is reflected as a non-
current liability.

Wz & o EBE R (40

(f)

WA TR ST BER
HEFFTEH B Kt

HEP R A HNNKRENEWHIR
BHE S ER TR PR T IARER
M 5% < B8 I BR 7K 62 (81 78 A i e H o
FEMKBHERESHRE-

EANTHNHREEKRIESER
R REREAERE B E ARG E
BTEFPFMARESHNERE A&
REERDFBRIIEHGTLERE
WR - BEEEAZERERBN T E
EHEERBERE R CERRSS
BIRA ARG R AT AU B -

() ERDEEZEVEERY
Hy ez

RESEEEEYREERS
P st M ER R AR 75 RO AR R
HRERBEEREENEE
B SERKE R HERR - T A B R
TI2ELSEEEKAMBK
REFENBDOLEE - ARRE
RIEHTERZTEYEER
75 By W a5 P AR BT K T &Y
B Z MR K FE4@) °

B & P W BB R B ER A AR 75
Wes B0 R BRI RK A H
A MR R B RSB AE
BHEE SR —FARDRDN
SHEEINERBEE MR
—FRBRIRNEEI L 5E
FRBERE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(f)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Sales of products

Revenue from sales of pyritic concentrate and sales
of products from the reprocessing of pyritic
concentrate (including sulphuric acid, iron powder
and electricity) are recognised at the point in time
when control of the product is transferred to
customers, generally on delivery of the products.

Other revenue — rental income

The Group derives rental income from investment
properties. Rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct
costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease (if
any) are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the
lease term on the same basis as lease income.

Wk D RER ()

WA E T BUER (8)

HEFHFTEXH WKt (F)

(ii)

(iii)

#HEEan

HEMBELHEMERES
MIER(BRERE SH K
BN BERNEmITHIEE
BPEEFPHNKHEA (—RBE

an R ) FERR

Hh iz — WA

AEBEREMEELES
WA -HEWARBERARRE
RAER SRBEEMEEM
EEMTEERRA(NE)
AFAHBEERBEELRHE
HAZERERAERNE
R/
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE

6 OTHER INCOME

6 HMkA

Year ended 31 December

BZE+—-A=+—HLFE
2023 2022
—E-—F
RMB’000
AREFT

—EB-=fF
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Government grants AT B 300 986
Agency service income RIEBRBBA 5,001 572
Others HAtb 57 201

5,358 1,759

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's
subsidiary, Shandong Hongcheng Resources Comprehensive
Utilization Co., Ltd. (“HC Resources”) acted effectively as an
agent that facilitate the trading of magnesite materials between
a State-owned enterprise supplier of magnesite and the
customers that purchase the magnesite. HC Resources bought
the magnesite from the supplier and sold to the customers. The
Group recognises income from these transactions on net basis.
As at 31 December 2023, other receivable from the supplier and
other payables to the customers amounted to RMB5,380,000
(2022: RMB28,025,000, Note 22) and RMB16,004,000 (2022:
RMB23,224,000 , Note 28), respectively. The Directors confirm
that the agency service income was one-off transaction and the
Group is not actively pursuing business opportunities in such
agency business.

7 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS — NET

HE-Z-_=-F+-A=+—HLFE"
AEB KB QR I RIEEAEREA F
BERAR (MBEERIDIEARE &
MifE ESEREE S BHE DR AE
SEAER (Bt MEEESRNES -
BEREARAEEEBEEZEERTLE T
BE - AEEIRFHEEEBIAZERIZIN
WA-R=ZFE=Z=F+=—A=+—H &
WHERNEMRERENEPAEM
KIS R A AR#S5,380,0000T (=&
——4F: AR%28,025,0005T  Mi5E22) K&
AR #16,004,000c (ZE-—F: AR
#23,224,0007T " i 7428) c ZE ERER - K
BRBWA R —RER S MAEE YL E
BIRSKEBAREEFR K-

7 Htt (B8R) hE— FH

Year ended 31 December
BZE+-HA=1t—HLFE
2023

2022
—em——

=

RMB'000
ARET T

—E-=

RMB’000
AR®T T

Net losses on disposal of property, plant and H&E#% « BiE M & E R E A
equipment and other assets (Note 32) BEMNEEFE(ME32) (454) (38)
Others HA - 75
(454) 37
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

The analysis of cost of sales, selling expenses and administrative

expenses is as follow:

BUMES I HNEX

HEKA  HERX RITHRRAXZ S
T

Year ended 31 December

BE+=A=t-ALEE

2023 2022
—E=-= ==
RMB’000 RMB‘000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Raw materials and consumables used BB REM R R FES 17,455 29,084
Changes in inventories of finished goods Ak M R E R BTF & & &)

and work-in-progress (10,679) 3,572
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) EERHM A (FiFE9) 21,823 17,473
Transportation expenses EiiY 6,219 13,143
Electricity and water expenses KERX 10,787 10,499
Amortisation of right-of-use assets ERREE EE (T 14)

(Note 14) 2,258 2,300
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BRE RBETE

equipment (Note 15) (MF=E15) 13,282 10,065
Depreciation of investment properties wEMERE (Fizk16)

(Note 16) 4,386 4,386
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) #Ef & E#H (FizE17) 13 7
Taxes and levies BIEREE 5,688 6,018
Consultation and professional fees BRANBEEER 3,682 3,880
Repair and maintenance fee HIERIREEHA 1,632 1,542
Auditor’s remuneration — audit services 1% BREM B — |AZ RS 1,887 2,083
Production safety cost FELTEMA 1,072 1,457
Donations BRR 110 52
Others HAh, 6,947 8,714
Total st 86,562 114,275
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

9

106

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

9

BERAMAEX

Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=1t—HLFE
2023 2022

—m——

=

RMB'000
ARBTT

—E-=F
RMB’000
ARET T

Salaries, wages and bonuses e TENIEA 18,500 14,347
Contributions to pension plans (a) RREBETEIHR () 1,657 1,559

Medical insurance and other social BERRREMT 2R
insurance 1,148 1,080
Housing fund FEAEE 518 487
21,823 17,473

(@) Contributions to pension plan

The PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contribution retirement and social benefit
plans organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC. The Group and the employees
are required to make monthly contributions to these plans
calculated as a percentage of employees’ salaries, subject
to certain ceiling. The municipal and provincial
governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired PRC based
employees payable under the plans described above. The
assets of these plans are held separately from those of the
Group in an independent fund managed by the PRC
government. Other than the monthly contributions, the
Group has no further obligation for the payment of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of its
employees. The Group’s contributions to these plans are
expensed as incurred.

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to
vesting fully in such contributions) to offset existing
contributions under the defined contribution schemes.

(a)

RIKE S EISEK

AEEMNTEEE2EMTEEH
BT Ko 7 BT AR Ak Y 45 7 SR E it
REREE GBS - AKHE K&
BEEBARNZEEHK &8
BEBIEMANLLFE REF
E BB o T BRAT R & BT A G R A
Rz LGS ERNOAARA LA
HOR A Bl B )RR A& 75
ZEEMNEERASENEED
F-BHPERAEENBELES R
BBREARZKIN AREL &
H & 8RR S B AR IR 1R 48 K 1y #E
—FEE-AEEHZEFEOH
RRELERII R -

BB R R (REER
REZBEB U BHFARRTE
MES)AEBEBEEHAETH
BAEHK-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 9 EET/ABEXH)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group include three (2022: three) directors for the
years ended 31 December 2023. Their emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented in Note 38. Details of
the remunerations of the remaining two (2022: two)
highest paid individuals during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

AEBREHFMAL

BE_Z_=F+-_A=+—H8H1L
FE - AEBRUSSHFMA LD
FERE=%(ZE__F:=8%)=
= o 1% 5 B & = iR 7 B FE38FTE
Motfhe BE_E_=ZFk_F
——H®+-—A=+—HLFE %
THE(ZEZZF - WE) &=
A BB T

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETIT

Salaries, wages and bonuses e TERIEL 1,068 1,097

Contributions to pension plans RN FT B 57 55
Housing fund, medical insurance and FEAES - BERR

other social benefits R EMteER] 44 41

1,169 1,193

The number of highest paid non-director individuals
whose remuneration for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 fell within the following bands are as
follows:

REEZZE-_="FR=ZFT==
TA=1+—BLEFE FMELR
NTEHENIFESRRTMALTH
HEFHIWT

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E=E=-= B F

Emolument bands i< &5 [
(Nil to HK$1,000,000) (Z% 1,000,000 7T)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
none of the five highest paid individuals waived or has
agreed to waive any emoluments, and none of the five
highest paid individuals received emoluments from the
Group as inducement to join or upon joining the Group,
or as compensation for loss of office.

REBEE-_BE_=FK_FT_-—
+—A=+—HLEFE Auks
A T BE B P EE S R B AR E A
& - 6L & = B B A = IR & [ AN
& B W E B < /E & A0 A 2N 5 B 3k
A& B s ) SR ED S B B 1R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

10 FINANCE COSTS — NET 10 BEERAFERE

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E_=F —E -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT
Finance income 5= ON
— Interest income derived from bank — BIRITAEREENFEIRA
balances (128) (400)
Finance costs L& A
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings  — RITEFFIEFZ 2,296 2,123
— Interest expenses relating to warehouse — BB EHRELZHHEOFE
lease arrangements (Note 31) X (MI5E31) 4,571 4,502
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities — HEaGAERX
(Note 14) (MtsE14) 10 28
— Interest expenses on borrowings — REHERHE T ERAFE
under finance lease arrangement s 1,294 =
— Other losses — HibEE (35) (1,216)
8,136 5,437
Less: borrowing costs capitalised in property, & : R¥1% « BE M &
plant and equipment B E B A (385) -
7,751 5,437
Finance costs — net & R AN FEEE 7,623 5,037
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FBHREAX

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTFT
PRC income tax A B AT A
— Current income tax expense — BIERFTIS R R 2 5,001 24,234
— Deferred income tax expense (Note 30) — iEFEFT15H: 7 % (Fff5E30) (1,348) (687)
3,653 23,547
The Group's principal applicable taxes and tax rates are as NEFEHTIEEBARELRBRNT
follows:
(@) Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands (“BVI") (a) BIESRE HBAWIEE (&
and Hong Kong BEARBEE)REE
The Company is an exempted company incorporated in NAT AR S BEE TR ST R E
the Cayman Islands and is not liable for taxation in the N NT) BAERESEEMF
Cayman Islands.
The Group's subsidiary incorporated in the BVI is exempted NEFBHHEAT AR EESR
company and is not liable for taxation in the BVI. BEEMA T B ER G AT BE

ERBERARBESHB -

Hong Kong profits tax was considered at the rate of RER  BBFERIRGE EER
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for the years. HAIH165% B AEEBRER
The Group did not have assessable profits in Hong Kong TE T P 4 PR SRR R o

for the years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

1

110

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
(b) PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

Taxation on PRC income has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the PRC in which the Group's
subsidiaries operate. The Company’s subsidiaries
incorporated in PRC are subject to CIT at the rate of 25%
(2022: 25%) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In accordance with the Announcement of the State
Taxation Administration and the Ministry of Finance on
Matters Concerning the Continued Deferral of Some Taxes
and Fees for Medium, Small and Micro Manufacturing
Enterprises [2022] No. 17 ( (BIRF #5483 - B BT B
BEET NI EEECEARNLO R EETHZIED
NE) [2022] %175), from 1 September 2022, those
medium-sized manufacturing enterprises that have
enjoyed deferral in payment of 50% of taxes and fees and
small and micro manufacturing enterprises that have
deferred payment of all taxes and fees under the
Announcement of the State Taxation Administration and
the Ministry of Finance on Relevant Matters Concerning
Extending the Deferral of Some Taxes and Fees for
Medium, Small and Micro Manufacturing Enterprises, will
be granted another four months of grace period upon the
expiration of the previous deferment period.

11 FBHEX (&)
(b) HEEFREH ([HEFRSE

Bil)

A B UG A B9 I AR O A A TR R TR
rwallice 2 S =N i e
MRBEBITHEFE - REEZT
—=F+-—A=+—HLFE XK
A B 7E B B A L B B A Bl 78
25% (ZF = —4F :25% ) f i &
BN EFTER -

BE(RREHER M ERIBER
B35 3 oh /N B A B AR B AR
PIMEBBBEEMNAEL) [2022] F
17% BZZE__FNA—HE:
B (BERFEELARD BRI EN
BUEZE R/ EEEEEBHNE
PTHEEBREENLE) ZX
50% SE AR AT B P R BRE b 2
ME 2 IEHBNTE /MR R E
¥ FLERCEHBRE  BE T4
EARERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(c)

PRC withholding income tax

According to the CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax on
dividends received/receivable will be levied on the PRC
companies’ immediate holding companies established out
of the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty arrangement between the PRC and
the jurisdiction of the foreign immediate holding
companies and simultaneously certain conditions are
satisfied.

PRC withholding income tax has been provided for the
amounts the Group expect Mainland China subsidiaries to
distribute these profits in the foreseeable future. As at 31
December 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB1,800,000 (2022: RMB1,800,000) have been
recognised for the withholding tax that would be payable
on remitted earnings of PRC subsidiaries of the Group
amounting to RMB18,000,000 (2022: RMB18,000,000).

No PRC withholding income tax has been provided for the
remaining earnings which will be retained in Mainland
China for expansion of the Group’s operation. As at 31
December 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB26,119,000 (2022: RMB23,382,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax that would be payable
on unremitted earnings of PRC subsidiaries of the Group
amounting to RMB261,192,000 (2022: RMB233,818,000).

11 FEHEX (&)

(c)

PEEANREH

REBEEEMSTOE £ BRI
THHRBER RN ERER QR
BB W e % B 10% TR A
Biofirh Bl ERINE H R IER AR
AEEBERZEARB GO
I [R] B i 2 A TG A - B A) 3
KE B R -

B AEEERRAIER KRR EH
WM B A R e D IRZE & A
CEFHIET RENMEREE R
—E_=F+_A=+—H &*&%
& /9 A B B B8~ R B B A A FE D
A AR #18,000,0007T (= F — —
F: AR #18,000,0007T) ' B R
HHEEZEZMEMREBEEARE
1,800,000 (Z T = —F: AR
1,800,0007T °

BEE LR T B FET IR BITE 0 FR 1S
MEE ZERBINSREEFEA
HMAEAEBRBETEE - R _F
—=%+=-A=+—8 AK£EH
FRE B A B R BE AR A S TR
A ARKE261,192,000T (= F
— 4 : AR#¥233,818,0007T) ' &
MRAHBECHMSHABARKE
26,119,000t (—ZFE=——F : ARK
23,382,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11 FSHEX(®)

(c) PRC withholding income tax (Continued) () HEBARAES (&)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs 7R & B B P15 B AT A B e B
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the HEERGEEEENEANEE
statutory tax rate applicable to profit of the consolidated MESLMNERSEAUNTEE:

entities as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BZE+=-A=1t—HLLEE
2023 2022

—g== =

=

RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Profit before income tax bR TS 7 A& Al 21,146 103,763

Tax calculated at the PRC statutory tax &2 BIAER K 25%

rate of 25% (2022:25%) (ZZ=—F : 25%)58
Z A 5,287 25,941

Tax effects of: MBTE
— Impact of different tax rates at a — TRIFHI R A 2= 7

different tax regime T 503 566
— Expenses not deductible forincome  — FLAT{SFR M & B9~ A]

tax purpose R 2 413 604
— Tax benefit (i) — FHIEEE() (1,191) (3,296)
— Tax losses for which no deferred — WER I ERIELAS

income tax asset was recognised HEEMTIAEE 233 550
— Additional deduction on research and — BLATEE B 32 B9 ANET IR

development expenses (722) (443)
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised — B8 5t Bl R #ERR 2 FiJH

tax losses &8 (870) (86)
— Tax filing difference for prior year — FFEHmNER - (289)
Tax charge THIAZ 3,653 23,547
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
(c) PRC withholding income tax (Continued)

(i) In accordance with the Circular of the Ministry of
Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on
Issues concerning Implementing the Enterprise
Income Tax Incentive Catalogue for Comprehensive
Utilization of Resources Cai Shui [2008] No. 47 ( <&
BE BERBBRBENMITERGEaNMALE
ST EBEE A BRENBA) B5i[2008] 47
=), an enterprise, which uses the raw materials
under the catalogue to produce recycled resource
products under the catalogue and the products
meet the national or industrial standards, is entitled
to incentive tax arrangement such that 90% of the
sales revenue of the products is subject to the
calculation of the taxable income. The Group's sales
of pyritic concentrate qualify for the incentive tax
arrangement and therefore 10% of the Group’s
revenue from sales of pyritic concentrate was
exempted from the taxable income of the Group in
the calculation of CIT during the years.

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the years.

11 FIS®iRX (@)

(c)

PEEHRER (8)

() HRE(IERI BRRBED
ARATEREEMARE
EHESEEABEREN
A B E[2008]475% - 1 %
A B BEAKRMEEER
BANBLEEREM BEM
HEBRBRERITERRE 7]
ERXRBRBEBLE BEMH
& W E H90% 5T A &R B K
A AEBHEMBRET A MR
BRBRZH Bt £5tHd
EFEHE ARERFAHE
EMBEA K 10% K-
AR B R HORR

12 BRER

(a)

2K

BRERANTEBEARBEE
ABEGENBRAFANESETER
P N 7 19 BT H o

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2023 2022

Profit attributable to owners of the KRB ER A B G T

Company (RMB’000) (ARETFTT)

Weighted average number of ordinary & 217 % @ % H0#E 15 #4

shares in issue

—E-=F —=E=-=

17,493 80,216

1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

Basic earnings per share (RMB) BRERRF(ARKETT)

0.017 0.080
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE

12

13

14

114

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
diluted earnings per share presented is the same as the
basic earnings per share as there were no instruments
outstanding that could have a dilutive effect on the
Company’s ordinary shares.

DIVIDEND

No final dividend was recommended for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 June
2022, a final dividend of HKD0.0189 (equivalent to
approximately RMB0.0162) per share was declared, amounting
to a total of HKD18.9 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB16.1 million) out of the Company’s share premium account
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

12

13

14

BREF (&)
(b) #%

BE_T_=FR-_FT-_—_F+—
A=Z1t—BLFE 27N EHRE
BRENESREAXRNBNER AR
W EBITHEIN T AT HARF
TRBEREEE -

iz 2.

BERZBE_T_=—FR-_F_—
TZA=T— Htigzifi%ﬁﬂxﬁw

EARRR-_EBE-_—F#xA=-+mELE
THRERFAE F RBE_T_—F
+Z A=+ HIEFESRRHKREE
f%0.0189% 7T (M E RN A A R#0.0162
o) A HEI189BEEB T (HERHOAR
¥16.1HE ) °

EHEEERHEERR
(a) REEMBRARKBERNEE

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2023 2022
—E—-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE

Land use rights o b fR A A 77,406 79,582
Leased properties HEMZE - 360
77,406 79,942

Lease liabilities HESE

Leased properties HEWE
— Current — e - (608)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

14 FRAEEEREESEE (B

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REEHBRARBEIANESEHE
statement of financial position (Continued) (&)

RIEBE_=FR T - _FNFEHA

Movements in right-of-use assets in 2023 and 2022 are

analysed as follows: BEEBSHOMMAT :
Land use Leased
rights properties Total
T AR HEXE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—HF—H 24,742 827 25,569
Additions NE 56,750 - 56,750
Exchange differences EHZE=R - 44 44
Depreciation (Note 8) e (BIsES) (1,910) (511) (2,421)
As at 31 December 2022 RZE_—
+=-ZA=+—8 79,582 360 79,942
At 1 January 2023 R-ZBE—-_=F—H—H 79,582 360 79,942
Exchange differences HEHZER - 2 2
Depreciation (Note 8) & (FH7E8) (2,176) (362) (2,538)
As at 31 December 2023 A S—
+=—A=+—H 77,406 - 77,406

The Group’s land use rights comprise leases of the factory
sites of Shandong Jinjia and HC Mining located at Laizhou
city of Shandong Province, the PRC.

The estimated useful life of the Group's land use rights is
determined to be 50 years which is the best estimate of
the useful life based on the normal terms of land use right
leases in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, land use rights of the Group
with a total net book value of RMB5,541,000 (31
December 2022: RMB5,696,000), RMB15,914,000 (31
December 2022: RMB16,238,000) and RMB7,654,000 (31
December 2022: nil) were pledged as security for long-
term bank borrowings, short-term bank borrowings and
long-term borrowings under finance lease arrangement of
the Group, respectively.

AEBH LT (E REREBAER
2 50 AP B L 3R & 2N T Y TR S 3 AR
MiEE -

ARER B 1 b 5 R ME O i 51 R 2 R 4
HEE /RS0F EAREBEFE L
Mo PR E — ARG AT (& 4R
HEy S AE A5

R-ZZTE-_=fF+-A=+—H8 &K
SEREmFEREAARK
5,541,000t (ZE -+ A
=+—H: AR®S5,696,0007T) * A
R#15914,000c (ZE——F+ =
A=+—H: AK%®16,238,0007T)
¥ AR #7,654,000 (&= —

+—A=+—H: BN FERE
EoREBEASRBRITER &
HRTERERAEERERELH
TREEFROER-
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14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 14 FHESERHEESS (B
(Continued)

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REREHMBRRREINEH
statement of financial position (Continued) (&)
In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2023, no v BE_ZFT=_=F+=A
land use rights of the Group (31 December 2022: net =+—HIEFE" $Eli’[ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ
book value of RMB15,574,000) was pledged to secure the THERE(ZE__F+=A
borrowings of third parties. Further details are set out in =+t —H EEFEARR
Note 33. 15,574,0007T) {E B % = J7 (AR EV 2

R — FRIFENKIFE33 -

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) REEL2HKRREIANSHE
statements of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—-BHLEE

2023 2022
—E-= — T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR AREFTT
Cost of sales 5 BN 393 393
Administrative expenses THAX 1,865 1,907
2,258 2,300
Interest expenses (included in MBS (GEAF K A)
finance cost) (Note 10) (FFsE10) 10 28
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the HE-Z-_=F+-HA=+—Hlt
depreciation on Land use rights amounting to FE-THMEREFTENARE
approximately RMB280,000 (year ended 31 December 280,0007T (B Z—ZE - —_F+_H
2022: RMB121,000) was capitalised on qualifying assets . =+—HBILFE: AR¥121,0007T)

EREEBEEENE-

The total cash outflow for leases during the years ended 31 BHE-ZT-_=F+-HA=+—H1t

December 2023 was RMB620,000 (2022: RMB331,000). FE - HEMNBeRLBBEAAR
620,000 (T - —F: AR#
331,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% BERKRE

Buildings Machineries

BF
RMB'000
ARBTT

e
RMB'000
ARBTT

Furniture
fixtures and
equipment
EE&£E
ET ]
RMB'000
ARETT

Vehicles

it
RMB'000
ARBTT

Construction
in progress

ERIR
RMB'000
ARETT

Total

it
RMB'000
ARETT

As at 1 January 2022 R=B-=f-f-

Cost A 112,788 42,398 4214 8,104 = 167,504
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (13,955) (10,720) (2,243) (1,967) = (28,885)
Net book amount FEFE 98,833 31,678 1,971 6,137 - 138,619
Year ended 31 December #HZE=-Z-—£+=F#

2022 =t-HILEE
Opening net book amount ~ F#IERMEFE 98,833 31,678 1,971 6,137 = 138,619
Additions NE 1,334 47 214 1,505 192,427 195,527
Transfer upon completion ~ FEAKIAER 22,440 = = = (22,440) =
Disposals HE - - - (2,151) = (2,151)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (fizs) (5.238) (3,739) (586) (677) - (10,240)
Others Hfth 1,258 (1,258) = = = =
Closing net book amount ~ EXRBEFE 118,627 26,728 1,599 4814 169,987 321,755
As at31 December2022 ~ R=B-_%+=R
=+-H
Cost XA 137,820 41,187 4,428 6,816 169,987 360,238
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZiHHE (19,193) (14,459) (2,829) (2,002) - (38,483)
Net book amount EEFE 118,627 26,728 1,599 4814 169,987 321,755
Year ended 31 December #HZE=B=-=%+=f
2023 =t-HLFE
Opening net book amount ~ FANEREFE 118,627 26,728 1,599 4,814 169,987 321,755
Additions RE 1 729 527 2,354 74,389 78,170
Transfer upon completion TER fR B 64,499 121,084 3,779 493 (189,855) -
Disposals HE - (200) - (1,294) - (1,494)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (Wit 8) (6,059) (6,009) (740) (763) - (1357)
Closing net book amount ~ ERREFE 177,238 142,332 5,165 5,604 54,521 384,860
Asat31December2023 ~ R-¥-=%+2f
=+-H
Cost s 202,490 162,678 8,734 7,869 54,521 436,292
Accumulated depreciation  Z&HHTE (25,252) (20,346) (3,569) (2,265) - (51,432)
Net book amount FEFE 177,238 142,332 5,165 5,604 54,521 384,860
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

118

(a) Depreciation expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is included
in the following categories in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income:

15 W% BERSKE(®
(a) HEEH

ME - BELREFERGSEZE
Was ket AA TR -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-BHLEE

2023 2022

—=_-= —=E_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETIT
Cost of sales SHE KA 9,377 6,856
Administrative expenses THAX 3,905 3,209
Total @t 13,282 10,065

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
depreciation on construction vehicles amounting to
approximately RMB289,000 (year ended 31 December
2022: RMB175,000) was capitalised on qualifying assets.

As at 31 December 2023, buildings of the Group with net
book value of RMB2,992,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB3,300,000) and RMB49,301,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB51,147,000) were pledged to secure long-term and
short-term bank borrowings of the Group (Note 29).

The Group's subsidiary, Shandong Jinjia Environmental
Co., Ltd. (“Shandong Jinjia”) obtained a number of
borrowings from certain finance lease institutions through
sales and leaseback arrangements (Note 29), whereby
certain machineries of Shandong Jinjia were sold and
leased back over twenty-four months lease terms.
Shandong Jinjia has the option to purchase the
machineries on completion of the leases at nominal
values. During the lease term and before the exercise of
repurchase options at the expiry of lease term, such
machineries are effectively pledged as security for the
borrowings and are restricted for pledge or disposal unless
leasors’ prior consent is obtained. As at 31 December 2023,
machineries with net book value of RMB57,123,000 (31
December 2022: nil) were under this restriction.

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—H1t
FE - BEEHMEDARE
289,000 (HE=ZE=-_—_F+—=A
=+—HIFE: AR¥175,0007T)
EREEREEERNL-

RZEZ=F+ZHA=1+—H'RK
ESERAMFEDNAAREK
2,992,000 (ZE=-—%F+—- A
=+—H: AR#%3,300,0007T) &
AR#49,301,000L (= F = —

+=—A=+—8: AR#¥H51,147,000
TR EFERBIEALAEE RS
KRG HASRIT B RA AR (F17E29) °

AEBHBARILREERES
A ([LUERESE])EREEED
ZHE (MIFE29) (it TRV E T E WS
BEETER Bl WESEET
22—+ {E AR E R AR -
WRE=AENHE TKEEEE
BEME NEHEHALRAEEH
i o B 17 {5 (2] B 332 PR A AT - o S
BER FEEBIEAERNOER
I PR HI A 2k & - B FEERS AR
ANBEREBE - R_TE-_=F+=
A=Z+—H EEFEAARK
57,123,000t (=2 = =—F += A
=+—H:8)ESIZ IR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H#E=—Z=-=F+=-A=+—HILtFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Depreciation expenses (Continued)

In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2023, no
buildings of the Group (31 December 2022: net book
value of RMB40,804,000) was pledged to secure the
borrowings of third parties. Further details are set out in
Note 33.

Revaluation, depreciation methods and useful
lives

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) are stated at historical cost less depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting year/period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings including structures for storage of 3-30 years
cyanide tailings and pyritic concentrate

Machinery 5-10 years

Furniture fixtures and equipment 5 years

Vehicle 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
39.7).

15 V¥ BERRE (&)

(a)

(b)

wEER (&

oy - 2T _=F+_A4
=+ —HIEFE KNEEWEIKHE
BF (ZEZ_=ZF+=—H=+—8:
BRIE R (E A R #40,804,0007T ) fE A
FoTEBAROER-E—FTFHBH
E/\\M-JLHJI_33 ®

EfR-TERERUERFH

ME - BEMRE (EEZTREEIN)
RIE L AR & ) REFREE B
(IF )5I| ik  BE S AR 7S 6 18 W s 7%
FHEEREENRX -

HIZRAMEE 8% I8 B R A R K
REBENZ A EERALRKE RZARB
MR A BE Al SEX st ERRBL T - 75
B ABREREEXBRR/BIULE
E (AER) - P 1EB & E M E[
MOMEEENEERLLHER-
AR ERREREELNR
EEE/HERBEENGK-

WEEREREAFE RATEE
A R F A D B AS (H1 5 R &
BfE) :

BF (BERERLEE 3ZE30F
RIGAEENEED)

ees 5&E 104

EEEER&E 54F

il 104

BEMNFSKEERAIERFHNE
BERREHLFHEERE-

WEEERBEESREGIkE S
ARG EERTDEMREER
Al UG El 58 (KY5E39.7) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15 X - BERRE (&)

(b) Revaluation, depreciation methods and useful (b) Ef-TESERAEHATEH
lives (Continued) (&)

HEWRERBEBIZAEREERR

BEWEEETE Wit ABz-o

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss.

ERIRERETHYER ERAK
R EEERIIER 2RERIEK
AREMEEKNAN - ERZIRRE
ESER R A HEEFERA A TIE -

Construction in progress represents properties under
construction and is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. This includes cost of construction and
other direct costs. Construction in progress is not
depreciated until such time as the assets are completed
and are ready for operational use.

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2021

16 BEWE

Buildings
BF

RMB’000
ARBTT

Cost B 142,565

Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (12,974)
Net book amount REFE 129,591

Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_Z__F+-A=+t—HLEFE

Opening net book amount FYEREFE 129,591

Depreciation (Note 8) & (BIEs) (4,386)
Closing net book amount FRIREFEE 125,205

As at 31 December 2022 R=B-_—F+=-H=+—H

Cost [DEN 142,565

Accumulated depreciation R E (17,360)
Net book amount REAE 125,205

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_Z_=F+"A=+—HLFE

Opening net book amount FYREFE 125,205

Depreciation (Note 8) #res (FizEs) (4,386)
Closing net book amount FRREFEE 120,819
As at 31 December 2023 R-EBE-_=%+=-A=+—H

Cost B 142,565

Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (21,746)
Net book amount BREFE 120,819
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H&EZ=-Z ==

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(a)

As at 31 December 2023, investment properties of the
Group with net book value of RMB68,748,000 (31
December 2022: RMB71,398,000) and RMB51,343,000
(31 December 2022: RMB53,256,000) were pledged to
secure long-term and short-term bank borrowings of the
Group (Note 29).

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties were approximately
RMB139,958,000 (2022: RMB146,410,000). The fair
value as at 31 December 2023 was estimated by the
management of the Group with reference to a
professional valuation by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, a
professional valuer. The Group’s investment properties
were warehouses for storage of hazardous waste (Note
31) and located at north of Dadongzhuang Village, Shahe
Town, Laizhou City, Yantai, Shangdong Province, the PRC.

Valuation techniques

Income approach is adopted and takes into account the
current rents of the property interests and the reversionary
potentials of the tenancies, term yield and reversionary
yield are then applied respectively to derive the market
value of the property, there were no changes to the
valuation techniques for each of the two investment
properties during the years.

F+A=+—HILEE

16 REY= (&)

(a)

RZE-_=F+-_A=+—H &
EEEFERFED N AEARE
68,748,000t (=T == +=H
=+—H: AR¥71,398,0007T) &
AR #51,343,000C (ZE ==
+=-A=+—H: AR#¥H53,256,000
TL)MREYHEEEBIERAEE
RHI R 8 EER 1T fE SR A9 R (BT &
29) °

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 'K
EEREMENATFEHNAEARE
139,958,000t (— T - —F: AR
#5146,410,0007C) cR=_ZE—_=F
+Z A=+t —HHRAFEALEER
EREELX2EEEGEMBERTE
RAFETHNEXRHEEE A&
BERNEENERGRESEEDN
BE (31 R ILEREAE
ST HMN T EARRFAEFNAIL o

B Al

AEBERBKRAE X5 RWE
aRAHES mMEKYHERHE
HMMESREN HHEEHRXRER
WaHKABHMENTE: FR M
EREMESENBERNEES
o

202343 @ mERBERAEARAT 121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4, AT

e ISR M

_*_‘
N

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16 REWE (&)
(b)  (Continued) b)y (&)
Valuation techniques (Continued) fRERM (&)
Information about fair value measurements of investment BEFEAEATABREAZIE (5
properties using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) is ERAENREMERNTEFE
as follows: RERNT :
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022
—E== —ZE--
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Fair value (RMB’000) RHEANRETT) 139,958 146,410
Unobservable inputs TRTER 228 AR
— Term yield — A E R S 5.0% perannum B4 5.0% per annum
— Reversion yield — ERWERE FF5.5% perannum B 5.5% per annum
— Annually market rent RMB/ — FEMHHESE
square meter/annum) (NR¥EEFHXK/F) 11-22 11-22
(0 Rental income relating to the lease of investment (0 BREVWHEBEEFBENHESWAG

properties was included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

ANFarmlaR FENT:

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLEE

2023
—g-=
RMB’000
ARET T
Revenue &
— rental income(Note 5(b)) — A& WA (KF5E5(b)) 13,519

2022
—— —

=

RMB'000
ARET T

14,507

The Group leases investment properties under operating
leases. The operating leases are estimated to have a lease
period of 10 years. Details of the lease arrangement are
set out in Note 31.

RHFFH BN MIEE3T ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E=—Z—=F+=-A=+—HILtFE
17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BREE
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—A~
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBT T
Software g
As at the beginning of the year F7]
Cost DN 34 34
Accumulated amortisation HETEEE (27) (20)
Net book amount BREFE 7 14
Opening net book amount FHREFE 7 14
Additions INE 36 -
Amortisation (Note 8) R (MsE8) (13) (7)
Closing net book amount FARREFE 30 7
As at the end of the year FR
Cost A 70 34
Accumulated amortisation RET#EE (40) (27)
Net book amount IREEE 30 7
Amortisation of the intangible assets was included in B EEEHEN G M RERFTATT
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of B -

comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE
18 PREPAYMENT FOR NON-CURRENT ASSETS 18 FRBEEMNFESE

As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2023 2022

—E_=F —E -
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT

Prepayment for purchase of equipment and B8 B 3% 45 & /R B M) FE (2008

vehicle 782 2,653
Prepayment for construction in progress FFRIEMENRIE 4,997 3,748
5,779 6,401
19 INVENTORIES 19 FE
As at 31 December
Rn+=A=+—H
2023 2022
—Eg-= —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETTT
Raw materials R 5,569 382
Work-in-progress ERm 248 527
Finished goods IR mn 28,531 17,573
Total Bt 34,348 18,482
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the cost HEZZ -_=FR-ZT=_=_F+=A
of inventories recognised in “cost of sales” amounted to =T+ —HRLEFE - ERMEEKRA]ER
RMB6,776,000 and RMB32,656,000, respectively. " 1FE KA 7 B & A K #6,776,0007T &

A K #32,656,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 20 REREINETMTHE
The Group has the following financial instruments: AEBBEEATEMIA:

As at 31 December

R+=—BA=+-—H
2023 2022
—_E_= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Assets at amortised cost REBERATIRNEE
Trade receivables (Note 21) B 5 EWRIE (T 21) 41,059 74,329
Other receivables excluding non-financial ~ E A EWFE (T EIEIES R
assets (Note 22) BE)(fizE22) 12,922 33,738
Amount due from a related party FEUR B85 5 FR0E (B 35()
(Note 35(c)) 620 _
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24) Be MREEEY (MIFE24) 76,119 59,160
130,720 167,227
Liabilities at amortised cost REERITENERS
Trade payable (Note 27) B 5 RaE (B 27) 3,882 9,088
Other payables excluding non-financial HAth A FIE (TR EESH
liabilities (Note 28) B &) (fizE28) 55,695 56,766
Amounts due to related parties (Note 35(c)) F& < BaB 75 5138 (Bt 7E 35(c)) 2,603 205
Borrowings (Note 29) B8 (FizE29) 117,179 55,740
Lease liabilities (Note 14) HEaEPE14) - 608
Other liabilities (Note 31) Hiv & & (5E31) 55,762 106,931
235,121 229,338
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

21 TRADE RECEIVABLES

126

21 EZEWRE

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—8
2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETT
Trade receivables B 5 WA
— related to provision of gold mine — B ETEEEREYRIE
hazardous waste treatment services Pk 7% 48 78 40,234 57,508
— related to sales of pyritic concentrate — B ERRIETRE A - 16,821
— related to sales of sulfuric acid and — HEHERERENEH
electricity 825 -
41,059 74,329
Less: provision for impairment B R ERE (417) (2,856)
40,642 71,473
(i) Ageing analysis of the trade receivables (i) ESBWAREBERERD M

The trade receivables represent receivable relating to
provision of gold mine hazardous waste treatment services
and receivable relating to sales of pyritic concentrate. The
credit terms grant to customers are generally from 30 to
60 days.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of
the trade receivables based on the invoice date is as
follows:

B RN EEHERR SRR ERE
Y 5 22 AR 755 48 B8 A0 e Ui Sk TE R B 6
EMBRAEANERRE-ETE
FHEEHBEE A30E60H -

RZE_=Fr-_FT_—_F+_-A
=t+—H REZBHINTNE S
FEUCHIEBRBR DAT AN ¢

As at 31 December

W+=B=+—8

2023 2022

—E_-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AREFTT
1-90 days 1290 H 10,088 22,076
91-180 days 91ZE180H 7,612 23,651
181-270 days 181 %270 R 16,149 14,127
271-360 days 271 %360 B 7.210 807
over 360 days #3360 B - 13,668
41,059 74,329
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21 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

21 ESERAE (%)

(ii) Impairment of the trade receivables (i)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit loss which was a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and retention
receivables as prescribed by IFRS 9. Details of the expected
loss rates based on the payment profile of sales are set

out in Note 3.1 b (ii).

The movements in provision for impairment of trade

receivables were as follows:

B2 EWRERE

AEERABOEFTIREREER
1B RIZERM R E ERFHRR
E LT A B 5 R RR & e M AR
BemEneRBNERRE -5
RAR IR 35 & BV (4 SIB RS O TR
R R - FHIFEMPIFES. boii)

BHRUEREREZRIT

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H

2023 2022

—E:-= o _F

RMB’000 RMB‘000

AR%T ARBT T

As at 1 January R—H—H 2,856 1,334
Loss allowance recognised in profit or FARBRERNEIEEE

loss during the year (2,439) 1,522

As at year end RER 417 2,856

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximated
their fair values as at the balance sheet dates and were

dominated in RMB.

.5 50 SR (R A
8 &AM A TFEE LA
RMHME-

22 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 22 HpEWERERANKE

As at 31 December
R+=—B=+-—H
2023 2022

—E-=

RMB’000
ARMT T

—E-—F
RMB‘000
AREFIT

Other receivable in relation to trading of EAZEEIEE 58 B8 H Ab U
magnesite materials (Note 6) A (Pf5E6) 5,380 28,025
Prepayments for purchase of raw materials, R EHREETE KA -« B8

transportation cost and other expenses BN B B B 32 11,847 21,629
Value-added tax receivables I {E T FE WRIE 23,714 15,912
Performance bonds and deposits for bidding 1%41Z & #71R t4 M AR 75 £ 2,875 4,402
Amount due from a related party JrE U B RS 75 5B (B 5 35(c))

(Note 35(c)) 620 _
Deposits with financial institutions CRIREZ S 3,500 =
Others EHAfth 1,167 1,311

49,103 71,279

202343 @ mERBRAEARAT 127



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS + %

e ISR M

_*_A
w A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

22

23

128

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
(Continued)

The deposits with financial institutions represented the deposits
paid to the financial institutions when the Group received long-
term borrowings under finance lease arrangement (Note 29).

The carrying amounts of other receivables approximated their
fair values as at the balance sheet dates and were dominated in
RMB.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

22

23

H it WK R AN RRE (40)

CRBELZSEAREREREHEER
BFURBREHERE XN TREBNR
& (KIFE29) -

HiBRWKENREERERNEERAR
REBNAFERE LAARETE-

RAFEFAHMEZEWENS
mEE
As at 31 December
R+t=B=+—8

2023 2022

— = — —

=

RMB’000
AREET T

—g-=
RMB’000
AR®T T

Debt investments at FVOCI RAFEFAEMEZEKEN

BERRE
Current assets — bank acceptance notes MENEE— RITERKEEE
At 1 January m—A—AH 2,350 7,130
Additions NE 992 -
Disposals k= - (4,780)
As at year end RER 3,342 2,350

The Group's financial assets at FVOCI comprised bank
acceptance notes, where the contractual cash flows are solely
principal and the objective of the Group’s business model is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets. Bank acceptance notes are classified as current
assets due to short maturity.

On disposal of financial assets at FVOCI, any related balance
within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

AEEZAFEFARMEZAEENS
MEEBRRITAALRRE HANRER
TERATHEARAEERBUEREHOR
ERMHEEREEMRB T NED XK
BB R RETEALERNIBER
MO BARBEE-

HEZEFRAFEALMEE KRN
CREER BATEAAREEYE
REANTAABESREN Y BERE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 BERBEEEEY

As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—H
2023 2022

—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREFIT

Cash in hand and at bank RITFRKRIRE 76,119 59,160

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the cash and bank balances RZEZ_=ZFR_FT_—_F+=HA
were denominated in the following currencies: =+—H -RERBITHERATINE RS
& :
As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+—H
2023 2022
—E_= ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
HKD BT 3,649 1,421
RMB AR 72,278 57,550
usD ETT 192 189
76,119 59,160
25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 25 BARKRGEE
Number of shares Nominal value
BHEE [iEEN
HK$
BT
Authorised: ERE
As at 1 January 2022 and RZEZ—F—H—HUK
31 December 2022 and 2023 TECER =&
+=-—A=+—H 200,000,000,000 2,000,000,000
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25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM (Continued)

25 BARKRMDIEE @)

Number of Share Share
shares capital premium Total
RBEE (V&N B4 RE o
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT AREBFL
Issued: [k S
As at 1 January 2022 WZE-__F—HF—H 1,000,000,000 8,208 534,097 542,305
Dividend distribution (Note 13) PR B 2R (3£ 13) - - (16,132) (16,132)
As at 31 December 2022 i S
+=-A=+—H 1,000,000,000 8,208 517,965 526,173
As at 1 January 2023 and RZZEZ=%—H—H
31 December 2023 P S——
+=—F=+—8H 1,000,000,000 8,208 517,965 526,173
26 OTHER RESERVES 26 Hbhf#E

130

Statutory
Capital surplus Translation
reserve reserve reserve Total
BERfEE ZERSHEE BRERE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
As at 1 January 2022 R=-E==
—HA—H (315,639) 15,087 - (300,552)
Currency translation differences AN & =58 - = 1,349 1,349
As at 31 December 2022 N-—E=-—
+=HA=+—H (315,639) 15,087 1,349 (299,203)
As at 1 January 2023 R=-B=-=
—HA—H (315,639) 15,087 1,349 (299,203)
Profit appropriation to statutory & B =R E S
reserves - 4 - 4
Currency translation differences AN & =58 - - 80 80
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ-=
+=B=+—H (315,639) 15,091 1,429 (299,119)
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26 OTHER RESERVES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the aggregate paid-in capital of
the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment costs in
subsidiaries of the Company during the Reorganization.

Statutory surplus reserves

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC shall make
appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable
reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors of
the relevant PRC subsidiaries.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Articles of Association of the PRC subsidiaries
of the Group, they are required to appropriate 10% of the
annual statutory net profits of the PRC subsidiaries, after
offsetting any prior years' losses as determined under the
PRC accounting standards, to the statutory reserves fund
before distributing the net profit. When the balance of
the statutory reserves fund reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC subsidiaries, any further appropriation
is at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory reserves
fund can be used to offset prior years' losses, if any, and
may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares
to shareholders in proportion to their existing
shareholding, provided that the remaining balance of the
statutory reserves fund after such issue is not less than
25% of registered capital.

27 TRADE PAYABLES

Trade and bill payables

26 Hftf#E (50

(a)

(b)

BEAXf#E
BEARFBRERCOBBNBEARNESR
BAREHE WEBARRARAINB
NEIMRERRANE

EERRRE

REBEHBEBEBEREMER N F
R BEEARME QR ZAZD A
ANEARESTEEENTBEK
PRGN D BETA D IRFEFHESR

RIB T B EBEEKER UEAR
SETEHERR 2 ARERAR
TEMERRREBEFERTE
BRI EBENEMEERE KA
ED RGN 27 A HFRIEEL
ME10% D EEEAERBER B
EERBESNARERDRNE
N AIFE & AR #950% B - (E{A] 3 —
R R BB IRE A E
BESATANEHAEFENER
(E) RASBARA TS
RRER A B B L ) A B SR 37T
Mo EAEREESNABERT
BHNHRBEIEINEMEARD
25% °

27 BESEMARIE

BHRNFTAMENRE

As at 31 December
R+=-—HA=+-—H
2023
—m——

e

RMB’000
AR®T R

2022

RMB’000
ARETIT

— related to transportation costs — ERIE Sy X AN HE 1,266 6,547
— related to raw materials — HREMEE 2,616 2,541
3,882 9,088
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE
27 TRADE PAYABLES (Continued) 27 BEZENREH)
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date BEZEZAHNE ZENFERR DT
is as follows: e

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= —F_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETT
1-30 days 12 30H 2,509 8,994
31-60 days 31£60H 586 69
61-90 days 61%£90H 536 -
91-180 days 91 %180 H 218 12
Over 180 days #8180 H 33 13
3,882 9,088
The carrying amounts of trade payables approximated their fair BORMNFENEREEEREEARE
values as at the balance sheet dates and were dominated in ZBEMNATEESE WAARKEE-.
RMB.
28 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28 HttERREREHNER
As at 31 December
B+=A=+—H
2023 2022
—_E_= —_FE-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETT
Payables for purchase of property, BEVE  BEIIENERS
plant and equipment FRIE 36,425 30,796
Other payables to third parties (Note 6) Hit et 58 =5 58 (Mt 6) 16,004 23,224
Other taxes payable H e FIA 13,778 16,869
Employee benefits payables 1B B @A 3RIE 4,769 4,018
Amounts due to related parties (Note 35(c)) & {<F B8 77 778 (Fff 5% 35(c)) 2,603 205
Others HAh 3,266 2,746
Total HEt 76,845 77,858
The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals HMENREREFERANEEERSE
approximated their fair values as at the balance sheet dates and EBERBBENATERSE AARKE
were denominated in RMB. Be
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H#E=—Z=-=F+=-A=+—HILtFE

29 BORROWINGS 29 &R

As at 31 December
R+=—A=+-—H

2023 2022

—E_= — ==

RMB’000
ARBT R

RMB’000
ARETT

Non-current: JERE :
Long term bank borrowings, secured and ~ KHJIRITE - GHEE M

guaranteed BER 26,800 27,840
Borrowing under finance lease arrangement @& EZHEE FMER 55,479 =
Less: Current portion of long-term bank B REIRITIERENEREE o

borrowings, secured and guaranteed BB B ER (200) (27,840)
Current portion of borrowing under finance @& EZHEIE ™ E R EIHA

lease arrangement i (32,252) -
Total non-current borrowings FEMENE TR AE 49,827 =
Current: B
Short term bank borrowings, secured and %2 EJERTT(E R - A K

guaranteed BER 34,900 27,900
Current portion of long-term bank RHRITEFRENEAZL S

borrowings, secured and guaranteed BB & B ER 200 27,840
Current portion of borrowing under finance @& EZHEIE (3R BIHR

lease arrangement B 32,252 -
Total current borrowings mENE AR 67,352 55,740
Total borrowings HER 117,179 55,740

@ M-FE-_=Ft+-"A=t+—H8'A&
SENRAREHMRITERARE
B eyt A (MaE14) W2
B K% (FIEE15) A RIRE Y%
(PEE16) IR -

(@  The Group's long-term and short-term bank borrowings as
at 31 December 2023 were secured by the Group's land
use rights (Note 14), property, plant and equipment (Note
15) and investment properties (Note 16).

R-ZZB_=F+-A=t+—H8'&
SEREBEERHE THRBER
NERANEEN e Ak (M
14) - #2s (FHEE15) /EEA XA
SENMBEAR EERERR &
RAEE 7 (BHRE35) ERIES FF

The Group's long-term borrowings under finance lease
arrangement as at 31 December 2023 were secured by
the pledge of the Group’s land use rights (Note 14),
machineries (Note 15), and supported by guarantees
provided by the Group’s subsidiary, the Controlling
Shareholder and a related party (Note 35).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE

29 BORROWINGS (Continued)

134

(b)

()

(d)

For the years ended 31 December 2023, the weighted
average effective interest rate of the bank borrowings was
3.78% (2022: 3.94%).

For the years ended 31 December 2023, borrowings
under finance lease arrangement of RMB23,479,000 and
RMB32,000,000 bore effective interest rate of 9.30% and
4.64% per annum, respectively.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current bank
borrowings approximated their fair values as at the
balance sheet dates due to their short term maturity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-current bank
borrowings and borrowings under finance lease
arrangement approximated their fair values as at the
balance sheet dates as they were carried at fixed interest
rates and the discounting impact was not material.

The Group's borrowings as at 31 December 2023 were
repayable as follows:

29 fERK (4

(b)

HE-_Z-_=+-_AF=+—H1
FE fﬁfﬂﬂ?ﬁ\ﬁ’ﬂm%$i’]aﬁ%§ﬂ
R HB3.78% (& = —
3.94% ) °

e Z_=F+_A=+—HI1t
FE BREFELHEBETERAR
#523,479,0007T &2 A R #32,000,000
TTHERFEREDF A9.30% &
4.64% o

BHRASERNRRTEROIHA
BE HERAEREEREBRA
HORFERE

BN ANEE B HRITIER R E
MEZBEA T ERABEMEGTE
AFMBRFEIAEN REKEE
HEEABKABNQATERSE-

AEBR -_ZT_=F+-_A=+—
BEERERAT I AEE:

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—8”

2023 2022

—EC=F —_FE-_=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AREFIT
Within 1 year 1ER 67,352 55,740
1-2 years 1-24F 23,427 -
2-3 years 2-34F 26,400 =
Total FEE 117,179 55,740
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30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as

follows:

Deferred income tax assets: (a)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

30 EERBH

BERFTSHREE : (a)

EXFSREERBENDITWT

As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+-—H

2023

—g-=
RMB’000
ARBT

2022
= —

— =

RMB’000
ARETT

— to be recovered within 12 months — #1218 8 AUk E - 1,013

— to be recovered after 12 months — &R 128 Azl E 4,207 720
4,207 1,733

Deferred income tax liabilities: (b) BEEFTSREE : (b)

— to be recovered within 12 months — #&R 12188 AU E (1,485) =

— to be recovered after 12 months — #&R 1218 B & U E (3,554) (3,913)
(5,039) (3,913)

Deferred income tax liabilities — net EEFSR A EF5E (832) (2,180)

The gross movement of deferred income tax liabilities — net is

as follows:

LSV A EFRENERESHMT :

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=1t—HLEE
2023

—E2=-=

RMB’000
AR®BT T

2022
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARETIT

At the beginning of year F7) (2,180) (2,867)
Credit to consolidated statement of STAGZEEERER (FHFE11)

comprehensive income (Note 11) 1,348 687
At the end of year FR (832) (2,180)
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30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 30 EZEMEH (&)
(a) Deferred income tax assets (a) EEMEHREE
As at 31 December
Rt+t=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—E2-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
The balance comprises temporary ERBEIEA TS IEELT
differences attributable to: TREER -
Deductible tax loss I o 3,381 720
Unrealised profits — intercompany sales K& EF — ARBFE
of inventories HE 826 =
Depreciation difference of property, M BERSHETEER
plant and equipment - 70
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W IR E - 614
Accrued payroll JRE &1 555 B - 329
Total #Et 4,207 1,733
The movements in deferred income tax assets were as BEFTSTMEES ST ¢
follows:

Depreciation Unrealised
difference of profits —
property,  Impairment intercompany
plant and of trade Accrued  Deductible sales of
equipment  receivables payroll taxloss inventories

RBRER —

nx EER  E3EU CEl TR
REFEER  AEAE  EGEM BEER  BHEEE a3t
RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETT ARETL ARETL ARETR

At 1 January 2022 R=B==%-5-H (176) 44 231 - - 99
Credited to the consolidated ~ FAGZAZERER

statements of comprehensive

income 26 570 98 720 - 1,634

As at 31 December 2022 R=2=z%
tZB=t+-R 70 614 329 720 - 1733
Credited to the consolidated ARG 2ENER
statements of comprehensive
income (70) (614) (329) 2,661 826 2,474

As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
tZA=t-H - - - 3,381 826 4,207
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 30 ELEFREB (&)

(a) Deferred income tax assets (Continued) () ELEMBHEE (8)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses BEIEFTIS T E E T 5k Al BB K 2K fE
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the RN BB AEREEEERT
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is 4w g TE B R TR o
possible.
The cumulative losses of the Group with and without N B A fEwm B HE R 4 fE o B H
expiry dates are as follow: HEEBRIT:

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—~H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBFIT
Year of expiration [Em =
— 2026 — - REF - 2,103
— 2027 — ZZE_+F - 1,378
—2028 ——Z-N\F 200 -
No expiry date & m B 9,761 8,654
Total et 9,961 12,135
The tax losses incurred by subsidiaries in Hong Kong that MR (FEA 78 R AR KA BE
are not likely to generate taxable income in the EAERRBWA)EEEBEA K
foreseeable future, which can be carried forward AFEEH AR
perpetually.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—HItFE
30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 30 EEFEH (&)
(b) Deferred income tax liabilities (b) EZLEMEBHERE
As at 31 December
R+=-—B=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
The balance comprises temporary ERRBIEA TS IEENT
differences attributable to: =R
Accelerated depreciation of property, ¥ « BiE M EEIEITE
plant and equipment (3,239) (2,113)
Accrued withholding tax FEETTEHNER (1,800) (1,800)
Total HRET (5,039) (3,913)
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities were as BIEFMESFREaESEsnT
follows:

Accelerated
depreciation

of property, Accrued
plant and withholding
equipment tax Total
M- BER
REGERTE  ETEOB et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H (1,166) (1,800) (2,966)
Charged to the consolidated Bire 2 EWERNR
statements of comprehensive
income (947) = (947)
As at 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—F
+=—A=+—H (2,113) (1,800) (3,913)
Charged to the consolidated BirE 2ERERNR
statements of comprehensive
income (1,126) - (1,126)
As at 31 December 2023 R-T_=F
+=—A=+—H (3,239) (1,800) (5,039)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

31 OTHER LIABILITIES 31 HEE
As at 31 December
R+=BA=+—H
2023 2022

—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREFIT

Retention payable for construction projects (a) 22218 B K JEHRE 2 (a)

Non-current JERNER - 5,639
Warehouse lease arrangements (b) B EMEEZH (D)
(i) Advances from lessee (i) FH A 2R
— Current portion — BNEAER 9,558 12,379
— Non-current portion — JERNHAES 37,140 -
Sub-total /NET 46,698 12,379
(ii) Payables to LZ Assets (i) RS M B E kI8
Current BN &R
— First warehouse — F—fEE - 9,705
— Second warehouse — E_EE - 11,773
Non-current JEENER
— First warehouse — F—HRE 25,187 36,066
— Second warehouse — E-EE 30,575 43,748
Sub-total NET 55,762 101,292
Total Bzt 102,460 113,671
Grand total st 102,460 119,310
Presented on the statement of financial R RAKRZEN A -
position as:
Other liabilities — current portion HiuwaE — BEEH D 9,558 33,857
Other liabilities — non-current portion HihBE — ERNEIE » 92,902 85,453
102,460 119,310
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31

140

OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Retention payable for construction projects

According to the construction contracts with the
contractors of the Group's buildings, 5% or 10% of the
total payables for construction cost was set aside as
retention fund with a warranty period of 1 or 2 years from
the date of inspection for certification of completion of
the buildings.

Warehouse lease arrangements

In October and December 2018, HC Mining entered into
two gold mine hazardous waste storage warehouse lease
agreements with Laizhou City State-owned Assets
Management Company Limited (M B A EELEH
R A A],"LZ Assets”), a state-owned enterprise, for the
storage of cyanide tailings hazardous waste. Pursuant to
the lease agreements, LZ Assets advanced RMB72 million
in the fourth quarter of 2018 and RMB88 million in the
first half year of 2019, totalling RMB160 million, to HC
Mining for leases of two warehouses at an annual rental
of RMB 3.6 million from 1 November 2018 for the first
warehouse, and RMB 4.4 million from 1 January 2019 for
the second warehouse, totalling RMB 8 million per annum
(inclusive of value added tax on rental income), for a
twenty years term.

Pursuant to the lease agreements, (i) the minimum term
of the lease period shall be five years from the respective
lease commencement dates, unless the cyanide tailings
hazardous waste in the warehouses is put for tender for
detoxing treatment during the five year term, and in the
event that HC Environment won the tender, the lease
term would terminate and the future treatment fee would
then be deducted from the remaining amount of the
advanced payments made by LZ Assets, after deduction of
rental income up to the date of termination; (ii) from the
sixth year, either LZ Assets or HC Mining has the right to
terminate the lease arrangement by paying an amount
equivalent to one year rental, being RMB 8 million, as
compensation to the other party, and HC Mining will be
required to repay the remaining balance of the advances
to LZ Assets within three years, being 20% for the first
year, 30% for the second year and the remaining
repayment in the third year, from the receipt of the notice
of termination of the lease agreements.

31

\
J
—
&
\
)
\

(b)

=
(%&)

BERBEENRESE

REASEEABERINEER
REF - REMNREKKBEENS%
H10% ERREL REHAFEE
% T Al B HLE R A k2 -

i

EEEERH

RZZE-—NF+ARTZA B
BEEEELERKMNMEEEEL
EERAR ([HMNEE])FTSZIMMD
CEEEEMEEEERR  UFH
TQMEEE$WWJ@FE 5 175

EMEER_Z—NFENZE
E&:%—n¢t¥¢ﬁmﬁ%%
BERNARENBETRARKE
88EBIIL At ARKICOEE T

RAREEMERE £F—HAEN
Hem—T—-N\F+—A—Rst"

FHARKEIAET: RE_MHA
EHEEH_ZT-NF-—HA—Hi
T FHEARK44BE T A58
FARMSEE T (BREESZEAN
BER) S¥B-1T%-

REEERZ (HHELESH
L A% EMELRE B Rt

BRIFERFHRN BEANELRE
BEEEVHRLTHETRERER
2 BIRBHIRERIZ  Ags
#E AR PR R IR B H 18 A% 1 3N
EEELINBRHE(HBREER
IFEEBR A e U AR) B IR (i)
BEANFR RMNEESRABEE
ERERIEAERE EARE X
NHBRENR—FNES BARKSH
Bor EAREE MBAEEBAR

WEIRIFAERZBNE=FN"

EEDRBETRMNEE BEF
B20% % —F AE30% ME=FE
BB TR
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OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b)

Warehouse lease arrangements (Continued)

At inception of the lease arrangement in 2018, the Group
considered there is a likelihood that LZ Assets would
exercise the right to terminate the lease agreements upon
the expiry of the five years committed lease term by
December 2023, by then the Group would have an
obligation to pay back LZ Assets the remaining balances
of the advanced payments from LZ Assets, being in total
RMB112 million, representing the total advances of
RMB160 million less five years' rental income of RMB40
million and compensation of RMB8 million. Accordingly,
on initial recognition of the two warehouse lease
arrangements in October and December 2018, the Group
recorded “Other liabilities — payables to LZ Assets” of
RMB84.2 million, being the present value by discounting
the obligations to pay back LZ Assets by December 2023
of RMB112 million by instalments as mentioned above.
The discount rate applied in deriving the present value of
the amounts payable to LZ Assets was the market rate
available to the Group for similar financial instruments,
which is 4.65%.

In November 2023, the lease agreements were modified
to extend the committed and non-cancellable lease term
for another five years after the expiry of the first five-year
lease term in October and December 2023, with other
terms of the original agreements remain unchanged. The
Group accounted for the leases as a five year lease
contract at inception of the lease in 2018, and extended it
to another five years based on the modified contract
terms. According to the revised lease term, the Group
applied the same accounting treatment as the first five
years lease term. The discount rate applied in deriving the
present value of the amounts payable to LZ Assets was
the market rate available to the Group for similar financial
instruments, which is 4.2%. The Group recognised rental
income of RMB13,519,000 (2022: RMB14,507,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2023, and the resultant
payable to LZ Assets amounted to RMB55,762,000 (2022:
RMB101,292,000) as at 31 December 2023.

31 HL&E (&)

(b)

REREZRH (&)

RZE— \FHEZIRBE X
EBRAERNEER-_ZT_=F
+Z AR AEAEBEE W%
ERRETERIEAE G ENER
ERAEEEETRRMNEEESR
RMNEEMNERBBATARE
1128 8x BB RRBEARK160
BETREAFHESRAAREL
BELRkEESARKSEE L A
W RZFE-—NF+AR+ZA¥
SHEIMBRERE TR K&
Ersk [ EtmadE— BERMNEE
HE|ARMEBI2EE T BB R
TR =F+— A LD HR
RMNEEEZBARBINEE LY
BEEMBRBE-GFEEMIIMNEER
BHWRERRANBRERAEAE
EpEUE R T AR ESN TSR
R B4.65% °

R-ZZTE_=F+—F HEHHE
FEi R—E-_=F+ARk+=
AEaEAEFABEME BE#ER
O HEARBERRE MER
FENEMEREFTZE - AEBRN
- )\ FHERREERAEAR
NAERFHESY  WIRKEEER]
BHGRBEEBERAF -BEL
BRI AEERAEE AFEM
MRS RER A TEEN
HE)N & EE R IE A R B B BT B M0 B
REAAEERBEUSHRITARE
BRWBHR B42% - HE-T
=+ - A=+—HBIEE K
EEBERBALEBAARE
13,519,000 (ZZE = —F: AR
14,507,00070) MR =T = =4
+—A=+—H BELEMEINE
ERZIE A AR #55,762,0007T (=
T —4F: AR¥101,292,0007T) °
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31 OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) Warehouse lease arrangements (Continued)

Interest expenses from other liabilities — payables to LZ
Assets are recognised using the aforementioned discount
rate. The amount of interest expenses relating to the two
warehouse lease arrangements during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 were RMB4,571,000 and
RMB4,502,000, respectively (Note 10).

32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash generated from operations

31 Hth&E (%)
(b) EEHEZHE(8)

REHME E— BANEMNEERE
ORISR M b U e
HE T =K -"T-_—F+—
A=Z+—BUHFE EMBELEM
ETERNA SR SBO A
AR®A4,571,000T & AR
4,502,0007T (FfzE10) °

RaRnEEN
() BEmMBRE

Year ended 31 December

BZ+—-A=+—HLFE
2023 2022
—E-_F
RMB'000
AREFIT

32

—E-=F
RMB’000
ARET T

Profit before income tax B TS B A& 7l 21,146 103,763
Adjustments for AT FIBMEL T
— Amortisation of right-of-use assets ~ — {& PR & FE # 5

(Note 14) (ftsE14) 2,258 2,300
— Depreciation of property, plantand ~ — #1% « FE LR ETE

equipment (Note 15) (PfF5E15) 13,282 10,065
— Depreciation of investment properties — & &¥E T E (M7 16)

(Note 16) 4,386 4,386
— Amortisation of intangible assets — EREESHE(ME17)

(Note 17) 13 7
— Loss on disposal of property, plant — HEME - BEREE

and equipment and others (Note 7) FEMEE (HE7) 454 38
— (Reversal)/accrual of impairmenton  — & B&ER(E (FE),~

financial assets (Note 21) [EFTEMEERE

(Mf3E21) (2,439) 1,522
— Finance costs — net (Note 10) — BB A— FEE
(KtzE10) 7,623 5,037

Changes in working capital: LEESE) -
— Inventories — 58 (15,866) 4,129
— Contract liabilities —AHEaE 4,286 (5,688)
— Advances from lessee — EFEARK (15,783) (14,507)
— Trade and other payables — B REAMENFIE (14,797) 22,195
— Trade and other receivables and — B 5 REA BRI

prepayments DA K FE A 5038 63,285 (77,224)
Cash generated from operating activities X4 TSRS 67,848 56,023
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32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 32 REREER ()
(b) Proceeds from disposal of properties, plant and (b) HEVE BERZBEREME
equipment and other assets EFSNRE

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=+—HIEEE
2023 2022

—_=E2-= g

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETT

Net book value of property, plantand %1% * E &R EFE@FE

equipment (Note 15) (FI3E15) 1,494 2,151
Losses on disposal of property, plant and HE¥E  BE &R E K&
equipment and others (Note 7) H g8 (71 7) (454) 38)
Increase in other receivables H At & W SR IEIE AN (620) =
Proceeds from the disposal H &SR 420 2,113
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from () METHFELEEYHE

financing activities

Amount due
Borrowings to the
and interest Lease  Controlling  Payable to
payable liabilities  Shareholder LZ Assets Total

ERR EHER  EARN
EMNRE  HERE  RRRE  KERE act
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL  AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Total debt as at 1 January 2022 R=-ZE-—f-A§

—AMAER 39,900 866 - 96,790 137,556
Cash flows arising from financing ~ BLEEEIELMA S
activities mE 15,840 (331) - - 15,509
Cash flows arising from operating & EBHELHE S
activities ok 2.123) = = = 2.123)
Exchange differences R - 45 - - 45
Amortization of borrowing costs & &/ B8 2,123 28 = 4,502 6,653

Total debt as at 31 December HA=E=-=#£+=A

2022 =t+-AMBER 55,740 608 - 101,292 157,640
Cash flows arising from financing ~ REEBDELHE S

activities e 56,729 (620) 1,879 - 57,988
Cash flows arising from operating & EBHELHE &

activities mE (3,205) - - - (3,205)
Cash flows arising from investing A ZBDELRH S

activities neE (385) - - - (385)
Non-cash transaction FREXH 4,710 - - (50,101) (45,391)
Exchange differences EHER - 2 - - 2
Amortization of borrowing costs g LB A B8 3,590 10 - 4,57 8,171

Total debt as at 31 December R=FE==%+=#
2023 =t-AMAEHR 117,179 - 1,879 55,762 174,820
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32

33

34

144

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 32
(d) Non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the major
non-cash transactions were as follows:

— Borrowing under finance lease arrangement of
approximately RMB4,710,000 was received in terms
of bank acceptance notes.

— In November 2023, HC Mining entered into
supplementary agreements with LZ Assets to extend
the lease for a further five years after the expiry of
the first five-year lease term. Pursuant to
supplementary agreements, The Group reduced the
balance of payables to LZ Assets and increased the
balance of advances from lessee, amounting to
RMB50.1 million. Further details are set out in Note
31.

CONTINGENCIES 33

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s land use rights
and properties (Notes 14 and 15) were pledged to a bank to
secure banking facilities of certain third parties amounting to
RMB 16,000,000. Such asset pledge was released during the
year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group did not have material contingent liabilities.

34
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Contracted but not recognised as liabilities . EI41EARERBEE

HEREER (&)
d ¥BEXRH

BE-_T_=Fft-A=1t—HL
FE - ETR2IFREXHWT:

— BMEHEZHBETERDOA
R #4,710,0007T JA SR 17 & 5,
ZRURER -

— RITZ=F+—FR REE
FERINEER] LT e
B A F B E R &S A
HWIERAF - RIBFH W
AEBRLENRMNEERS
BRNIE AR ABRRE SR &
BRARBS01HET#—
FEHIGENHI 3 -

HAREIER

RZEBE-_—F+_-_A=+—8 &A&£EE
HEET L ERAERDE (KHE14R
15) FIRIT UNERETE=ZFMIRITE
& 4 %8E AR ¥16,000,0007T ° 5% & E
KRB E-_S-_=F+=-A=+—H
TFEECBB - R_T_=+_A
=R AEETESASAEE-

B AR IE
As at 31 December

R+=A=+t—H
2023 2022

—®== —z——

B

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T

— Commitments for construction and — BEERKEDE  BER
acquisition of property, plant and RAEE R
equipment 17,499 9,259
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z =% —

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial
and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control, common
significant influence or joint control.

The Controlling Shareholder, members of key management and
their close family members of the Group are also considered as
related parties. In the opinion of the Directors, the related party
transactions were carried out in normal course of business and
at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective
related parties.

(@) Related parties of the Group

Name of related parties Relationship
BEE A8 B&

Mr. Liu Zeming

ZESE L

China United Cement Yantai Co., Ltd. Controlled by
EERRKRERAT R PR AR R
Yantai Aohua Real Estate Co., Ltd. Controlled by
BEMREEXFR A PR AR R

Shandong Laizhou Ping An Civil Explosives
Franchise Co., Ltd.

HRAE M F L RAZRED
NG|

Shandong Overseas Chinese Businessmen
Double Creation Industrial Park Co., Ltd.

ILWREHEaEXREFR AR

Controlled by

jm]
Dl:l;i;

EER

Controlled by

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions and
balances with its related parties during the years ended 31
December 2023.

PR AR

YRR AR

=F+-A=+—AILFE

35 BEEARS
E—FAEENEESRREEHE—F %
TEVEH B 7S RIS R Y B — H 518
BAFE BN ALY T HEE

A=
w HEEAFE LB ES BIZS
TR RB AR -

AEBZERRR FTEEEABREER
REXREBTESEH T -EERS B
ARBTDIR—BREBBIETRRAKE
EL5 BARR R T E R RO RS TT ©

() AKEFABRS

The Controlling Shareholder, Chairman and executive director

ERER - TERBTES

the Controlling Shareholder
il
the Controlling Shareholder
i
the Controlling Shareholder

il
the Controlling Shareholder

il

BR it 4R A B ISR H A 2B 5 FT i
EEIN AEERBEE_ZT_=F
+-A=+—BI-EEHEBH A
NTRR B Rk
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 35 BEEARS (&)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) BEHARS

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLEE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARETT
Disposal of motor vehicles HEE
Yantai Aohua Real Estate Co., Ltd. EETREEXAR AT - 1,655
Purchases of goods and services BB E o SRS
China United Cement Yantai Co., Ltd. BEREKEERA A 2,328 874
Shandong overseas Chinese ILWERBEREREXERR
businessmen double creation NG|
Industrial Park Co., Ltd. 257 -
2,585 874
Increase in amounts due from JE L4 A A BR R TE 3
the Controlling Shareholder - 2,891
Increase in amounts due to JE ASH R AR AR SR R IE 3 0
the Controlling Shareholder 19,357 -
Collection by a related party on behalf of BB 77 7 £ [ W 5k
the Group BEEMREZEXFR A
Yantai Aohua Real Estate Co., Ltd. 620 -
Payment by related parties on behalf of  B#Hf 5 X AN & E 3%
the Group BEEFIBKEBRAR]
China United Cement Yantai Co., Ltd. 884 -
the Controlling Shareholder PERRAR R 517 -
1,401 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E=—Z—=F+=-A=+—HILtFE
35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 35 BEEARS (&)
(c) Balances with related parties (c) BAEEA#eR

As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+-—H
2023 2022

—%== = S

—_= =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T AR

() Amounts due from a related party: (i) JEUEGHE T 50E :

Non-trade *EZ5
Yantai Aohua Real Estate Co., Ltd. BEETREEXFRAA 620 =

(i) Amounts due to related parties: (i) JEfTEGHE 5 5 H -

Trade 25
Companies controlled by the PERR AR SR P2 ) A A
Controlling Shareholder 724 205
Non-trade *EZ
Amount due to the Controlling FE 2 B A R R TE
Shareholder 1,879 -
2,603 205
The amounts due from and due to related parties as at 31 RZEBE_=F+_HA=+—H &
December 2023 were unsecured, non-interest bearing and WK AT AR T IR R %
repayable on demand. BRERERER-
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Guarantees

148

(e)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowing under
finance lease arrangement of RMB 15,653,000 was also
guaranteed by Shandong Laizhou Ping An Civil Explosives
Franchise Co., Ltd. pursuant to the guarantee agreement
between this company and the financial institution.
Further details are set out in Note 29.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowing under
finance lease arrangement of RMB32,000,000 was
guaranteed by the Controlling Shareholder pursuant to
the guarantee agreement between the individual and the
financial institution. Further details are set out in Note 29.

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive and non-
executive) and executive officers. The compensation paid
or payable to key management for employee services is as
follows:

35 AR (&)
(d #ER

(e)

R-_T-_=ZF+-_A=+—H"' &
CERMEHERHETHERARE
15,653,0007T 75 A1 LU B & F N &2
RABEYRBELEBRARBREZ
N RS BB W ERGEIR
HRIELR - #E — BB EH M FE29 -

R-ZB-_=F+-_A=+—HB'&
SERERETETHERARE
32,000,0007T /A 4% B% B% BE AR 4% (8 A
B E i 2 MR ER DRI IE
RoE— ST BHAMIE29 o

FTEEEEHMN
TEEEERRES (MITRIEH
TIREBEAB BENHENEIEE

EEMREERGEEFHMOT

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLEE

2023 2022

—E_= =B
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETIT
Salaries and bonus e RIEAT 3,028 2,925
Other benefits E A 511 487
3,539 3,412
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SUBSIDIARIES

Company name

rAER

Directly hold:
EERR:
Hongcheng International
Investment Limited
("HC International”)
BEERREARRAR
(MBI )

Indirectly hold:

BEEA

Hongkong Hongcheng
Environmental Protection
Development Group Co., Ltd.
("HC Hong Kong")

BABARRAEEEERAA
(eEEE])

Shandong Jinjia Environmental
Co., Ltd. ("Shandong Jinjia")

RS ERREBAT
(ITEE+))

Shandong Hongcheng Mining
(Group) Co. Ltd.
("HC Mining")(i)

WREARR (RE)ERAT
(MEREE]) ()

Date of
incorporation

aEfA 3L B 5

30 March 2020

3

=A=FH

16 April 2020

—2-%F
mA+~H
8 June 2020

i 2
~ANR
28 April 2011

—2——F
mA=t+N\H

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Country/Place of

incorporation, legal
status and the place
of principle activity

HMRVER/
Y EERE
REEFHHY

BVI

AREARES

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

&% ARAA

PRC, limited liability
company

E ARAA

PRC, limited liability
company

B ARAA

36 MELQA

Paid in
capital as at
31 December
2023
R=B==%
t=A=+-H
HE R R
2023
—m——

—S =

USD1 100%

USD6,000,000 100%
6,000,000 7T
USD28,251,081 100%
28,251,081 %70

RMB30,000,000 100%

AR
30,000,000

2023 3 @ BABRMHARAT

Effective interest
held as at
31 December

Principal activities

Rt=A=t-H
fEhERES TEED

2022

- ——

—5——

100%  Investment holding

RARR

100%  Investment holding

RERR

100%  Production of sulfuric acid, etc.

HERRE -
100%  Provision of gold mine hazardous
waste treatment services and
recycling gold mine hazardous
waste into resources with
economic value for sale.
RESBRAEZENRERER
B EEREENRALE
BENERUEHE -

149



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS + % N

e ISR M

“\

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HHE T —_=F+_A=+—HILtFE

36 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36

Country/Place of Paid in
incorporation, legal  capital as at
Date of status and the place 31 December
Company name incorporation  of principle activity 2023

AMRIER/ R=%==

wE - R tZB=t-A
ALk EMRIAS REEXRHEH HEERA

MBS~ aE (%)

Effective interest
held as at
31 December  Principal activities

Mt=A=1-AH

FiERRESE FTEH

2023 2022
—ECC=EC-E-C

Shandong Hongcheng Resources 1 January 2019 PRC, limited liability ~ RMB10,000,000
Comprehensive Utilization Co., company
Ltd. (“HC Resources”)

WRERERGENBARAR —2-nF B FRAF ARH

(&R -A-H 10,000,000 7
Laizhou Hongcheng Gold Tailings 11 June 2020 PRC, private RMB200,000
and Cyanidation Comprehensive non-enterprise
Utilization Research and institution
Development Center
FNEAECRRRANEGRE Z—E-ZF,x HE RiEEcE  ARE
M RITHE L At-H Efy 200,0007C

(0] As at 22 December 2023, HC Mining merged all the assets,
liabilities and business of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Laizhou
Hongcheng Mining Environmental Protection Development Co.,
Ltd. ("HC Environmental”). Upon completion of the merger, HC
Environmental was deregistered and HC Mining became the
company to carry out the business including the combined assets
and liabilities of HC Mining and HC Environmental.

100% 100%  Provision of metal waste
processing services, processing
and sales of iron powder,
building materials, metal
products, etc.

RECEBEMMIRE - IR
HEER B LeEm
=,

100% 100%  Research and development

%

() RZBEZ=F+ZA=+=8 BEE
ELHEZENBRRIMNTISHEE
RRMAZEARLQA (BHIRR]) BT
BEE BBEREBH - REHTKE B
FIRAW TN MBABRENRERS
BEREERBHRREHEERAEN
S
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37 THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37 XATMBERRERRREEES
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

(a) The statement of financial position of the (a) EATHBARRE
Company
As at 31 December
R+=—H=+—H
2023 2022
—_=E_= — g
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Right-of-use assets HREEE - 321
Investment in subsidiaries RHB AR ZIKE 345,858 345,858
345,858 346,179
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables and prepayments £ {1 & Y F0I8 K T8 1+
KIE 95 403
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFEUR B B A R IR 167,719 166,814
Cash and cash equivalents ReERIFSEEY 37 1,160
167,851 168,377
Total assets EEHE 513,709 514,556
EQUITY =
Share capital &N 8,208 8,208
Share premium &% B 37(b) 517,965 517,965
Other reserves HAith & 37(b) 1,345 1,248
Accumulated losses E5tEE (22,940) (21,303)
Total equity A 504,578 506,118
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37 THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37 AT BRRARREEEE

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
(a) The statement of financial position of the (a) AQTEHBAMRRE ()

Company (Continued)

As at 31 December

R+=—BA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETIT
LIABILITIES 8f&
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H At T RIE R E AT
& H 119 363
Amount due to the Controlling P& TR AR IR SR RUIER
Shareholder 1,368 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries EANIRIENGIE 7,644 7,724
Lease liabilities HEaE - 351
9,131 8,438
Total liabilities EEEE 9,131 8,438
Total equity and liabilities BEREEEE 513,709 514,556

RARMBBARARENR T _MF
At N\BEXRRAEESHE

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the board of directors of the Company on 28

WA T EsE,
March 2024 and was signed on its behalf. WA FRERE
Mr. Liu Zeming Mr. Zhan Yirong
BiESR Kk BoRrts
Chairman Director
2 EE
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37 THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37 XATMBERRERRREEES

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movements of the Company (b) AATREEEH
Share Translation
premium reserve Total
RGRE BhER#E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB‘000
ARETT ARETFT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 RZEBE-_—_F—H—H 534,097 - 534,097
Dividend distribution f% Bk (16,132) - (16,132)
Currency translation differences SN E =55 - 1,248 1,248
At 31 December 2022 MRZTE__F
+=—A=+—H 517,965 1,248 519,213
At 1 January 2023 RZE—=F—H—H 517,965 1,248 519,213
Currency translation differences 9N E =58 - 97 97
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+—A=+—8 517,965 1,345 519,310
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Remuneration of directors

The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/
payable by the Group for the years ended 31 December
2023 are set out as follows:

38 EERARER (B)

(a)

E=fe

AEEREE-_T_=F+=
A=+—RILFEER B
RARBESFH I 0
T

Basic Other
salaries Pensions benefits Total
HEARHE BEEE Hi iz F st
Name of Directors RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT
Year ended BE-=E=—_=
31 December 2023 +=—B=+—8H
IEFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Liu Bt 300 41 44 385
Mr. Zhan Yirong B8R E 312 41 44 397
Mr. Sheng Haiyan BRIgRE 511 41 44 596
Independent non- BUHHITEE
executive directors
Mr. Lau Chung Wai gk A 130 - - 130
Mr. Zhang Shijun RAELAE 108 - - 108
Ms. Liu Ye 2 mExt 108 - - 108
1,469 123 132 1,724
Basic Other
salaries Pensions benefits Total
AR B5E® H{th 3 F P
Name of Directors BEHR RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT ARETFT ARETT
Year ended BE-Z_—F
31 December 2022 +=H=+—H
EFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Liu 25 E 300 38 41 379
Mr. Zhan Yirong BB E 308 38 41 387
Mr. Sheng Haiyan BRIERSTAE 406 38 41 485
Independent non- BUINTEE
executive directors
Mr. Lau Chung Wai 2 A 124 - - 124
Mr. Zhang Shijun RAE LA 103 - - 103
Ms. Liu Ye 2 mEizt 103 = = 103
1,344 114 123 1,581
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 38 EEEMNRER (&)

(Continued)

(b) E=WHMER

(b) Directors’ other benefits

There were no retirement benefits paid to or receivable by
any Directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiaries undertakings during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

There were no termination benefits paid to or receivable
by any Director during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

No payment was made to the former employer of
Directors for making available the services of them as a
Director of the Company during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Other than those disclosed in Note 35(b), there were no
loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
between the Group and the directors and in favour of the
directors during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

Other than those as disclosed in Note 35, there were no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

REBEE-_BE_=FK_F_-—

+—A=+—HLFE BELM
EERARARHEMBRREHH
B IR 4R A H M AR 7% T S A sk pE Uk
RRAEF

RBE_ZE_=FK=_F -
+—A=+—HItFE @HERT
MIEE e E IR A B & F -

REBEE_E_=ZFKR_ZFT -
+TZA=T—HLFE BERA
RNAREZEENRERBMENE
ERIEERFIA

BR BT 5E35(0) T BB SN REE =
T FRZZTE=_F+=A
=+ BHLEFE - AEEREEY
B EI I AEREATHANER
EERRHEMZ S -

BR Bd 7E35F7 3 B8 & AN - R R
BEZ-_=FR-_ZT-__F+=
A=+—HLEFEEMER #E
FMEAEEEKEBELN KNAQF
SERANREREENMERE
BEABENEARS THEREAEL -
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

156

39.1 Principles of consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. It
means the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable IFRSs.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent
with the policies adopted by the Group.

(a)

HONGCHENG ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED @ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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VEENEBEHERNE
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SEZEHZER - HBARR
ZHEEREAKEE BE
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 390 HSTBERE (&)
(Continued)

39.2 Separate financial statements 39.2 BB KE®E
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less N INEMNGIE Ok S8 BN D R R
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of BRI IEE B BRI B R AN o [
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for BARIMEEBARR IR W R E
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and W AR B AR ©
receivable.
Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is fir B 28R HS BT B A R B R AR B R [
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments ) 2 T U 2 42 B8 - 3 MW 08 S B 7S TR
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of AP RENEAEBLAS P BR
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if KRR EHREEFE (BERD
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate B)EREE  AEAREBZERER
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the MRERHZEWB R RMIRE#
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net TRE R - KB A B A IZ & 75
assets including goodwill. Investments in subsidiaries are AR 15 Bt 5£39.84 17 Rk 1B 5T 1 K MR
also assessed for impairment and written down to their ZEHAIKEISHE -

recoverable amounts in accordance with note 39.8.

39.3 Segment reporting 39.3 I WWE
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent KEDBHRETRNEREEZL S
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating REREREHRNIRE T — B
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker of the RRREBLERRETHAEE
Company assesses the financial performance and position B B TS 2R ER IR AR R VB HH SR BORTE
of the Group, and makes strategic decisions. The chief AEBEFELEREERTERITE
operating decision maker of the Group consists of the EREFEUBE -

executive directors and the chief financial officer.

39.4 Foreign currency translation 39.4 M E
(i)  Functional and presentation currency () DERZEIEHK

Items included in the financial statements of each of AAREERERU B i%
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency WIEERERBKEMEE
of the primary economic environment in which the BEIREMEY ([T ﬁeﬁ?ﬂ)
entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The SR GEMBHREAARE
consolidated financial statements are presented in (TAR®]) 23 HRARFA
Renminbi (‘RMB’), which is the Company's MMEEEERASERNZ75]
functional and the Group’s presentation currency. B
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end/period-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equity instrument
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) are recognised in other
comprehensive income. The Group does not have
non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(ii)
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 390 HSTBERE (&)
(Continued)

39.5 WEYHE

39.5 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising buildings,
are held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the
Group. Investment properties are initially recognised at
cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated using a straight-line method to
allocate the depreciable amounts over the estimated
useful lives. The residual values and useful lives of
investment properties are reviewed, and adjusted as
appropriate, at each date of the consolidated statement
of financial position. The effects of any revision are
included in the income statement when the changes arise.
The gain or loss on disposal of investment property is
calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount at the date of disposal.

Investment properties are depreciated over the estimated
useful lives of 30 years.

39.6 Intangible assets

Software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring the
specific software into usage. These costs are amortised
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives of 6 years, which is estimated by the Group based on
the expected technical obsolescence and innovations and
the useful life of similar computer software estimated by
comparable companies in the market. Costs associated
with maintaining computer software programmes are
recognised as expense as incurred.
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(Continued)

39.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life for example,
goodwill or other non-amortising intangible assets are not
subject to depreciation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

39.8 Financial assets

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the Group's business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

39
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398 TREE (&)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 39 EMEHEME (8)

(Continued)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued) 398 EREE (&)

(iii) Measurement (Continued) (iii)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. The Group classifies its debt
instruments as:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses), together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in profit or loss of the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest revenue and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in “other gains/(losses)- net”.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in “other gains/
(losses)- net” and impairment losses are
presented as a separate line item in profit or
loss of the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at
FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that
is subsequently measured at FVPL is
exchanged in profit or loss and presented net
within “‘other gains/(losses)- net” in the
period in which it arises.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at a amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk. Note 3.1(b) details how the Group
determines whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted
estimation of credit losses (i.e. the present value of
all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial assets.

The Group has the following types of assets that are
subject to IFRS 9's expected credit loss model:

o trade receivables
o other receivables
o cash and bank balances
o restricted bank balances

While cash and bank balances, restricted bank
balances and other receivables are also subject to
the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the assets. The provision
matrix is determined based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the trade
receivables with similar risk characteristics and is
adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every
reporting date the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

(iv)

164 HONGCHENG ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED @ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

or> -

HMSBREE (&)

39.8 ERMEE (&)

A

7N ER [ 4R AR M AL R ST 4 BR

REHKATIENEEIA

HENEREEEE AR

WMEDERFEERRES

KFFEi)JDﬁﬁE * B FE3.1(b )u$
AAEENABEEEER
B AIEIE -

BEHMEEERNHEREE
BHFHAEEBRNARE
MR (BIERSE8
MHE) °

AEEBEATHEAINEER
38 T B BR B 75 3R o ZE RIS 957
MIEHEEBEER -

o  HBHRWFA
o HMEWIKIA
o RERRITHE
o XRBIRITHE

AR RIRTTEER - R
R 1T 45 B8 I H b & Y 5K IR TR
7R 38 <t BB B 7 5 X RI 589
SREVRERE BB T 8RE
EEBITTEK-

HRE 5 RWGRE  AEE
PR B % B 7% o 2E R 26955k AT
RFANBEE EZKEEE
NREREERBEHRHE
B-BEREREERAFRLE
BN E S EWRIATE S
iHHWLﬁEﬁﬂFﬁ RS
7 0 B AT IR MR S EHE L FE

B-RZ/REAH BEER
Fﬁ?%fi ’7"‘\%%9@%& iA=)

D HTRIRE MEfA Rt R 2



= 4~ + NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
: mEMBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ =T —_=F+ A =+—HILFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 390 HSTBERE (&)
(Continued)

39.8 ERMEE (&)
(iv) e (&)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Impairment on other receivables, cash and bank
balances and restricted bank balances are measured
as lifetime expected credit losses if a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition.

Impairment on other receivables and amounts due
from related parties is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.
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166

(Continued)

39.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the relevant company or the counterparty.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the
higher of

. the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

39.10 Financial guarantee contracts

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based
on the present value of the difference in cash flows
between the contractual payments required under the
debt instrument and the payments that would be required
without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that
would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair
values are accounted for as contributions and recognised
as part of the cost of the investment.
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(Continued)

39

IMNESREMEBEWRIEIUREW

39.11 Trade and other receivables and amounts due

from related parties

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for the
provision of gold mine hazardous waste treatment services
and sales of pyritic concentrate. Amounts due from
related parties are loans provided to related parties with
interest, and they are unsecured and repayable on
demand. If collection of trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties is expected in one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables and amounts due from related
parties are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

39.12 Contract assets and liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer
and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or
services to the customer. The combination of those rights
and performance obligations gives rise to a net asset or a
net liability depending on the relationship between the
remaining rights and the performance obligations. The
contract is an asset and recognised as contract assets if
the measure of the remaining conditional rights to
consideration exceeds the satisfied performance
obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability and
recognised as contract liabilities if the measure of the
remaining performance obligations exceeds the measure
of the remaining rights.
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168

(Continued)

39.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labor
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realizable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

39.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
In the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents includes cash at bank and on hand and
short-term bank deposits with original maturities of three
months or less.

39.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 25).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company issued shares at a premium, whether
for cash or otherwise, a sum equal to the aggregate
amount of the value of the premiums over share capital
shall be classified as share premium.
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(Continued)

39.16 %ﬁi%}iﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ RIE KBS ER

39.16 Trade and other payables and amounts due to

related parties

Trade payables represent liabilities for products and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of the
reporting year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables
and amounts due to related parties are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or within the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables and amounts due to related
parties are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

39.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting year/
period.
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(Continued)

39.18 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the year/period in which they are incurred.

39.19 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(i)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company's subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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(Continued)
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39.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

39.20 Employee benefits

0]

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the statement of financial
position.

Pension obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the
PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal
and provincial governments in the PRC under which
the Group and the employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to
certain ceiling. The municipal and provincial
governments undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
PRC based employees payable under the plans
described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation
for the payment of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of
these plans are held separately from those of the
Group in an independent fund managed by the PRC
government. The Group’s contributions to these
plans are expensed as incurred.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 390 HSTBERE (&)
(Continued)

39.20 Employee benefits (Continued) 920 EERF (&)

(iiij) Housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances

The PRC employees of the Group are entitled to
participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurance and other
employee social insurance plan. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based
on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each period.

39.21 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of
other income and finance income.

Interest income is presented as other income and finance
income and where it is earned from financial assets that
are held for cash management purposes.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred revenue and are credited to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related
assets.

39.23 Leases
Lease of properties and equipment

The Group leases properties and equipment as a lessee.
Rental contracts for properties and equipment are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment
is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

9

or> -

HMSBREE (&)

39.22 B A 4 BY

BN EEBRERAEE LK
7B BREAMBIMME M
RN T EER

B B A 7N 8 BURT 48 B A8 BOR FE - I
RERHEERAREMTHBEER
ﬁILEP EEFUL‘A

HETYME WFE&EREHEBOK
FF B E REE W ezt ASEREI A
B YREGEREEEENED
FHIFF AB&=-

3023 #HE

WERREHE

AEBUABAFHEEMERE

HE-MERBEREAHNBEERR2

E3FMEEHR - A E G FIRE 5

EREER T8 e ETRMIER
KAt o

HEAHERENHAREER 2
ARRAREAREERERAE-
t%fﬂ%ﬁ RERBERMBRAZ
DE-MBRAEREHRRNER
ﬁé?ﬂﬁ%’%@%’ﬁ%ﬁﬁf‘aﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ
ELETHTEHRN KR -EREEE
BREECRFHAEEHRERRE
FEUBEBAFRITE

174 HONGCHENG ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED @ ANNUAL REPORT 2023



x

“,. + NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ALY

e P BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H#E=—Z=-=F+=-A=+—HILtFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

39.23 Leases (Continued)

Lease of properties and equipment (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payments that are based on an index
or a rate are initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay
to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

The Group’s right-of-use assets consist of up-front the
initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
lease payments made at or before the commencement
day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct
costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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(Continued)

39.23 Leases (Continued)

Land use rights

For land use rights, the cost comprise the payments to
acquire long-term interest in the usage of land, which are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Cost represents
consideration paid for the rights to use the land and other
direct related costs from the date when the respective
rights were granted.

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments is calculated
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms of 50 years as
stated in the relevant land use right certificates granted
for usage by the Group in the PRC or the best estimate
based on the normal terms in the PRC and is charged to
profit or loss in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Leases where the Group is a lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income. The respective
leased assets are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position based on their nature.

39.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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DEFINITIONS
BE

In this annual report, unless the context requires otherwise, the RAFRF BIEXFEREAHIE BTRINATH
following terms have the meanings set out below, and words in plural ~ ®&E A& N XAT#H K E  MEBFE AN RA=ZER

shall include the singular and vice versa, as applicable:

"AGM"
(A RBF RS ]

" Articles of Association”or

" Articles”

[EF24MA)] =k [488)]
" Audit Committee”
[EzZEe

“Board”

=

"BVI”
[(REBEBARES]

"CIT Law”

[ ZERTEHA]
“Companies Act”
NGV
“Company” or “our

Company”

RAVNCIE

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ B R

“Corporate Governance
Code”
(&R

"Director(s)"”

[E%]

SEE RZIA (MER)

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company

ARBEERRBFRE

the second amended and restated articles of association of our Company,
adopted at a general meeting held on 24 June 2022
ARABEZREETRBIMERERAR RS- —_F XA _+HEAE
THRERBEF KRN

the audit committee of the Board

EEeERZES

the board of Directors

Ex¢

the British Virgin Islands
REBEARES

PRC Corporate Income Tax Law {(FFZEAREMBEIBZEFTSHIE) ) issued by
the NPC on 16 March 2007, and subsequently amended on 24 February 2017
and 29 December 2018

ZPEARRZZZELFE=ATBEM HER T —+F_A=-TWHEEK
ZE-N\FHZAZTABREEN (P EARANMBREMAEHE)

the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands

FMERERAAE (KELT)

HONGCHENG ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED (&7 IR (R
B B 2 7)), a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability, the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2265)

BHERREFARAR —HARHASHSEMKINBRAG  EEEHITR
DB AT P MR BT (IR 155 - 2265)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to Mr. Liu and Zeming International Investment Co., Ltd
AEALTRAUETZANRE BRIEXESAMIE EE %KL NZeming

International Investment Co., Ltd

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
FHRAMSCIESEEE R TAREEE GRS

the director(s) of the Company
KARIES
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“Hazardous Waste Business
License”

[ el BE YD AE L 5T Al §&

"HC Environmental”

[ B SIR IR ]

“HC Mining”

[ MG ETEE

"HC Resources”

[HEAE IR

"HKD"
[&7T]
“"HKICPA”

[BAEEAE

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar”

(BB BPELDRE]

“IFRSs”
[EBIBR B 5 ¥R &5 22 Al

“Listing”
=

the permit for operation of hazardous wastes within the territory of the PRC
under the Measures for the Administration of Permit for Operation of Hazardous
Wastes (fERREEYIACE A B EBIVE)

BIE (EREDKEFAIZERIVE)  EPBEIRANKEEREDHETT &

Laizhou Hongcheng Mining Environmental Protection Development Co., Ltd. (3%
PN T B SR T S IR R B BB TR A F1), a limited liability company established under
the laws of the PRC on 12 February 2014 and an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of our Company

FNTEHEXFRRAZLBRAR — AR _E-—OF_A+_HRES
ERKWNBRAR ARRAGNEEREWNE AR

Shandong Hongcheng Mining (Group) Co., Ltd. (LI E#EIEE (£E )R A F)
(formerly known as Shandong Hongcheng Mining Co., Ltd. (LI 5 & iE %GR
/A @]) and Shandong Hongcheng Mining Co., Ltd. (LU FEFIBEBRAR])), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 28 April 2011
and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of our Company

IWEBAREE (RSB BRAF (AIBILURBHEEBR QG RILIRBAESE
ERAGR) —HRZE——FHAZ+ N NBREFBEZENLNBR AR
RADNFNREEZEWEB R A

Shandong Hongcheng Resources Comprehensive Utilisation Co., Ltd. (1L 5 & &
ZRZAFBABR AT, a limited liability company established under the laws
of the PRC on 10 January 2019 and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of our
Company

IWERBEEREEMABRAR —BRZZE—-NAF—A+BEREBEFBERE
R BERAR AEXAGNEEZEZENB AR

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BIEREN BERNEAERER

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
BRGNS

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
hEARAMBEEEFITHRE

Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office of our Company

SERBAFETARAR ARAANEERNBFPELSR

International Financial Reporting Standards
B 5% Bt 75 i o E B

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
B ER T
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“Listing Date”
[ FHEH

“Listing Rules”

[ TR 8]
"LZ Assets”
[N E E ]

“Main Board”

[E1R]

“Memorandum of

Association”

XV Nl

“Model Code”
[R %57 Al
“Mr. Liu”

[ 554

“New Production Facility”
[ A 7 3%

“Nomination Committee”

(R Eg

“"PRC” and “China”
[ F

“Prospectus”

[ ERE]

“Remuneration Committee”
[FEZE =

"“Reporting Period”
(¥R

12 November 2021, on which the Shares are listed and from which dealings
therein are permitted to take place on the Main Board

“E-Ft-ATZR RO LTWESMEREZARAIREREERND

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B3 Frig 7 AR B

Laizhou City State-owned Assets Management Company Limited (&M T Bl A &
EEEARAA)
RN TEE EEGEERA

the stock market (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the Stock
Exchange

B ENREMS (T EEREMS) B0 XA GEM IF 82 E 3 1] &
8

the amended and restated memorandum of association of our Company
adopted on 23 October 2021, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

RABHKETREFNEBERAM R_E_—FTAT=ZBERHK &
PEHERT - TR AR A 75 B2k

the Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

FHRBIMERCIFAE FHEITAETETESF R HIIRESTA

Mr. Liu Zeming (%12 $%), chairman of our Board, an executive Director and a
Controlling Shareholder

FEH#ELE EFTQIFE AITESREBRRR

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Prospectus
BEEHRREREME T 2RE

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeR%%EY

the People’s Republic of China
hEE AR AN

the prospectus of the Company dated 29 October 2021
ARRAMA-Z-_—FTA-ZTILENBRER

the remuneration committee of the Board
ExgrEEae

the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“RMB”
AR

“SFO"

B R D)
“Share(s)"

&7 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ %R

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bk 52 P

“Transaction”

“VAT"
[HE1EH

uweu' "US", uouru’ "Group"

and “our Group”

(A9 R (A KHE]

"o

[% ]

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR® FEEEEEHY

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time

FEEPIFSTE CEHFRBMEHERD) - B TRIER]  #xERER

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a nominal value of
HK$0.01 each
ARBIRAH A EEC.01E T L@ A%

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BFE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARGMBRRAT

the acquisition of the land use rights of three parcels of lands located in Yinhai
Chemical Industrial Park with an aggregate gross site area of approximately
533,300 sqg.m., properties including premises and warehouses with building area
of approximately 89,273 sq.m., and other infrastructures and machines through
an auction
BRAMETRBUARECIEZEAGMEES £49533,300F 5 keV =
B tihe) T E AR MREmMES HA89,273 F AR EE (BREMER
BB ) AR Bt B2 N e 2s

value-added tax
S1EBE

the Company and its subsidiaries
ZN/NS DN ENLG ) FNC]

per cent

B
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